©Geol. Bundesanstalt, Wien; download unter www.geologie.ac.at



G

Titelbild

Dünnschliff-Aufnahmen von Gesteinen des Seewarte-Profils.

Links: Rudstone der Hohe-Warte-Formation mit Grünalgen und Calcimikroben.

Mitte: Framestone der Hohe-Warte-Formation.

Rechts: Pa-Elemente von Ozarkodina excavata excavata in sparitischer Matrix (Megaerella-Formation).

www.geologie.ac.at

ISBN 978-3-85316-033-6

Impressum

Alle Rechte für In- und Ausland vorbehalten. Eigentümer, Herausgeber und Verleger: Geologische Bundesanstalt. Redaktion: Dr. Albert Daurer. Layout: Dr. Albert Daurer. Umschlag: Dr. Albert Daurer, Dr. Thomas Suttner. Satz: Dr. Albert Daurer. Alle A 1030 Wien, Neulinggase 38. Ziel der "Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesanstalt" ist die Dokumentation und Verbreitung erdwissenschaftlicher Forschungsergebnisse. Druck: Ferdinand Berger & Söhne Ges.m.b.H., A 3580 Horn.



ABHANDLUNGEN DER GEOLOGISCHEN BUNDESANSTALT Abh. Geol. B.-A. ISSN 0378-0864 ISBN 978-3-85316-033-6 Band 5 9 S. 1-111 Wien, April 2007

Conodont Stratigraphy, Facies-Related Distribution Patterns and Stable Isotopes (Carbon and Oxygen) of the Uppermost Silurian to Lower Devonian Seewarte Section (Carnic Alps, Carinthia, Austria)

THOMAS JAMES SUTTNER*)

9 Text-Figures, 1 Table, 21 Plates

On the occasion of his 65th birthday this paper is kindly dedicated to Dr. H.P. SCHÖNLAUB who has been the leading expert of the Carnic Alps for more than 30 years

Italien
Kärnten
Karnische Alpen
Paläozoikum
Silui
Devon
Megaerella-Formation
Rauchkofel-Formation
Hohe-Warte-Formation
Conodonten
Stabile Isotope

Österreichische Karte 1 : 50.000 Blatt 197

Inhalt

	Zusammenfassung	4
	Abstract	4
1.	Introduction	4
	1.1. Historical Overview	4
	1.2. Tasks and Targets	5
2.	Geography and Regional Geology	6
З.	Local Tectonic Model	6
4.	Lithological Succession and Biostratigraphy	8
	4.1. Megaerella Formation	8
	4.2. Rauchkofel Formation	8
	4.3. Hohe Warte Formation	8
5.	Facies Analysis	10
	5.1. Microfacies	10
	5.2. Facies-Related Distribution Patterns of Conodont Elements	12
6.	Stable Isotopes	12
	6.1. Carbon Isotopes	12
	6.2. Oxygen Isotopes	12
7.	Material and Methods	12
8.	Conodont Color Alteration Index	14
9.	Systematic Palaeontology	14
	Phylum Chordata BATESON, 1886	14
	Subphylum Vertebrata LAMARCK, 1801	14

*) Mag. Dr. THOMAS J. SUTTNER, Commission for the Palaeontological and Stratigraphical Research of Austria, c/o University of Graz, Institute of Earth Sciences, Heinrichstraße 26, A 8010 Graz. thomas.suttner@uni-graz.at.

	Class Conodonta EICHENBERG, 1930 sensu CLARK, 1981	14
	Order Belodellida SwEET, 1988	14
	Order Protopanderodontida Sweet, 1988	18
	Order Panderodontida Sweet, 1988	20
	Order Prioniodontida Dzık, 1976	21
	Order Prioniodinida Sweet, 1988	26
	Order Ozarkodinida Dzıĸ, 1976	28
	Unknown	46
10.	Discussion and Conclusion	46
	Plates 1–21	48
	Appendices	90
	Acknowledgements	107
	References	107

Zusammenfassung

Die Pridoli-Pragium-Schichtfolge der Seewarte umfasst die Megaerella Formation (distale Schelfsedimente; nur die obersten 5 m aufgeschlossen), die Rauchkofel-Formation (neritische Fazies; 120 m) und die Hohe-Warte-Formation (Plattformsedimente; mindestens 200 m). Die laufenden Forschungen liefern neue Conodonten-Daten und ermöglichen eine präzisere zeitliche Einstufung dieser Formationen und damit Fortschritte gegenüber VAI (1973) und anderen Autoren.

Zahlreiche Conodonten wurden aus der Megaerella-Formation gewonnen; sie zeigen ein spätes Pridoli-Alter (z.B. Belodella anomalis, Oulodus elegans detorta, Oulodus elegans elegans, Ozarkodina excavata excavata, Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis, Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis). Der untere Teil der Rauchkofel-Formation lieferte eine vielfältige Fauna der delta-Zone (z.B. Ancyrodelloides kutscheri, Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus, Ancyrodelloides transitans, Flajsella schulzei, Flajsella stygia, Lanea omoalpha, Lanea eoeleanorae und Lanea telleri). Über dem letzten Vorkommen der typischen delta-Fauna wurden in einem schmalen Intervall M2-Elemente von Pedavis sp. entdeckt. Darüber folgt ein bemerkenswerter Megaklasten-Horizont, in dessen Matrix Elemente von Latericriodus steinachensis (beta- und eta-Morphotypen) die Basis des Pragium markieren. Die Anwendung der Standard-Conodontenzonierung auf die flachmarinen und Plattform-Lebensräume der Hohe-Warte-Formation (Pragium) war mit Schwierigkeiten verbunden. Obwohl in den Conodontenfaunen Pa-Elemente von Eognathodus fehlen, unterstützt der Nachweis von Latericriodus steinachensis, Pelekys-gnathus sp. und Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus die alternative Zonengliederung des Pragium von SLAVik (2004b). Zusätzliche vereinzelte Spathogna-thodontiden wie Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor, Pandorinellina cf. Pand. ebzeryi, Pandorinellina miae, Pandorinellina optima optima und konische Elemente (Coelocerodontus cf. C. reduncus, Decoriconus fragilis, Neopanderodus aequabilis, Neopanderodus leptostriatus) wurden identifiziert. Die gefundenen Conodonten-Elemente Colo alteration index) von 3.

Zusätzliche Analysen von stabilen Isotopen, wie sie hauptsächlich als Werkzeug zur stratigraphischen Korrelation verwendet werden, zeigen einen positiven Trend quer über die vorgeschlagene Silur/Devon-Grenze. Eine starke Abweichung, wie sie aus anderen Profilen der Karnischen Alpen und dem Prager Becken bekannt ist, zeigt, dass das Intervall der *woschmidti*-Zone fehlt oder noch nicht identifiziert ist. Plötzlich ansteigende Werte an der Basis des Megaklasten-Horizonts korrelieren mit dem Erstauftreten von Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis beta morph und zeigen die Basis des Pragium an. Anschließende Fazies-Analysen zeigen Muster von Häufungsverteilungen isolierter Conodonten-Elemente in Flachwasser-Lebensräumen.

Abstract

The Pridolian to Pragian succession of Mount Seewarte includes the Megaerella Formation (distal shelf sediments; only uppermost 5 m exposed), the Rauchkofel Formation (neritic facies; 120 m) and the Hohe Warte Formation (platform sediments; at least 200 m). The present investigations provide new conodont data enabling more precise time-allocation of these formations then suggested by VAI (1973) and other authors.

Abundant conodonts were obtained from the Megaerella Formation indicating a late Pridolian age (e.g.: Belodella anomalis, Oulodus elegans detorta, Oulodus elegans elegans, Ozarkodina excavata excavata, Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis, Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis). The lower part of the Rauchkofel Formation produced a diverse fauna referred to the delta Zone (e.g.: Ancyrodelloides kutscheri, Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus, Ancyrodelloides transitans, Flajsella schulzei, Flajsella stygia, Lanea omoalpha, Lanea eoeleanorae and Lanea telleri). Above the last occurrence of the typical delta fauna, M2 elements of Pedavis sp. were discovered within a narrow interval. It is succeeded by a remarkable megaclast horizon the matrix of which yields elements of *Latericriodus steinachensis* (assigned to both beta and eta morphotypes) indicating the base of the Pragian. Difficulties were experienced in applying the standard conodont zonation to the shallow marine and platform environments of the Pragian Hohe Warte Formation. Though the conodont assemblages lack Pa elements of *Eognathodus*, the record of *Latericriodus steinachensis*, *Pelekysgnathus* sp. and *Caudicriodus* aff. *C. celtibericus* supports the alternative zonation for the Pragian Stage suggested by SLAVik (2004b). Additional sparsely distributed spathognathodontids such as *Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor*, *Pandorinellina* cf. *Pand. ebzeryi*, *Pandorinellina miae*, *Pandorinellina optima* and simple cones (*Coelocerodontus* cf. *C. reduncus*, *Decoriconus* fragilis, *Neopanderodus* aequabilis, *Neopanderodus* leptostriatus) were identified. The color alteration index of the obtained conodont elements indicates a CAI of 3.

Additional analyses of stable isotopes, mainly used as tool for stratigraphical correlation, show a positive trend across the suggested Silurian-Devonian boundary. A strong excursion known from other sections of the Carnic Alps and the Prague Syncline suggests that the equivalent interval assigned to the *woschmidti* Zone is missing or yet not identified. A positive shift of suddenly increased values at the base of the megaclast horizon correlates with the first occurrence of *Latericriodus* cf. *L. steinachensis* beta morph, indicating the base of the Pragian Stage. Subsequent facial analyses provide data supporting patterns of accumulative distribution of isolated conodont elements in shallow water environments.

1. Introduction

1.1. Historical Overview

Early reports on the geology of the Carnic Alps, as well as the first excursion guides and maps of that region can be found in FRECH (1894), GEYER (1894 and 1903), TARAMELLI (1895) and other contributions written for the Geological Survey of Austria and Italy.

Their observations provided the framework for subsequent generations of geologists and palaeontologists working on Southern Alpine units. Numerous papers were produced in the past thirty years on Palaeozoic strata of the Kellerwand, Cellon, Rauchkofel, Bischofalm and Feldkogel nappes (e.g.: SCHÖNLAUB, 1970; FLÜGEL et al., 1977; SCHÖNLAUB, 1985a; KREUTZER et al., 1997; SCHÖNLAUB et al., 1997; FERRETTI et al., 1999; SCHÖNLAUB et al., 2004). Some workers specialized on conodonts described several new species especially from the Silurian and Devonian sections (WALLISER, 1964; PÖLSLER, 1969b; SCHÖNLAUB et al., 1980b; SCHÖNLAUB, 1985b). Collected conodont material and additional investigations on other fossil groups of specific lower Palaeozoic strata (graptolites, cephalopods and palynomorphs) provided an enormous dataset for high-resolution stratigraphy (PÖLSLER, 1969a; PRIE-WALDER, 1987; PRIEWALDER, 1997; HISTON et al., 1999). Regarding the microfacial content and development of the shallow water deposits of Mount Seewarte, special attention is drawn to publications by VAI (1967), BANDEL (1969), KODSI (1971) and KREUTZER (1990).

Based on the general development of the marine succession of the Kellerwand and Cellon nappes (Ordovician–Carboniferous) extensive collections were used successfully by KREUTZER (1992b) and presented in a photoatlas of the Variscan carbonate sequences. Somewhat less successful biostratigraphic studies along the northwestern footwall of the Seewarte were undertaken by VAI (1973) and others, compiled by SCHÖNLAUB & KREUTZER (1997). Palaeoenvironmental and bathymetric reconstructions based on the evaluation of the fossil record and the interpretation of geochemical data were provided by POHLER (1982) and by SCHÖNLAUB et al. (1994) and BUGGISCH & MANN (2004).

Furthermore, palinspastic reconstructions and the interpretation of palaeomagnetic and climate-sensitive data were used as helpful tools for specifying palaeogeographic relationships and settings of the Proto-Alps (SCHÖNLAUB, 1979; SCOTESE et al., 1979; SCOTESE & MCKERROW, 1990; STAMPFLI et al., 1991; KREUTZER, 1992a; SCHÖNLAUB, 1992; KREUTZER et al., 1997; SCHÖNLAUB & HISTON, 1999; STAMPFLI & BOREL, 2002).

Due to these extensive investigations of the Palaeozoic sequence of the Carnic Alps, a guided geo-trail through the Carnic Alps (SCHÖNLAUB, 1991) was established by the Geological Survey of Austria and became operative in the late 1980s. Today it is an attraction for all kinds of tourists and mandatory for annual student trips and congress excursions emphasising geoscience.

1.2. Tasks and Targets

The research focused on providing new conodont data for the neritic Lower Devonian of the Carnic Alps and obtaining more precision as to the intervals of time represented by the investigated formations. The cumulative frequency of conodont assemblages is related to dominating microfacies types, assuming that the abundance and distribution of types of isolated elements is related to depositional environments - i.e. if controlled by taphonomy or not. Depositional patterns are discussed to probe the possibility of discriminating microfacies types within carbonates of neritic environments, based on a significant number of conodont elements obtained by precise sampling. Additionally carbon and oxygen isotopes are presented in support of the biostratigraphic data and provide further information on the palaeoecological bias through the Lower Devonian succession. Finally the section is compared to regional and trans-regional sequences for stratigraphic correlation and attempting to trace early Devonian crises and their impact on neritic deposition.



Text-Fig. 1.

The image to the left displays the distribution of Palaeozoic sediments of Austria (in grey). The map to the right represents local geological settings (modified from SCHÖNLAUB, 1971–73) of the working area at Lake Wolayer. The dotted line marks the path along the investigated section of the northwestern exposures of Mount Seewarte.



Text-Fia. 2

Panorama of Mount Seewarte indicating the track along the northwestern footwall, as well as all formations represented and important faults.

2. Geography and Regional Geology

The Wolayer area (Text-Fig. 1) of the central Carnic Alps (Carinthia) exposes a complex series of Palaeozoic rocks. Mountains of the local Alpine scenery attributed to the Kellerwand Nappe have altitudes ranging between 2500 and 2800 m. The investigated section is located close to the lake running along the northern footwall of Mount Seewarte (2595 m) at a height of about 2000 m. The outcropping area can be reached either from the Austrian or the Italian side. Coming from Kötschach-Mauthen and Nostra the first track starts at the small Hubertus Chapel. At least two and a half hours have to be taken before reaching the Wolayersee Refuge, ascending gently over serpentines of a private forest-route, whereas the Italian track, starting near the village of Collina leads across a little cliffy, but more direct trail to the Lambertenghi Refuge on the opposite side of Lake Wolayer.

The Upper Silurian and Lower Devonian succession of Mount Seewarte is divided into five lithostratigraphical units (Megaerella Fm, Rauchkofel Fm, Hohe Warte Fm, Seewarte Fm and Lambertenghi Fm). Each formation indicated on Text-Fig. 2 has a very characteristic lithology and can be discriminated easily in field.



Silhouette of the N-S transect displaying the faults of Mount Seewarte.

The uncovered uppermost part of the Megaerella Formation exposes grey, well bedded limestones. The Rauchkofel Formation (about 120 m) includes light and dark grey intervals of well bedded carbonates differing in thickness. Impressive megaclasts occur within an orange colored, dolomitic horizon at about mid height in the unit. The overlying Hohe Warte Formation consists of at least 200 m of bluish grey, massive limestone. It was divided into two subsequent units (Crinoidal Limestone and Reefal Limestone) by BANDEL (1969) and SCHÖNLAUB (1971-73). The succeeding Seewarte Formation exhibits about 40 m of thin bedded, bituminous dark grey limestones. Carbonates referred to the Lambertenghi Formation (about 150 m) consist mainly of cryptalgal laminates and bear oncolites and birdseyes, which represent peritidal deposits.

3. Local Tectonic Model

The lithological log of POHLER (1982), drawn in the course of her thesis, formed a helpful base during fieldwork and has been adopted with minor corrections and supplemented by additional information. As most of the corrections made concern local faulting across the section, a fault-model is proposed to support recent changes regarding the thickness of lithologic units. Observed faults of Mount Seewarte are indicated in Text-Fig. 3.

The following sketch (Text-Fig. 4) is based on field observations. First, the lower megaclast horizon (Text-Fig. 4c: "loose block"), is as illustrated in SCHÖNLAUB et al. (2004, p. 13, interpretation by C. BRETT). The second is the development of the local dolomitic area below the base of

Text-Fig. 4. Hypothesis of development of the fault and shear system, important for the sedimentary succession and especially for the conclusion that there was only one megaclast horizon.



the massive limestone. Three major steps from the original (Text-Fig. 4a) to the recent situation (Text-Fig. 4d) have been deciphered.

For the lower megaclast horizon, no lateral continuity was traceable over more than a few metres. Closer investigation has shown, that a large block from the megaclast horizon above glided off (compare Text-Fig. 4b–c). It was not easy to visualize at first glance, as the upper surface of that block lies in continuity with the in situ limestone beds running eastward.

4. Lithological Succession and Biostratigraphy

4.1. Megaerella Formation

Pridoli Series

Beds referred to the Megaerella Formation are confined to the very base of the sampled section. The uncovered accessible uppermost part of the formation measures only 5 m (Appendix 1, Fig. A; formation boundary marked by dotted line). Carbonates consisting of grey wacke-packstones include interbeds of few centimetre-thick layers of densely packed bioclastic grainstones. Common fossils were fragmented crinoids, bryozoans, brachiopods, corals and cephalopods (restricted to this interval). Conodont assemblages obtained consist of Belodella anomalis, Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni, Icriodus sp., Oulodus elegans detorta, Oulodus elegans elegans, Ozarkodina excavata excavata, Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis. Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis, Panderodus unicostatus and Walliserodus multistriatus. The first five samples produced several elements of Belodella anomalis, which not apparently do cross the Silurian/Devonian boundary. Because of the distinctive conodont fauna between samples Se/01/01/04 and Se/01/05/04 strata of the Megaerella Fm are attributed to the detorta Zone. The boundary with the Rauchkofel Formation is placed within the upper surface of a limestone bed, from whence came sample Se/01/05/04.

4.2. Rauchkofel Formation

Lochkovian Stage

The lowest part of the Rauchkofel Formation (Appendix 1, Figs. A, B) suffers from partial to strong dolomitization. The identification of lower Lochkovian conodont biozones, especially the woschmidti Zone seems exceedingly difficult. In fact, no distinctive I elements of Icriodus woschmidti were obtained. The first occurrence of Lanea omoalpha in sample Se/01/07/04 supports an age not older than the lower delta Zone. A typical mid-Lochkovian fauna, including species of Ancyrodelloides, Flajsella, Lanea and Pandorinellina, ranges up to sample Se/02/06a/05 (Appendix 1, Figs. C, D). Stratigraphical higher samples lack species of Ancyrodelloides and Lanea. The succeeding dark grey interval, yielding specimens assigned to Pedavis sp. (Se/02/08/04 to Se/02/13/04), is attributed to the pesavis Zone and thus to the upper Lochkovian. The boundary between the delta and pesavis Zone is assumed between samples Se/02/07/04 and Se/02/08/04.

Pragian Stage

The base of the megaclast horizon is regarded to indicate the base of the Pragian Stage. Single limestone clasts within the matrix-supported horizon reach sizes 2 to 10 m in diameter. Beds succeeding and finally covering the largest clast observed (Appendix 1, Fig. E, lower right corner), of which nearly half is protruding out of the matrix, accord with an approximately west–east transport direction. Evidence that beds to the left of the clast were deposited horizontally accords with it having been the protected lee side. However, beds to the right, more angular margin of the clast are ramp-like, suggesting exposure to submarine currents. Tracing the lateral continuity of the megaclast horizon shows that it decreases in thickness and finally disappears somewhat farther east (Appendix 1, Fig. E; Appendix 2). Also the succession to the East lacks the conspicuous dark grey interval (attributed to the *pesavis* Zone) below the megaclast horizon.

Rock samples of two megaclasts (indicated in grey in Appendix 6) were cut for microfacial analyses and for age assignment. Unfortunately, both samples produced only a few conodonts of little stratigraphic consequence. According to the thin sections, the clasts are massive limestones consisting of reefal debris. Better results came from conodont samples from the dolomitic matrix of the megaclast horizon (Se/02/15/04 to Se/02/15c/05); they produced I elements of Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph and one, but broken, Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis beta morph (Se/02/15b/05). While the first icriodontid species is reported to occur in the late delta Zone, the appearance of the latter morphotype is restricted to the Pragian Stage. Considering this, the Lochkovian/Pragian boundary is drawn at the base of the megaclast horizon between samples Se/02/14/04 and Se/02/15b/04 (Appendix 1, Fig. F).

The subsequent well-bedded limestones consisting of peloidal pack- to grainstones, pure crinoidal grainstones and rudstones form a few thickening-upward cycles. Though these beds generally yield few conodonts, the *Latericriodus steinachensis* eta morph occurs in some of them, confirming a lower Pragian age for the entire upper part of the Rauchkofel Formation. Other conodonts obtained are assigned to *Ozarkodina pandora, Pandorinellina* sp. and simple cones of long-ranging species. No Pa element of any *Eognathodus* was obtained; hence the standard conodont zonation across the Rauchkofel Formation is inferred from the alternative zonation proposed by SLAVIK (2004b).

4.3. Hohe Warte Formation

Pragian Stage

The entire formation consists of massive limestone, appearing rather uniform facially from a distance, but closer study indicates a microfacies spectrum of varying depositional environments. The lower two-thirds generally comprise crinoidal pack- and grainstones alternating with intervals of reefal debris. The first small patch reefs appear near the middle part, becoming most abundant in the upper part; they consist of tabulate corals, stromatoporoids and calcimicrobes. Intervening, rudstones consist of densely packed remains of dasyclad green algae from back reef environments and accumulated lenses of brachiopods. The transition to lagoonal deposits of the Seewarte Formation is more or less gradual by increasing proportion of organic matter in a short interval at the formation boundary.

The Hohe Warte Formation is assumed to be Pragian. VAI in SCHÖNLAUB (ed., 1980b, p. 32, Fig. 16, sample FV 136, therein) assigned specimens to *"lcriodus* cf. *huddlei curvi*-

Text-Fig. 5. $\blacktriangleright \Box \Box$ A detailed log of the section at Mount Seewarte implying data on stratigraphy and lithology of the sampled formations: Megaerella Fm (Pridolian), Rauchkofel Fm (Lochkovian to Pragian) and Hohe Warte Fm (Pragian). Conodont zones in grey lack distinctive conodonts for being verified as such. In the log included are numbers of former sampling campaigns by BANDEL (1969): numbers Oc to 20 and VAI (1967): number 141. Relative rates of insoluble residues show the clastic input of sediment between 0.63–250 µm grain size among the entire section. The occurrence of conodont taxa, most suggestive for fixing biostratigraphic boundaries, is indicated by black dots (taxa of uncertain assignment are represented by grey dots).



cauda" from somewhere possibly close to the present sampling campaign number Se/03/37/04 (Text-Fig. 5). I elements referred to Caudicriodus sp. (lacking distinct features for assigning them to Caudicriodus curvicauda) were obtained in the same interval. Thus the boundaries of the serratus Zone (SLAVÍK, 2004b: 62) accord with the first and last occurrence of taxa belonging to the Pelekysgnathus serratus group, the serratus Zone is proposed to range from sample Se/02/28/04 to Se/03/41/04. The single occurrence of a partially fragmented I element of Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus in sample Se/03/45/05 (Appendix 1, Fig. G) is assumed to indicate the lower part of the celtibericus Zone. Other conodonts obtained among the massive limestones are Belodella striata, Coelocerodontus cf. C. reduncus, Dvorakia klapperi, Neopanderodus aequabilis, Neopanderodus leptostriatus, Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor, Pandorinellina miae, Pandorinellina steinhornensis praeoptima and specimens of Pelekysgnathus. Conodont samples close to the boundary of the Hohe Warte Formation with the Seewarte Formation produced no or only a few specimens of Belodella resima, Dvorakia klapperi and Panderodus. No platform elements were obtained to assign the carbonate beds to a proper biostratigraphic level (Appendix 1, Fig. H; formation boundary marked by dotted line). Thus, an age not younger than upper Pragian is assumed for the top of the Hohe Warte Formation, but chronologically constraining conodonts are needed.

5. Facies Analysis

5.1. Microfacies

Rocks were classified according to the scheme of DUN-HAM (1962), using the more specific determination of microfacies types (MF-type 1 to 10) advocated by KREUTZER (1990), who suggested use of additional types (and several sub-types) for facies analyses, lateral correlation and palaeoecologic interpretation of Devonian units through the Kellerwand to Cellon nappes of the central Carnic Alps. His concept is accepted here to facilitate correlation. The following types are present in the Seewarte section (see also BANDEL, 1969):

MF-type 2: Grainstone

Grainstones were found to range from bioclasts with little or no micritisation (Plate 1, Fig. 2) to coated grains wherein the rim is extensively micritized around the entire grain (Plate 1, Fig. 1). The first of these accords with rather rapid cementation of components after breakage and deposition. Components are crinoid stem plates with subordinate skeletal grains of brachiopods and bryozoans. Peloids are sparse or even lacking.

MF-type 3a: Peloidal pack- to grainstone

In some thin-sections the most of the clastic component are peloidal grains in sparitic matrix with subordinate larger skeletal components such as mollusc shells, bryozoans, crinoids, trilobites and brachiopod valves. Other limestone beds have less peloids, with bioclasts forming the major allochthonous components in predominantly sparitic rather than micritic matrix.

MF-type 5b: Framestone

Frame builders are tabulate corals, stromatoporoids, calcareous green algae and calcimicrobes. Organisms of the carbonate factory usually formed small patch reefs and biostromes. The major part of the Hohe Warte Formation consists of reefal debris fringing buildups. The frequency of patch reefs increases in the upper part of the massive limestone.

MF-type 5c: Bindstone

Some thin-sections show mixed facies classified as frame- to bindstones with microbial mats binding sediment particles between the coral and stromatoporoid colonies. True bindstones occur at the base of the Seewarte Formation. The limestones consist of thin-bedded fenestral mudstones. Common constituents are microbialites, ostracod valves, gastropods and peloids between spar-filled stromatactis.

MF-type 6: Rudstone, breccia of reefal debris

Components are tabulate corals, stromatoporoids, cyanobacteria mixed with organisms from fore- and back-reef environments such as calcareous green algae (cf. HUBMANN, 1994), crinoids, and subordinate shell fragments of molluscs and brachiopods. Thin-sections show areas classified as wackestone or peloidal pack-/grainstone between reefal residues and other bioclasts.

MF-type 8?: Pelagic mudstone

The interval assigned to microfacies type 8 of KREUTZER (1990) is followed by a question mark because the depositional environment of this part of the formation is interpreted as a transitional facies possibly located more distally on the shelf. None of the other proposed microfacies-types of KREUTZER (1990) and additional types 11–13 in KREUTZER (1992a) can be applied here. These limestones are bituminous, fine-grained, organodetritic carbonates with pyrite, small amounts of siliciclastics, peloids and comminuted or small biogenes (including small phosphatic brachiopods). The sediment is partly dolomitized with increase in fine dolomitic grains along stylolites.

General Remarks

Sediments are rich in carbonate throughout, consisting of up to 12.7% of clastic insolubles between 0.63 and 250 μ m (compare Text-Fig. 5). They are represented by siliciclastics, dolomite and a negligible amount of heavy mineral grains. Values of clastic components vary from the base of the section to the base of the megaclast horizon between 0.1 and 5.43%. Some samples from the upper part of the Rauchkofel Formation have increased amounts of dolomitic grains from late diagenetic processes; they were obtained from limestone beds close to minor fault zones.

The first occurrence of single tubular microbial colonies such as Girvanella (Plate 1, Fig. H) were observed a few metres below the megaclast horizon (sample: Se/02/12/04). The first small aggregates of the Renalcis Group occur about 30 m above the megaclast horizon in samples Se/02/31/04 and Se/02/33/04, increasing in number in the lower third of the Hohe Warte Formation. The aggregates grow much larger becoming important constituents of the local frame-building guilds in the upper third of that massive limestone sequence. The first fragments of calcareous green algae occur 25 m above the base of the Hohe Warte Formation in sample Se/03/12/04. Deposits rich in calcareous algae occur in the uppermost quarter of the Hohe Warte Formation.

The insoluble clastic content through the unbedded limestones of the Hohe Warte Formation range from 0.1 to 6.7%. Thin sections showing partial dolomitization with sparse to moderately distributed dolomite grains are indicated as "+ dolomite" in Appendix 6. Nearly totally recrystallized rocks were identified as dolomite. Where portions of non-diagenetic sediments were observed, the original microfacies-type is included (e.g.: "dolomite; prim: 3a" = primary microfacies-type 3a). Microfacies types occurring in the Seewarte section are shown on Plate 1 to 3 (for distribution compare Appendix 6).



Text-Fig. 6. Absolute quantities of conodont elements (yield from dissolved rock samples) in relation to microfacies through the Seewarte section. m = metres above base; c.n. = number of conodont elements.

5.2. Facies-Related Distribution Patterns of Conodont Elements

Modes of deposition differ from those of pelagic environments where conodonts are enriched in thin beds due to winnowing from the unconsolidated sediments. In contrast, conodont elements are not equally distributed through the shallow marine environments. The deposition and distribution is controlled mainly by current velocities and the character of the sea floor, whether planar or uneven, consisting of small dunes or submarine channels, or composed of bioconstructions. Differing hydrodynamics of individual conodonts - shape, centre of gravity, weight (MCGOFF, 1991) - and the grain size of the sediment containing the conodonts are all important. Biogenic structures such as load casts or layers of accumulated shells of macrofossils act as traps for all kinds of microfossil remains. Other members of the community (sessile or endolithic) are preserved mainly by becoming overgrown. The chance for vagile organisms or even their hard tissues being preserved in large numbers in such areas (especially biogenic buildups) is very low. Because of this, numbers of conodont specimens are plotted in relation to the predominant microfacies-types (Text-Fig. 6). The graph shows that elements are most abundant in peloidal pack- to grainstones (MF-type 3a) and pure crinoidal grainstones (MF-type 2), where two samples produced about 3000 elements. In contrast, rudstones (MF-type 6) yield up to 260 and framestones (MF-type 5b) below 40 conodont elements. No specimens were obtained from bindstones (MF-type 5c).

The abundance pattern of elements is still difficult to explain. Due to the evidence that the majority of the elements are allochthonous isolated remains rather than aligned clusters or natural assemblages, decisive factors for the limitation of elements are the taphonomic potential of the dominating microfacies. Considering that the biology and ecology of conodonts is still under discussion, reconstructions of their preliminary habitat, whether they preferred pelagic, benthic, or infaunal environments, is still very interpretative. One of the remaining questions concerning the distribution patterns of conodont elements and the taphonomic scenery behind is how far isolated conodont units of local populations were transported and where transport started related to the post- or even re-depositional record preserved. Biases according with the interpretation of the fossil record of conodonts are discussed under various aspects by PURNELL & DONOGHUE (2005).

6. Stable Isotopes

6.1. Carbon Isotopes

Carbon isotopes, starting at 1.33 per mil at the base of the section, have a slight positive shift, up to 2.02 per mil, from the detorta to the eurekaensis(?) Zones. Subsequent values across the delta and pesavis Zones range between 0.71 and 1.91 per mil. A sudden positive shift to 3.11 per mil occurs at the base of the megaclast horizon. From that sample on, values vary between 1.94 and 3.29 per mil. One limestone sample about 35 m above the base of the Hohe Warte Formation registered 1.35 per mil, presumably due to diagenetic alteration of micrite; the sample was obtained close to a minor fault in a small strongly dolomitized area. Bedded limestones from the uppermost part of the Rauchkofel Formation to the top of the massive limestone of the Hohe Warte Formation do not have values exceeding 3.00 per mil. The standard deviation (three measurements per sample) usually does not exceed 0.05 except for one sample (Se/02/07/04) with a standard deviation of 0.11.

Mean values and associated standard deviations for all measured samples are presented in Appendix 6. Plots of

the stable isotope data are presented in relation to conodont biozones on Text-Fig. 7.

6.2. Oxygen Isotopes

Oxygen isotope data range between -9.26 and -1.61. Irregular excursions suggest oxidation of micrite in rock samples. A mean trend-line nevertheless follows the general curve of the carbon excursion. Standard deviations do not exceed 0.15. More reliable oxygen isotope values were obtained from unaltered, primary calcite of brachiopod shells or conodont apatite instead of micrite from wholerock samples. Unfortunately, brachiopods are sparse through the entire Seewarte section, and some conodont assemblages had to be sacrificed. The weight of conodont material is indicated in Appendix 6. The results will be published separately with the Erlangen conodont-isotoperesearch team.

7. Material and Methods

140 conodont samples weighing between 0.6 and 6.5 kg (precise weights and distance between each sample is indicated in Appendix 6) were obtained from the Seewarte section (Wolayer area, Carnic Alps). Only 10 of them yielded no conodonts (Se/02/15a/05; Se/03/09/04; Se/03/32/04; Se/03/34/04; Se/03/47/05; Se/04/06/04; Se/04/11/04; Se/04/14/04; Se/04/16/05 and Se/05/01/05).

Every rock sample was crushed into small pieces of about 2 cm increasing the surface for subsequent acid-leaching. For dissolution, fractured rock pieces were put in coarse-meshed sieves hung in tubs filled with formic acid, using ratios of 1 unit of HCOOH (85%) and 5 units of warmish water. The insoluble residues were separated into 3 fractions ($0.63 \mu m$, $125-250 \mu m$ and $500 \mu m$). Further details on acid leaching techniques are presented in AUSTIN (1987) and JEPPSSON & ANEHUS (1995).

The amount of dried residues was measured to calculate the relative carbonate content of each sample. Usually the 125–250 μ m fraction was used for segregating conodonts. Only where insoluble residues were obtained in very small amounts was the 0.63 μ m fraction used. Immediately after drying residues of less than 5g (and those of the 500 μ m fraction) were scanned under a stereomicroscope for conodonts and other microfossils with a fine needle.

Residues of more than 5 g were treated with heavy liquid (1, 1, 2, 2-tetrabromethane 98%) for separating heavy minerals from siliciclastic residues and enhancing the number of conodont elements before picking them. Alternative methods for heavy mineral separation are provided by KRUKOWSKI (1988) and SAVAGE (1988), which are recommended by the author.

In contrast to the highly carcinogenic and neurotoxic tetrabromethane the fluid (sodium metatungstate) used is nontoxic and resulted in only minor additional efforts in preparing it for separation. Conodont specimens figured on plates 4 to 21 were sputter-coated with a fine gold cover for 6–8 minutes and scanned in a JEOL JSM-6400 scanning microscope using 10 kV. Final images were manipulated in Photo Paint and Corel Draw.

The conodont color alteration index (CAI) of conodont assemblages was estimated using the color chart provided by EPSTEIN et al. (1977). Conodont elements of the Seewarte section indicate a CAI of 3. HELSEN et al. (1995) improved a technique for quantifying color alteration indices by using color image analysis; this was not used in this study. They demonstrate the relevance of the conodont color alteration index for geological research, since the method is uncomplicated and easy to handle.



Text-Fig. 7. Stable isotope data ($\delta^{13}C$, $\delta^{18}O$) of micrite from whole rock samples.

Of each rock sample one thin section was prepared for microfacial analyses. The color of unweathered rock surfaces and insoluble residues was determined in conjunction with a standard rock-color chart (distributed by the Geological Society of America). Classification of rocks was based on the charts of DUNHAM (1962) and FOLK (1962). Palaeoenvironmental reconstructions and interpretation of calcareous rocks follow mainly criteria discussed in PAPP & TURNOVSKY (1970), ADAMS et al. (1986) and FLÜGEL (2004).

For stable isotopes (δ^{13} C, δ^{18} O), micrite of whole rocks was extracted by drilling small pieces with a vibro-tool. The powdered micrite was treated with phosphoric acid and analysed in a mass spectrometer. Obtained values are reported in per mil relative to the V-PDB standard.

Conodont samples are stored at the Geological Survey of Austria, Vienna (illustrated material: GBA-2006/1/14-31 = Geologische Bundesanstalt-year/current GBA number/SEM-table and table-position; additional material: GBA-2006/1/SE 039 = Geologische Bundesanstalt-year/current GBA number/current number of the SEewarte material). Thin sections and residual rock samples for further analyses are housed in the Institute of Palaeontology, University of Vienna, room 2B-191 (IPUW-3803-1-2, Institut für Paläontologie der Universität Wien-current IPUW numberunit-sample). Abbreviation of recent sampling campaign numbers: Se/01/01/04 = Seewarte section/unit/sample/ year. Sample numbers on Text-Fig. 5 and Appendix 1 are reduced to their middle part (e.g.: Se/01/01/04 = 01/01).

8. Conodont Color Alteration Index

A representative assembly of conodonts was photographed under the stereomicroscope to define the distribution of white matter and color alteration of the conodont elements in general (Text-Fig. 8). Illustrated specimens of the *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* apparatus have milky opaque denticles. The lower area of the cusp and the entire blade from close to the base of the denticles to the basal margin ranges between brownish grey and brownish black. Thinwalled simple cones are milky white (lateral face, covering the triangular basal cavity) to light olive grey (anterior and posterior margin, tip of the cusp and posterior denticulation). Hence, a mean color alteration index (CAI) of 3 is inferred, assuming burial temperatures of less than 200°C for the observed strata.

9. Systematic Palaeontology

The systematic concept of conodont classification from the Order downward follows SWEET (1988). The assignment of Phylum to Class, still controversial, follows recent publications of SANSOM et al. (1992), JANVIER (1995), ALDRIDGE & PURNELL (1996), ZIEGLER & WEDDIGE (1999) and SWEET & DONOGHUE (2001). Characteristic features and descriptive terms used for determination are compiled in Appendix 3 and 4. All elements obtained are from the NW Seewarte section at Lake Wolayer (Mount Seewarte, Kellerwand Nappe, Carnic Alps, Carinthia, Austria). The distribution of conodonts (Megaerella Fm, Rauchkofel Fm and Hohe Warte Fm) is indicated in Appendix 5.

Conventions and Abbreviations:

Page numbers in synonymies indicate where the taxonomic description of a species starts. If no separate taxonomic division exists, page numbers indicate where additional remarks occur in the text.

aff. (affinis); cf. (confer); fig. (figure); n. sp. (nova species); p. (page); pl. (plate); sp. (species); tab. (table); conodont genera: *A. = Ancyrodelloides; B. = Belodella; C. = Caudicriodus; E. = Eognathodus; F. = Flajsella; I. = Icriodus; L. = Lanea; L. = Latericriodus; Oul. = Oulodus; O. = Ozarkodina; Pand. = Pandorinellina; Ped. = Pedavis; Pe. = Pelekysgnathus; P. = Polygnathus.*

Phylum:	Chordata BATESON, 1886
Subphylum:	Vertebrata LAMARCK, 1801
Class:	Conodonta EICHENBERG, 1930
	sensu Clark, 1981
Order:	Belodellida Śweet, 1988
Family:	Belodellidae
-	KHODALEVICH & TSCHERNICH, 1973
Genus:	Belodella ETHINGTON, 1959

Type species: Belodus devonicus STAUFFER, 1940.

Belodella anomalis COOPER, 1974

Pl. 4; Figs. 1-6

General Remarks: The multimembrate apparatus features elements with characteristic denticulation along the anterior (to anterio-lateral) margin(s), which separates



Text-Fig. 8

Stereomicroscopic images (left to right) of 4 Pa, 1 Pb, 3 Sc, 2 M and 2 Sa elements of *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (Se/01/04/04), 1 element of *Pandero*dus sp. (Se/01/04/04), 1 Sa element of *Ozarkodina* sp. (Se/04/-04/04) and 6 elements of *Belodella* sp. (Se/04/-04/04) indicating a CAI of 3.

Belodella anomalis from all other belodellid species. Lateral denticulation within the upper part of the cusp forms a fan-like structure in Sa, Sb and Sc elements only. Sd and T elements lack the distal fanning and have a free-ending, pointed cusp instead. The scheme in FARRELL, 2004 (Text-Fig. 4, therein) readily distinguishing elements from each other. It shows, that the apparatus includes element types possessing triangular, compressed triangular and lenticular cross-sections, which is relevant for reconstruction of other belodellid apparatuses. An-DERSSON, 2003 (Fig. 2, therein) presented an overview regarding the distribution and range of five species of Belodella occurring in Upper Silurian to Middle Devonian strata in eastern Australia. A maximum range for Belodella anomalis from the siluricus Zone (Ludlow) to the uppermost detorta Zone (Pridoli), not crossing the Silurian-Devonian boundary, was suggested. A similar age and range was concluded for European specimens by JEPPSSON (1989). He reported Belodella anomalis up to few centimetres below the Silurian-Devonian boundary in bed 19 at Klonk (Czech Republic).

Material: 162 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 4, Fig. 5)

- 1989 Belodella anomalis COOPER JEPPSSON, p. 25; Pl. 1, Fig. 15.
- 1998 Belodella anomalis COOPER SERPAGLI, CORRADINI & FERRET-TI, PI. 1.2.2, Fig. 8.
- 2003 Belodella anomalis COOPER ANDERSON, p. 472; Pl. 3, Fig. 26.
 2004 Belodella anomalis COOPER FARRELL, p. 947; Pl. 1, Fig. 17; Text-Fig. 4.
- Description: The Sa element has a deep basal cavity, triangular in cross-section, with a broad anterior margin. Either anterior margin is denticulate with fine aligned denticles starting near the lower margin. Denticles along the posterior margin form a straight line. Those of the anterior margin develop a symmetrical fan-like structure on either side of the apex (fragmented in the figured specimen). Usually the fan consists of denticles from just beneath the tip, aligned with the apex laterally, constituting the typical T-shape of the element in posterior view. The outline of the element is triangular in lateral view with lateral faces remaining unornamented.

Sb element (Pl. 4, Fig. 6)

- 1974 Belodella anomalis COOPER, p. 1121; Pl. 1, Figs. 7–10; Text-Figs. 1c–d.
- 1995 Belodella anomalis COOPER SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 124; PI. 4, Figs. 1–3.
- 1999 Belodella anomalis COOPER COCKLE, p. 118; Pl. 4, Figs. 1, 2.
- 2003 Belodella anomalis COOPER FARRELL, p. 120; Pl. 1, Figs. 6, 7.
- 2004 Belodella anomalis COOPER FARRELL, p. 950; Pl. 1, Figs. 7, 8, 11, 14; Text-Fig. 4.
- Description: The basal cavity is narrow but deep. The cross-section of the basal margin has a compressed triangular shape. A rather prominent denticulation rises along the anterior margin separating it into two ridges by a central longitudinal groove. Antero-lateral denticles towards the cusp remain prominent and bent proximally more to the posterior, but decrease in size when they reach the cusp. Those of the posterior margin are aligned and strongly sigmoidally curved with the cusp centred among the distal horizontal fan structure (in posterior view). The element is triangular in lateral view with a smooth surface.

Sc element (Pl. 4, Fig. 2)

- 1974 Belodella anomalis COOPER, p. 1121; Pl. 1, Figs. 2–3; Text-Fig. 1b.
- 2004 Belodella anomalis COOPER FARRELL, p. 950; Pl. 1, Figs. 7–8, 11, 14; Text-Fig. 4.
- Description: The lower margin is lenticular in outline with a basal cavity reaching almost to the anterior and posterior extremities. The anterior and posterior margins are

denticulate. In lower view, marginal denticles are straight. Those of the anterior margin are inclined towards the cusp with the distalmost of them largest and aligned with the proximal part of the cusp forming the inner side of the fan. In posterior view, denticles of the posterior process are sigmoidally curved, joining the cusp on its outer side. Usually the cusp is rather prominent, but is fragmented in the figured element. The lateral outline of the element is almost triangular with a gently curved anterior margin. The observed specimen lacks surface texture.

Sd element (Pl. 4, Figs. 1, 3, 4)

- 1974 Belodella anomalis COOPER, p. 1121; Pl. 1, Figs. 1, 4–6; Text-Fig. 1e.
- 1999 Belodella anomalis COOPER COCKLE, p. 118; Pl. 4, Figs. 5, 6.
 2003 Belodella anomalis COOPER ANDERSON, p. 472; Pl. 3, Figs. 13–17, 19–21, 24, 25.
- 2004 Belodella anomalis COOPER FARRELL, p. 951; Pl. 1, Figs. 5, 6, 12, 15, 16; Text-Fig. 4.
- Description: The element is triangular in lateral view. The basal margin more oval than lenticular, with an arcuate anterior (curving to the inner side), but a straight posterior denticulate margin (in lower view). The basal cavity is triangular, extending only half the height of the element in lateral view. Denticles along the posterior margin are aligned and sigmoidal, but less strongly curved in posterior view. Uppermost denticles near the cusp are reduced in length and do not develop a fan-like structure. The cusp is rather prominent and located terminal to adjacent posterior denticles (in posterior view). The lateral surface on either side is smooth.

Belodella resima (PHILIP, 1965)

Pl. 4, Figs. 9-12, 14-16, 18, 19, 21?, 22-24, 25?, 27, 28, 29?

General Remarks: Following recent publications (AN-DERSON, 2003; FARRELL, 2004) the historical discrimination of the species Belodella devonica, Belodella resima and Belodella triangularis, on the basis of the outline of the basal margin (TELFORD, 1975), is avoided here. This results in a reconstructed multimembrate apparatus of Belodella anomalis including all three cross-section types. The outline of the cross-section becomes a significant feature for ascertaining the correct position of elements within the apparatus. Elements of Belodella devonica can be distinguished from Belodella resima in possessing prominent parallel costae running along the anterior margin on the inner lateral face. Depending on the specification of other features, the former Belodella triangularis is synonymized with B. devonica, B. resima being in the Sc position. The emended diagnosis proposed for belodellid apparatuses (especially for Belodella devonica) presented by ANDERSON (2003) are accepted here.

Material: 4520 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 4, Figs. 14, 15, 27)

- 1975 Belodella resima (PHILIP) TELFORD, p. 11; Pl. 1, Figs. 13–16; Pl. 2, Figs. 3, 4.
- 1987a Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, PI. 5, Figs. 11, 12.
- 1987b Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, Pl. 41, Figs. 6-8.
- 1989 Belodella resima (PHILIP) SORENTINO, p. 95; PI. 8, Figs. 3, 5, 7.
- 1989 Belodella resima (PHILIP) WILSON, Pl. 1, Figs. 1–3.
- 1994 Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 15. H.
- 1995 Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, TALENT & FUREY-GREIG, p. 424; PI. 4, Figs. 2–5, 9.
- 1995 Belodella resima (PHILIP) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMP-SON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 11, Figs. 3, 4.
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) ANDERSON, p. 470; Pl. 1, Figs. 1-15.

- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) FARRELL, p. 121; Pl. 1, Figs. 19-21. 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMP-SON, Pl. 5, Figs. 1-4, 10.
- 2004 Belodella resima (PHILIP) FARRELL, p. 954; Pl. 2, Fig. 11.
- Description: Sa elements are symmetrical. The outline of the lower margin is narrowly triangular with the anterior lower margin shorter in length compared to the lateral lower margin. Lateral faces are compressed, flat or expanded without any ornament. Either edge running along the anterior side forms a flange-like costa. Denticles along the posterior margin are fused at the base and relatively short; usually they have free ending tips, fragmented in most of the specimens. The cusp, free of denticles, is recurved distally and untwisted. The basal cavity is triangular in lateral view extending very deep to the distal part of the base.
- Sb element (Pl. 4, Figs. 11, 18, 19, 21?)
- 1966 Belodella sp. cf. B. devonica (STAUFFER) - PHILIP, p. 444; Pl. 1, Figs. 22-24.
- 1971 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 687; PI. 79, Figs. 1, 2?, 3.
- 1975 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - TELFORD, p. 11; Pl. 1, Fig. 12.
- Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) TELFORD, p. 11; Pl. 2, Figs. 1975 1, 2.
- 1987a Belodella devonica (STAUFFER) MAWSON, PI. 5, Figs. 6, 8.
- 1987a Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, PI. 5, Figs. 9, 10. 1987b Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, PI. 41, Fig. 5.
- 1989 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - MAWSON & TALENT, PI. 8, Figs. 3, 1989 Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) - MAWSON & TALENT, Pl. 8,
- Fig. 5.
- 1989 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 8, Figs. 1, 2.
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 15. G. 1994
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, TALENT & FUREY-GREIG, 1995 p. 242; Pl. 4, Figs. 6-8.
- 1995 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMP-SON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, Pl. 11, Figs. 5-10.
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - ANDERSON, p. 470; Pl. 1, Figs. 16 - 20
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 121; Pl. 1, Figs. 15, 16.
- 2004 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 954; PI. 2, Figs. 8, 12.
- Description: Cones obtained are asymmetrical, exhibiting features nearly identical with those of elements in the Sa position. They differ only in possessing a twisted cusp.

Sc element (Pl. 4, Figs. 9, 22-24, 25?)

- 1968 Belodus triangularis STAUFFER - SCHULZE, p. 185; Pl. 16, Fig. 14?
- Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) TELFORD, p. 11; Pl. 1, Figs. 1975 2-4.
- 1987a Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) MAWSON, Pl. 5, Fig. 13. 1987b Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) - MAWSON, Pl. 41, Fig. 9.
- 1989 Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) - SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 8, Fig. 4.
- Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) WILSON, PI. 1, Figs. 8, 9. 1989
- Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 15. 1994 N-P
- 1995 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMP-SON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 11, Figs. 11-14.
- 1998 Belodella resima PHILIP - SLAVÍK, p. 160; Pl. 2, Fig. 5.
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - ANDERSON, p. 470; PI. 2, Figs. 1-6.
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) FARRELL, p. 121; Pl. 1, Fig. 14. 2003
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMP-SON, Pl. 5, Figs. 5, 11.
- 2004 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 954; PI. 2, Fig. 9.
- Description: Generally the element is asymmetrical with the surface of the outer side convex. Lateral walls are flat, compressed or expanded, remaining unornamented. The basal margin of the cone is triangular in lower view. Denticles along the posterior margin are small and fused at the base. The posterior margin and the cusp forms an

angle of more than 90 degrees resulting in strong twisting of the tip of the cusp towards the inner side; it appears more recurved in some of the figured specimens.

Sd element (Pl. 4, Figs. 10, 12, 29?)

- 1975 Belodella devonica (STAUFFER) TELFORD, p. 10; Pl. 1, Figs. 5-9
- 1987a Belodella devonica (STAUFFER) MAWSON, Pl. 5, Figs. 4, 5, 7.
- 1987b Belodella devonica (STAUFFER) MAWSON, Pl. 41, Figs. 1-4.
- 1989 Belodella devonica (STAUFFER) - MAWSON & TALENT, PI. 8, Figs. 1, 2.
- 1989 Belodella devonica (STAUFFER) - WILSON, Pl. 1, Figs. 4-7.
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) FUREY-GREIG, PI. 2, Figs. 1, 2. 1995
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) ANDERSON, p. 470; Pl. 2, Figs. 2003 7-14
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 121; Pl. 1, Fig. 17.
- 2004 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 954; Pl. 2, Figs. 6, 7.
- Description: The cross-section of basal margin is lenticular. Lateral walls are expanded and show no surface texture. Posterior denticulation can extend along the entire posterior margin, but in some specimens denticles cover only up to 80 percent and are lacking beneath the cusp. The cusp is untwisted but strongly recurved into an angle of less than 90 degree to the posterior margin.

T element (Pl. 4, Fig. 28)

- 1975 Belodella resima (PHILIP) TELFORD, p. 11; Pl. 1, Fig. 11.
- 1987a Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, Pl. 5, Fig. 12.
- 1987b Belodella resima (PHILIP) MAWSON, Pl. 41, Fig. 6.
- 1989 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 8, Fig. 6.
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) ANDERSON, p. 470; PI. 2, Figs. 2003 18-23.
- 2004 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 954; PI. 2, Fig. 10.
- Description: Elements possess a less prominent costa on the outer side running along the anterior margin. Lateral faces of specimens are unornamented. The area of the upper half from one-third of the base until the tip of the cusp is strongly twisted. The cusp is recurved. Denticles along the posterior margin are small, fused at the base and aligned to the cusp proximally.

M element (Pl. 4, Fig. 16)

- 1965 Paltodus valgus sp. nov. PHILIP, p. 98; Pl. 8, Figs. 7, 8.
- Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) TELFORD, p. 11; Pl. 1, Fig. 1975 1.
- 1987b Panderodus valgus (PHILIP) MAWSON, Pl. 41, Fig. 10.
- Panderodus valgus (PHILIP) MAWSON & TALENT, PI. 8, Figs. 1989 21, 22.
- ?1989 Belodella triangularis (STAUFFER) - SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 8, Fias. 9. 10.
- 1989 Panderodus valgus (PHILIP) - SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 8, Figs. 12.13.
- Panderodus valgus (PHILIP) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 15. C, 1994 E?
- 1995 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - MAWSON, TALENT & FUREY-GREIG, p. 424; Pl. 4, Fig. 1.
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMP-1995 SON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, Pl. 11, Fig. 2.
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - ANDERSON, p. 470; PI. 2, Figs. 15-17.
- Belodella resima (PHILIP) FARRELL, p. 121; Pl. 1, Fig. 18. 2003
- 2003 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 5, Fig. 6.
- 2004 Belodella resima (PHILIP) - FARRELL, p. 954; Pl. 2, Fig. 13.
- Description: Specimens have a smooth lateral surface. The cross-section of the lower margin is symmetrical. The cusp is gently curved but untwisted. No denticles are developed along the posterior margin. One of the elements figured differs a little in possessing a more concave posterior margin.

Belodella striata KOZUR, 1984

Pl. 4, Figs. 13, 17, 20?, 26; Pl. 5, Fig. 3

General Remarks: Distinctive for this taxon is the development of fine longitudinal striation, lacking in all other species of *Belodella*. For *Belodella striata* from localities in Australia, a range restricted to the Pragian (*sulcatuspireneae* Zone) is concluded by ANDERSON (2003). BAR-RICK & KLAPPER (1992) obtained specimens in a section of Lochkovian age in Oklahoma. ANDERSON (2003) remarked, that their material cannot be assigned to *B. striata* with certainty due to pure preservation. Extending the range down to the Lochkovian remains questionable, though some elements from the Rauchkofel Formation of the Seewarte section were obtained from beds referred to the *pesavis* Zone.

Material: 8 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 4, Figs. 13, 20?, 26)

- 1984 Belodella striata n. sp. KOZUR, p. 152; Pl. 9, Fig. 1.
- 1995 Belodella sp. cf. B. striata KOZUR BARRICK & NOBLE, p. 1120; Fig. 6.1.
- Description: Elements are symmetrical with triangular outline of the lower margin. Anterior and lateral faces are flat. A fine striated ornament is visible only at high magnification, extending nearly half the length on lateral faces. In some specimens surface texture is strongly etched and ornament therefore only partly preserved. A weakly developed flange-like costa runs along the edge of the anterior margin. The tiny denticles of the posterior margin are fused at the base, extending to the base of the cusp. The cusp is gently curved and untwisted. The basal cavity is very deep and triangular in lateral view.

Sb element (PI. 4, Fig. 17)

- 1995 Belodella sp. cf. B. striata Kozur Ваккіск & Noble, p. 1120; Figs. 6.2–6.4.
- 2003 Belodella striata Kozur Anderson, p. 473; Pl. 3, Figs. 7–12.
- Description: The Sb element has an asymmetrical deformed lenticular(?) cross-section with the lower basal margin of lateral walls curved and somewhat compressed centrally. One edge bordering the anterior margin is slightly convex. The second edge shows a weak flange-like costa. The posterior margin is covered with very small denticles extending to the base of the curved cusp. Striation is visible in the posterior to mid region on lateral faces. The basal cavity is triangular in lateral view, reaching to the base of the cusp. The element is slightly twisted.
- Remarks: The slight twisting of the element contrasts with the description in ANDERSON (2003), where the cusp remains only gently curved. The cross-section cannot be defined clearly, whether lenticular or triangular, as some specimens have fractured or deformed basal walls.

M element (Pl. 5, Fig. 3)

- 1984 Belodella sp. cf. B. striata KOZUR, p. 152; Pl. 9, Fig. 2; Pl. 10, Fig. 1.
- 1995 Belodella sp. cf. B. striata KOZUR BARRICK & NOBLE, p. 1120; Fig. 6.5.
- 2003 Belodella striata KOZUR ANDERSON, p. 473; Pl. 3, Figs. 5, 6.
- Description: The M element lacks denticulation along the posterior margin. A nearly symmetrical cross-section (outline lenticular) with compressed mid area (described as: curving inward and outward of lateral faces). The anterior margin forms a flange-like costa. Fine, parallel striae cover the entire lateral face on either side. The cusp (tip broken) is gently curved along the entire length of the element.

Genus: Coelocerodontus ETHINGTON, 1959

Type species: Coelocerodontus trigonius ETHINGTON, 1959.

Coelocerodontus cf. C. reduncus TELFORD, 1975

Material: 1 specimen.

Trigoniform element

- cf. 1975 Coelocerodontus reduncus sp. nov. TELFORD, p. 16; Pl. 3, Figs. 1–3.
- cf. 1989 *Coelocerodontus reduncus* TELFORD MAWSON & TALENT, PI. 8, Fig. 20.
- cf. 1989 Coelocerodontus reduncus TELFORD SORENTINO, p. 95; PI. 8, Figs. 14?, 15.
- cf. 1990 Coelocerodontus trigonius ETHINGTON UYENO, p. 75; Pl. 1, Figs. 11, 12, 33, 34.
- cf. 1995 Coelocerodontus reduncus TELFORD MAWSON, TALENT & FUREY-GREIG, p. 427.
- cf. 1995 Coelocerodontus reduncus TELFORD SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 125.
- cf. 1995 *Coelocerodontus* sp. cf. *C. reduncus* TELFORD SLOAN, TAL-ENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 11, Fig. 15; PI. 13, Figs. 20?, 21, 22.
- Description: The cone has a broad triangular cross-section of the basal margin, with keels on antero-lateral and posterior margins. Keels are strongly developed. Anterior and lateral faces are almost of equal width. The apical area of the cusp is curved, including an angle of about 90 degrees. The basal cavity is triangular in lateral view and very deep, extending almost to the part of recurvature of the cusp.
- Remarks: ORCHARD (1980), SIMPSON & TALENT (1995) and other authors proposed that the apparatus of *Coelocerodontus* is a bimembrate one, consisting of tri- and tetragoniform elements. Tetragoniform elements are described mainly from the Ordovician. Apparatus reconstructions of Upper Cambrian and Tremadocian clusters of *Coelocerodontus* (MÜLLER & HINZ, 1991; ANDRES, 1988 respectively) include at least four different types of elements. Based on these early Palaeozoic clusters, SAN-SOM et al. (1994) proposed a multimembrate reconstruction for *Coelocerodontus* consisting of arcuatiform, asymmetric graciliform, falciform, tortiform and possibly aequaliform elements (Text-Fig. 8, therein).

Genus: Dvorakia KLAPPER & BARRICK, 1983

Type species: *Dvorakia chattertoni* KLAPPER & BARRICK, 1983.

Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni KLAPPER & BARRICK, 1983

Pl. 5, Figs. 16, 17

Material: 10 specimens.

- Sb element (Pl. 5, Fig. 16)
- aff. 1983 Dvorakia chattertoni n. sp. KLAPPER & BARRICK, p. 1227; Figs. 8M, 8O, 8P, 8Q, 8S.
- Description: The outline of the basal margin is almost triangular with a broad flat anterior margin and slightly curved lateral walls. The inner antero-lateral edge has a flange-like costa. The posterior margin is keeled. Lateral faces show two weak longitudinal costae in the posterior half. Costae do not extend along the entire length of the element. The cusp is strongly recurved, including an angle to the posterior margin of about 104 degrees.

Sc element (Pl. 5, Fig. 17)

- aff. 1983 Dvorakia chattertoni n. sp. KLAPPER & BARRICK, p. 1227; Figs. 8L, 8R.
- Description: The cross-section of the lower margin is convex on the outer side, but rather straight on the inner. A flange-like costa, a little wider in the lower half, is visible on the inner antero-lateral margin. The posterior margin resembles a broad keel. The outer surface remains

smooth, whereas the inner one exhibits three weakly developed longitudinal costae in the posterior third. Costae do not extend along the entire length of the element. The cusp is strongly recurved, including an angle to the posterior margin of about 107 degrees.

Dvorakia klapperi (CHATTERTON, 1974)

Pl. 6, Fig. 13; Pl. 7, Fig. 5

Material: 13 specimens.

Sb? element (Pl. 6, Fig. 13)

- 1983 Dvorakia klapperi (CHATTERTON) KLAPPER & BARRICK, p. 1229; Figs. 8B, 8D, 8E [cum syn.].
- Description: The asymmetrical cross-section shows a straight, flat anterior lower margin and two strongly rounded lateral lower margins twice the length. The inner anterolateral and the posterior margin are keeled. Lateral faces are covered by approximately 10 longitudinal costae parallel to the anterior margin. The anterior margin is gently curved with the degree of curvature increasing towards the apex. The cusp is gently twisted with the tip pointing towards the inner side.
- Remarks: The figured specimen differs from those of KLAPPER & BARRICK (1983) by displaying a higher number of costae on lateral faces.

Sd element (PI. 7, Fig. 5)

- 1983 Dvorakia klapperi (CHATTERTON) KLAPPER & BARRICK, p. 1229; Fig. 8F [cum syn.].
- 1989 Dvorakia klapperi (Chatterton) Mawson & Talent, Pl. 8, Fig. 9.
- Description: The cross-section of the element is almost oval. A weak antero-lateral keel is slightly rotating from base to apex. Distinct costae on lateral faces are almost equally spaced from each other, except for spacing between the costae adjacent to the antero-lateral keel on the inner side, where the distance is little wider. No posterior keel is recognizable. The anterior margin is gently curved with the cusp being vertical.

Dvorakia sp. A

Pl. 4, Figs. 7, 8

- Material: 6 specimens.
- Remarks: Obtained specimens, though denticulate, seem to belong to the genus *Belodella* at first glance. Closer investigations have shown, that elements differ markedly in some features, suggesting a position within the genus *Dvorakia* rather than *Belodella*. Denticles along the posterior margin are laterally flattened to conical in shape. They differ from those of *Belodella*, in being discrete, much larger and very wide spaced. The cross-section of the elements can be triangular (Plate 4, Fig. 7) or lenticular (Plate 4, Fig. 8). The anterior margin has a keel developed on one side, tapered towards the tip. One element (Plate 4, Fig. 7) has a wrinkle zone developed close to the lower margin. Specimens are observed in Lochkovian and Pragian strata of the Seewarte section (*delta*- to *celtibericus* Zone).

Dvorakia sp.

Pl. 5, Figs. 1, 2, 4, 6, 10, 14, 18

Material: 222 specimens.

Remarks: Several elements of *Dvorakia* sp. are obtained. Most of them possess a slightly asymmetrical but oval cross-section with lateral faces compressed, or a triangular cross-section with either a straight or a rounded anterior lower margin. An anterior keel can be developed. The curvature of the cusp ranges from gently curved to recurved. Some elements do have few fine striae close to the posterior margin, but usually lateral faces are smooth. Some specimens are similar to that one figured in FARRELL, 2004 (Plate 2, Fig. 14). For further comments on the genus *Dvorakia* compare SIMPSON & TALENT, 1995 (page 125).

Genus: Walliserodus SERPAGLI, 1967

Type species: Acodus curvatus BRANSON & BRANSON, 1947.

Walliserodus multistriatus FARRELL, 2004

Pl. 6, Fig. 14

Material: 8 specimens.

Sa? element (Pl. 6, Fig. 14)

- 2004 Walliserodus multistriatus FARRELL, p. 955; Pl. 3, Figs. 1–3, 5, 6, 11.
- Description: The cusp is erect, possessing a gently curved anterior margin (keeled?). Well developed striae on the posterior area of the lateral faces run parallel to the anterior margin. The striated texture covers nearly two-thirds of the surface including an angle of about 35 degrees to the posterior margin. Extending nearly to the faintly developed wrinkle zone, striae become almost vertical. The cross-section of the element is broadly oval, with lateral faces being pinched in the posterior third. The distal part of the cone and the cusp are compressed.
- Remarks: A diagnostic feature of the species *Walliserodus multistriatus* is the outline of the basal margin and the characteristic striation extending at a low angle from the posterior margin towards the base on each lateral face.

Order Protopanderodontida SwEET, 1988 Family Protopanderodontidae LINDSTRÖM, 1970

Genus Pseudooneotodus DRYGANT, 1974

Type species: Oneotodus? beckmanni BISCHOFF & SANNE-MANN, 1958.

Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958)

Pl. 6, Figs. 16, 17; Pl. 7, Figs. 1–4

Material: 360 specimens.

- 1958 Oneotodus ? beckmanni n. sp. BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, p. 98; Pl. 15, Figs. 22–25.
- 1966 *'Oneotodus' beckmanni* BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN CLARK & ETHINGTON, p. 680; PI. 83, Figs. 1, 2.
- 1969b 'Oneotodus' n. sp. PÖLSLER, p. 409; Pl. 1, Fig. 15.
- 1977 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) COOPER, p. 1068; Pl. 2, Figs. 14, 17 [cum syn.].
- 1985a Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) MAS-TANDREA, Pl. 1, Fig. 10.
- 1990 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) UYENO, p. 99; Pl. 1, Figs. 36, 37.
- 1994 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) MAW-SON & TALENT, Fig. 15 J–L.
- 1998b Pseudooneotodus beckmanni BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN COR-RADINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, Pl. 3.3.1, Fig. 16.
- 1998 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) KOZUR, Pl. 1, Fig. 3.
- 1998 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN SER-PAGLI, CORRADINI & FERRETTI, PI. 1.2.1, Fig. 14.

- 1999 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) COCKLE, p. 119; Pl. 1, Figs. 1–2.
- 1999 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) TAL-ENT & MAWSON, Pl. 13, Figs. 1–7.
- 2003 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 5, Figs. 13, 14.
- 2004 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) FAR-REL, p. 956; Pl. 2, Figs. 15–17.
 2006 Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) -
- MATHIESON, p. 24; Pl. 1, Figs. Q–S.
- Description: The outline of the lower basal margin is circular to subcircular in small (juvenile?) specimens, whereas adult cones show more angular (subtriangular) rather than circular basal margins. The anterior margin is narrowed and steeply inclined compared to the broad and more gently inclined posterior one. A conspicuous rim on the anterior margin is developed in the upper half to upper third of the entire length. The tip of the cusp is centred in upper view, but slightly directed posteriorly. The apex normally is rounded, but some specimens have an acute and slightly reclined one. The basal cavity in lower view reaches almost to the tip. A few cones have a prominent furrow within the antero-lateral face of the narrow anterior margin (compare Plate 7, Fig. 1). The surface of the cone in general is smooth to very fine, unevenly striated.
- Remarks: Some specimens are close in shape to those published by FARRELL (2004). They only differ in the absence or low developed necking around the cone below the bulging rim. Other elements show a similar strong constriction, which is restricted to the area of the anterior margin extending maximally to the anterior-lateral face herein.

Family: Drepanoistodontinae FÅHRAEUS & NOWLAN, 1978 Genus: Decoriconus COOPER, 1975

Type species: Paltodus costulatus REXROAD, 1967.

Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933)

Pl. 7, Figs. 12-21

General Remarks: *Decoriconus fragilis* tends to appear mainly in strata of Silurian age. FARRELL (2003) reported specimens from the Gap area (New South Wales, Australia) occurring within the *eosteinhornensis* to *woschmidti* Zones. According to BARRICK & KLAPPER (1992), the species extends into the *eurekaensis* Zone. Specimens from the Seewarte section occur up to middle Pragian.

Material: 1160 specimens.

- Sa element (PI. 7, Figs. 14, 17, 18)
- 1971 Paltodus fragilis BRANSON & MEHL REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 694; Pl. 79, Fig. 17.
- 1976 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) COOPER, p. 212; PI. 2, Fig. 15 [cum syn.].
- 1977 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) BARRICK, p. 53; PI. 2, Fig. 23.
- 1990 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 98; Pl. 11, Figs. 14, 16.
- 1998 undetermined coniform conodonts KOZUR, Pl. 1, Fig. 23?
- 2003 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) FARRELL, p. 151; Pl.
- 12, Figs. 14, 17. 2004 *Decoriconus fragilis* (BRANSON & MEHL) – FARRELL, p. 958; PI. 8, Figs. 16–17.
- Description: The outline of the basal cavity is nearly lens-shaped, whereas the cusp has a keeled cross-section. Cones possess an erect, almost untwisted cusp. A shallow curved furrow is developed on either side of the anterior lateral face. Narrow longitudinal grooves on both sides of the posterior keel extend from the upper margin

of the base to the tip of the cusp, but the deep incision does not reach the basal margin. It changes into a shallow furrow running downward towards the posterior lower margin. In lateral view the convex lower margin meets the anterior margin at an angle of about 120 degrees. The vertex of the cone's posterior curvature is located in the lowermost quarter of the cone displaying an angle of 20-25 degrees (inclination posteriorward). The crosssection at the height of the vertex of the posterior margin represents three measuring lengths (first length: anterior margin to anterior furrow: second length: anterior furrow to posterior groove; third length: posterior groove to posterior margin of the keel). A more or less distinct ratio is observed (e.g., for Sa elements 1:1:0.75). The surface of the cone shows fine parallel striae, almost restricted to the cusp and the narrow area of the anterior margin where few striae reach the basal margin. Usually the posterior keel and the base are unornamented.

Sb element (Pl. 7, Figs. 12, 13, 20, 21)

- 1971 Drepanodus aduncus NICOLL & REXROAD REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 690; Pl. 79, Figs. 11–14.
- 1976 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) COOPER, p. 212; Pl. 2, Figs. 5, 8 [cum syn.].
- 1977 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) BARRICK, p. 53; Pl. 2, Fig. 21.
- 1991 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) MCCRACKEN, p. 79; Pl. 4, Fig. 33?
- 1995 ? Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 175; Pl. 12, Figs. 10?, 11.
- 2003 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) FARRELL, p. 151; Pl. 12, Figs. 11, 12.
- Description: The basal cavity has a keeled outline with a small posterior and a wider anterior keel tapering towards the apex. A weak twisting of the cusp is visible. The anterior margin is slightly arcuate including an angle of 45–50 degrees within a rather straight basal margin. In lateral view the vertex of the posterior keel's curvature is located in the lower third of the cone possessing an angle of 45–55 degrees. Different from the Sa element the lower part of the posterior keel looks beaklike. The cross-section at the height of the vertex of the posterior margin shows a ratio of 1:0.8:0.2. The incision of the longitudinal posterior grooves, as well as the pattern of ornament of the cone's surface resemble those in the Sa elements.

Sb? element (Pl. 7, Fig. 19)

- 1971 Paltodus fragilis BRANSON & MEHL REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 694; PI. 79, Figs. 8, 9.
- 1990 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 98; Pl. 11, Fig. 15.
- 1991 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) MCCRACKEN, p. 79; Pl. 4, Fig. 39.
- Description: Obtained elements have several features like the Sb element (e.g., outline of basal cavity, position of vertex of the posterior curvature, beak-like lower part of the posterior keel). They differ in possessing a more prominent posterior keel, with a ratio of the cross-section at the height of the vertex of the posterior margin (1:0.9:0.8) having affinity to that of an Sa element. The angle of the straight basal to anterior margin spans 65 degrees and to the posterior margin shows an inclination of 25–30 degrees.

Sa-Sb element (Pl. 7, Figs. 15, 16)

- 1971 Paltodus fragilis BRANSON & MEHL REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 694; PI. 79, Figs. 15?, 16.
- 1976 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) COOPER, p. 212; Pl. 2, Figs. 14, 16, 17 [cum syn.].
- 1977 Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL) BARRICK, p. 53; PI. 2, Fig. 22.
- 1998 undetermined coniform conodonts KOZUR, Pl. 1, Fig. 22?

Description: The outline of the basal cavity is keeled to lens- shaped, reflected by only narrow developed keels. Distinct is the strongly twisted cusp possessing an angle of 40-45 degrees with the vertex of the curvature of the inner lateral face located in the lower third to middle height of the cone in anterior view. In lateral view (compare Plate 7, Fig. 15a) the anterior margin seems to be rectangular to the straight basal margin and only slightly bent. The cone's posterior curvature runs consecutively like in Sa elements, possessing an angle of 25-30 degrees (ratio of the cross-section close to the vertex of the posterior margin: 0.5:1:0.5). Minor difference from Sa and Sb elements reflects the microornament. Striation of the anterior margin in Sa-Sb elements is poorly developed to absent. An additional difference is a more prominent anterior furrow.

Order: Panderodontida Sweet, 1988 Family: Panderodontidae LINDSTRÖM, 1970 Genus: *Neopanderodus* ZIEGLER & LINDSTRÖM, 1971

Type species: *Neopanderodus perlineatus* ZIEGLER & LIND-STRÖM, 1971.

Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD, 1975

Pl. 6, Figs. 6, 7

Material: 42 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 6, Figs. 6, 7)

- 1989 Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD MAWSON & TALENT, PI. 8, Figs. 14, 15.
- 1989 Neopanderodus sp. SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 8, Fig. 16.
- 1994 Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 15. A.
- 1995 Neopanderodus spp. CAREY & BOLGER, p. 84; Figs. 4O, 4P.
- 1995 Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD MAWSON, TALENT & FUREY-GREIG, p. 428; Pl. 4, Figs. 15–17.
- 2003 Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD ANDERSON, p. 468; PI. 4, Figs. 1-14.
- 2003 Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD MAWSON & TALENT, p. 344; Pl. 1, Fig. 14.
- Description: Obtained elements have a symmetrical cross-section in outline. The lower part of the base exhibits a small wrinkle zone and shows a nearly straight lower margin in lateral view. Specimens are untwisted, with a gently curved cusp. Lateral faces bear a depression in the posterior third. One side shows a groove that extends along the entire length distally. Lateral faces are ornamented with typical longitudinal striae. Striation of one of the illustrated elements (Plate 6, Fig. 7) runs parallel to the posterior margin covering the entire lateral face. The texture of the anterior two-thirds on the lateral face of the second element (Plate 6, Fig. 6) differs a little. It shows longitudinal striae at an acute angle to the groove.

Neopanderodus leptostriatus ANDERSON, 2003

Pl. 6, Fig. 1

Material: 30 specimens.

? Sa element (Pl. 6, Fig. 1)

- 1995 Neopanderodus spp. CAREY & BOLGER, p. 84; Figs. 4Q?, 4R? 2003 Neopanderodus leptostriatus n. sp. ANDERSON, p. 469; Pl. 7, Figs. 1–6, 13, 14.
- Description: The basal margin of the illustrated element is fragmented and therefore the cross-section seems asymmetrical. The element is untwisted. The anterior margin is continuously curved from the base to the top. Lateral faces show a longitudinal depression almost centred near the base tapering distally towards the posterior end. Striae on the posterior half of either lateral face run

parallel to the posterior margin, whereas those of the anterior part show an acute angle to the groove on the outer side, and a channel-like depression on the inner side. Longitudinal striae are distinctive, possessing narrow, but uniform intervals between each other.

Remarks: Elements of this species can be distinguished from *Neopanderodus aequabilis* by the finer, but still prominent longitudinal striation that covers only a part or the entire surface of the cone. ANDERSON (2003) pointed out that elements on average possess between 100–220 striae per mm in comparison to *Neopanderodus aequabilis* where up to 100 occur per mm.

Neopanderodus sp.

Pl. 6, Fig. 9

Material: 18 specimens.

? Sc element (Pl. 6, Fig. 9)

- Description: The element is broken, lacking most of the lower part including the wrinkle zone (if present?). The anterior margin gradually curves distally, becoming more recurved in the upper part. The posterior margin is rather straight, joining the curvate base of the cusp at two-thirds of the height. Longitudinal striae are parallel to the groove, covering the entire lateral face. Striae are densely spaced in the posterior half of the lateral face, becoming gradually wider towards the anterior smooth margin.
- Remarks: The illustrated element differs from other species in possessing irregular intervals between longitudinal striae that become gradually wider-spaced towards the anterior margin. It remains unclear whether the surface ornament represents a significant feature or is only the result of poor preservation.

Genus: Panderodus ETHINGTON, 1959

Type species: Paltodus unicostatus BRANSON & MEHL, 1933.

Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES, 1953)

Material: 2 specimens.

- 1971 *Panderodus recurvatus* (RHODES) REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 696; Pl. 81, Figs. 23–25.
- 1975 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) TELFORD, p. 37; Pl. 3, Figs. 4–7.
- 1977 *Panderodus recurvatus* (RHODES) BARRICK, p. 54; Pl. 3, Figs. 3, 4, 7–12.
- 1987b Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) MAWSON, Pl. 41, Figs. 14, 15.
- 1989 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) MAWSON & TALENT, Pl. 8, Figs. 11–13.
- 1989 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) WILSON, Pl. 1, Figs. 10-12.
- 1994 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 15. D.
- 1995 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) FUREY-GREIG, PI. 2, Figs. 14?, 15.
- 1995 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 117; Pl. 1, Figs. 21–27 [cum syn.].
- 1999 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) COCKLE, p. 120; Pl. 5, Figs. 9–14.
- 2003 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) FARRELL, p. 122; Pl. 1, Fig. 2.
- 2004 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) FARRELL, p. 958; Pl. 3, Figs. 9, 12, 13.
- 2005 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Fig. 22.
- 2006 Panderodus recurvatus (RHODES) MATHIESON, p. 26; Pl. 1, Figs. I-M.
- Remarks: Only two elements are obtained, possessing a strongly recurved cusp as distinctive for this species. The anterior margin is flattened at mid-height. Except for symmetrical Sa elements the cusp is twisted at various

degrees according to position within the apparatus. The longitudinal groove is located in the posterior third along the depression of lateral faces. It extends from the base to the apex on one side in Sb, Sc and M elements. Only Sa elements show a furrow on each lateral side. The anterior and posterior margin can be keeled (Sc and M elements). Sa elements have a costa on each lateral face, which usually is located in the anterior half. Sb elements bear only one costa along the outer anterior margin. M elements lack any costa on the lateral faces. A pronounced wrinkle zone is developed close to the lower margin. The area of the posterior one-third to the posterior half can be covered by fine longitudinal striae.

Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933)

Pl. 5, Figs. 11, 12; Pl. 6, Figs. 2–5, 11?

- Material: 1727 specimens.
- 1933 Paltodus unicostatus n. sp. BRANSON & MEHL, p. 42; Pl. 3, Fig. 3.
- 1966 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) CLARK & ETHING-TON, p. 683; Pl. 82, Figs. 17, 19.
- 1971 *Panderodus gracilis* (BRANSON & MEHL) REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 695; PI. 81, Figs. 28, 29.
- 1971 Panderodus simplex (BRANSON & MEHL) REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 697; Pl. 81, Figs. 35–40.
- 1971 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 697; Pl. 81, Figs. 30-34.
- 1971 *Panderodus* n. sp. REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 698; Pl. 81, Figs. 26, 27.
- 1975 Panderodus simplex (BRANSON & MEHL) TELFORD, p. 38; PI. 3, Fig. 12.
- 1975 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) TELFORD, p. 38; Pl. 3, Fig. 11.
- 1976 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) COOPER, p. 213; Pl. 1, Figs. 1–7, 22.
- 1977 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) BARRICK, p. 56; Pl. 3, Figs. 1, 2, 5, 6.
- 1983 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) MABILLARD & ALDRIDGE, PI. 4, Figs. 9–14.
- 1987a Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, PI. 5, Fig. 17.
- 1987b Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, PI. 41, Figs. 12, 13.
- 1989 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON & TA-LENT, PI. 8, Fig. 17.
- 1989 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) SORENTINO, p. 95; Pl. 7, Figs. 12, 13, 15, 16, 20.
- 1989 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) WILSON, PI. 1, Figs. 17-22.
- 1990 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 70; Pl. 1, Figs. 27, 28, 32; Pl. 4, Fig. 10.
- 1994 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON & TA-LENT, Fig. 15. B.
- 1995 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) COLQUHOUN, PI. 3. Fig. 3.
- 1995 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) FUREY-GREIG, PI. 2, Figs. 3–12.
- 1995 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMPSON & TA-LENT, p. 118; PI. 2, Figs. 1–32 [cum syn.].
- 1995 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 11, Fig. 17; PI. 12, Fig. 4; PI. 13, Fig. 8.
- 1998 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) SLAVÍK, p. 163; Pl. 3, Fig. 9.
- 1999 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) COCKLE, p. 120; Pl. 5, Figs. 1–8.
- 2003 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) FARRELL, p. 122; Pl. 1, Figs. 1, 3–5.
- 2004 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) FARRELL, p. 959; Pl. 4, Figs. 10–13.
- 2005 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) TROTTER & TA-LENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Figs. 26, 27.
- 2006 Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL) MATHIESON, p. 26; Pl. 1, Figs. A–E, N–P.

Remarks: Cones are slender possessing a gently curved anterior margin. Some features among the different units of Panderodus unicostatus are similar to those of Panderodus recurvatus. Both species are discriminated mainly by the degree of curvature of the cusp and its shape (BARRICK, 1977). Elements of Panderodus unicostatus show a gently curved, uniformly tapering anterior margin from the base to the tip of the cusp, whereas the cusp of Panderodus recurvatus is strongly recurved and distally flattened. BARRICK (1977) assumed a quadrimembrate concept for the coniform apparatus consisting of Sa, Sb, Sc and M elements. A history on diverse mulitelement reconstructions of Panderodus, from bi to nonimembrate apparatuses is presented in SANSOM et al. (1994). They concluded an architectural model consisting of qa (arcuatiform), qg (asymmetrical graciliform and sub-symmetrical graciliform), qt (truncatiform), ae (aequaliform), pf (falciform), and pt (tortiform) elements. The ascertained position and distinctive shape of units (cusp curvature and cross-section) was improved by them mainly from investigation of a bedding plane assemblage, clusters of Panderodus unicostatus, and collections of isolated cones.

Panderodus sp.

Pl. 5, Figs. 7–9, 15; Pl. 6, Fig. 8

Material: 888 specimens.

Remarks: Specimens unlike those of *Panderodus recurvatus* and *Panderodus unicostatus* are included here. Some of them are very fragile and slender (Plate 6, Fig. 8), possessing a rather straight anterior margin, curved in posterior direction in the upper third. A groove is present in the posterior quarter and extends to the base of the cusp, where it disappears. The cusp is untwisted and has a nearly circular cross-section.

Order: Prioniodontida DZIK, 1976 Family: Icriodellidae SwEET, 1988 Genus: *Pedavis* KLAPPER & PHILIPP, 1971

Type species: *lcriodus pesavis* BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958.

Pedavis sp.

Pl. 7, Fig. 10; Pl. 9, Figs. 9–13

General Remarks: No I elements of Pedavis, which would provide a proper assignment at the level of a species, were obtained from any sample. Therefore all obtained specimens (M2b, M2c and M2d elements) were bulked as Pedavis sp., although they might belong to different species. Listings below each element include Pedavis breviramus, Pedavis ? disparaxilis, Pedavis mariannae, Pedavis pesavis and several types of Pedavis sp. in open nomenclature, to demonstrate a spectrum of differing types occurring in Lochkovian and Pragian strata, which nevertheless bear some similarity to the obtained material. Especially M2d elements show a wide range in shape and surface texture within one species; distinctive specific features among these are rare. Most of the elements found occur within a short interval, starting a few metres above the last occurrence of Ancyrodelloides transitans and Flajsella stygia (regarded as upper part of the delta Zone) and range close below the base of the megaclast horizon (base of the steinachensis Zone). Two more, but terribly preserved elements were obtained from a megaclast (Se/02/17/04) of the succeeding horizon.

Material: 50 specimens.

M2b element (Pl. 9, Fig. 13)

- 1958 Scolopodus devonicus n. sp. BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, p. 103; Pl. 15, Fig. 19.
- 1983 Pedavis sp. MURPHY & MATTI, Pl. 7, Figs. 21, 28; Text-Fig. 8.
- ?1983 Pedavis breviramus n. sp. MURPHY & MATTI, p. 55; Pl. 8, Fig. 13; Text-Fig. 8.
- 1989 *Pedavis*? *disparaxilis* n. sp. WILSON, p. 124; PI. 3, Figs. 19, 20; PI. 4, Figs. 5–7, 11.
- 1989 Pedavis n. sp. B KLAPPER & PHILIP WILSON, p. 133; Pl. 4, Fig. 21.
- Description: The element has a higher cusp anterior and a small denticle (fragmented tip) posterior. The basal part is slightly fragmented, but seems to outline an irregular oval cross-section. The anterior margin is rather straight. The entire surface is covered with regularly spaced costae parallel to the anterior margin.

M2c element

- 21958 Scolopodus devonicus n. sp. BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, p. 103; Pl. 15, Fig. 19.
- 1980b Pedavis sp. SCHÖNLAUB, Pl. 7, Figs. 23?, 25.
- 1983 *Pedavis* sp. MURPHY & MATTI, PI. 7, Figs. 22–24, 27; Text-Fig. 8.
- 1983 *Pedavis breviramus* n. sp. MURPHY & MATTI, p. 55; Pl. 8, Fig. 15; Text-Fig. 8.
- 1989 Pedavis ? disparaxilis n. sp. WILSON, p. 124; Pl. 3, Figs. 5, 26.
- Remarks: The obtained specimens have a strongly curved cusp possessing few prominent costae along the posterior lateral surface. The basal cavity is very deep, extending towards the tip of the cusp. According to the degree of curvature of the anterior margin and the presence of costae the element is similar to a specimen illustrated by WILSON (1989).

M2d element (Pl. 7, Fig. 10; Pl. 9, Figs. 9–12)

- 1975 Scolopodus erectus sp. nov. TELFORD, p. 55; Pl. 10, Figs. 2?, 3?, 4, 6?, 7.
- 1980 Pedavis sp. CHLUPÁČ, KŘÍŽ & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 91, Fig. 5.
- 1980b Pedavis sp. SCHÖNLAUB, Pl. 4, Fig. 19.
- 1983 *Pedavis* sp. MURPHY & MATTI, Pl. 7, Figs. 16–19, 25, 26; Text-Fig. 8.
- 1989 *Pedavis pesavis* (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) SORENTINO, p. 85; Pl. 5, Fig. 17.
- 1989 *Pedavis ? disparaxilis* n. sp. WILSON, p. 124; PI. 3, Figs. 6–12, 21–25, 27; PI. 4, Figs. 8, 9, 15–18.
- 1989 *Pedavis* n. sp. B KLAPPER & PHILIP WILSON, p. 133; Pl. 4, Fig. 14.
- 1995 Pedavis sp. CAREY & BOLGER, p. 81; Fig. 4B.
- 1998 Pedavis sp. KOZUR, Pl. 1, Fig. 10.
- 1999 Pedavis mariannae LANE & ORMISTON TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 5, Fig. 8.
- Description: Simple cones differing in height, density of costae, extent of the basal cavity and shape of the base. Some have a wider conical base compared to a rounded. more bulging base of others. The cusp and base form one continuous, gently curved anterior margin. The posterior margin is bulge-like, curved towards the base of the cusp. The posterior margin of the cusp is rather straight, gently tapering distally. Some elements differ in the degree of inclination of the anterior margin. The cross-section of the lower margin is circular to slightly compressed. The surface is covered with a few prominent and regularly spaced costae (e.g.: Plate 9, Figs. 10 and 12) or a few almost regularly spaced costae including a small one on the posterior lateral face at an angle to the adjacent posterior costa, extending only as high as the base (Plate 9, Fig. 9). It remains unclear whether this represents a distinct feature or only ontogenetic growth pattern. Another type bears a few regularly spaced, but slightly twisted costae possessing fine longitudinal striae covering the entire costate surface (Plate 9, Fig. 11). The element illustrated on Plate 7, Fig. 10, exhibits few, but less prominent costae and some fine longitudinal striae of irregular(?) distribution around the cone, although the

surface is poorly preserved. Among all elements observed, costae extend only to the upper part of the base. The base itself is uncostate.

Remarks: Due to the small number of cones and the lack of corresponding I elements, the distinction of surface ornament for proper assignment to a species remains unclear. The fragmented cone (Plate 9, Fig. 9) comes close to that figured by SCHÖNLAUB (1980b). The density of costae within the columnar texture around the cone is nearly the same according to the space interval. The gently curved anterior margin and pronounced bulged base in the lower quarter of the posterior margin are almost identical. Another element illustrated (Plate 7, Fig. 10) is similar in shape of curvature of the anterior margin and in possessing finer parallel costae to the M2d element assigned to *Pedavis mariannae* by TALENT & MAW-SON (1999).

Family: Icriodontidae MÜLLER & MÜLLER, 1957 Genus: *Caudicriodus* BULTYNCK, 1976

Type species: Icriodus woschmidti ZIEGLER, 1960.

Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus (CARLS & GANDL, 1969)

Pl. 9, Fig. 4

Material: 1 specimen.

- l element (Pl. 9, Fig. 4)
 - aff. 1969 Icriodus huddlei celtibericus n. ssp. CARLS & GANDL, p. 182; Pl. 16, Fig. 20, non Figs. 18, 19.
 - aff. 1975 Icriodus huddlei (KLAPPER & ZIEGLER) KLAPPER, LINDSTRÖM, SWEET & ZIEGLER, p. 117; Pl. 4, Figs. 2, 3, non Figs. 1, 4.
- non aff. 1980 Caudicriodus celtibericus subsp. A BULTYNCK & HOL-LARD, p. 38; Pl. 1, Fig. 25.
 - aff. 1980 Icriodus celtibericus CARLS & GANDL KLAPPER & JOHNSON, PI. 2, Figs. 12, 17.
- non aff. 1985 Icriodus huddlei ? celtibericus (CARLS & GANDL) AUSTIN, ORCHARD & STEWART, PI. 4.1, Fig. 7.
 - aff. 1995 *Caudicriodus celtibericus* (CARLS & GANDL) KALVODA, p. 35; Pl. 1, Fig. 11, non Figs. 5, 9; Pl. 2, Figs. 1, 4 [cum syn.].
 - aff. 1999 Caudicriodus celtibericus (CARLS & GANDL) BENFRI-KA, p. 318; Pl. 1, Fig. 12.
 - aff. 2003 Icriodus celtibericus CARLS & GANDL MAWSON, TA-LENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 5, Figs. 15–18.
 - aff. 2004a *Caudicriodus celtibericus* (CARLS & GANDL) SLAVÍK, Figs. 11.1-11.3.
 - aff. 2004b *Caudicriodus celtibericus* (CARLS & GANDL) SLAVÍK, Pl. 1, Figs. 7, 8.
 - aff. 2006 *lcriodus* sp. aff. *l. celtibericus* (CARLS & GANDL) MA-THIESON, p. 31; Pl. 3, Figs. N–R.
- Description: The axis of the figured I element is slightly arched in upper view with the anterior immature denticle and the posterior primary cusp pointing inward. The basal cavity is V-shaped and opens between the fourth and fifth mature transverse row on the inner side (outer side not preserved). The margin of the outer platform spur is rather small with subcircular outline. It covers only about one-quarter of the element's entire length. Unfortunately, the most important feature, the lateral process is broken. The anterior immature denticle and the next two transverse rows are spaced equally, but spaces are twice as long as that between the three most posterior denticle rows. Denticles of transverse rows are almost aligned, except the median denticle of the posteriormost transverse row, set somewhat anterior so that the row points slightly anteriorly. The second to fifth denticle

rows seem to be of equal width (estimated on the preserved median and inner longitudinal rows that possess equal narrow distances between denticles of each transverse row in upper view). Longitudinal rows are almost of equal height. Denticles of the outer longitudinal rows are of blunt rounded shape, whereas those of the median row are rounded to subsquare. The secondary cusp is laterally compressed and slightly lower in height than the median denticle of the fifth transverse row. Contrastingly the primary cusp is little higher than all other denticles. The I element's surface is strongly remineralized and hence, no primary ornament can be recognized. For morphometric data see Table 1.

Remarks: The obtained specimen differs from the original description in possessing only 5 transverse denticle rows, instead of 6–9. Due to the fractured lateral process, length and degree of curvature cannot be determined. Nevertheless the remainder of the most proximal part, connecting the lateral process and primary cusp, is preserved on the outer side of the figured specimen. It seems to have a short almost rectangular junction. This appendage at the junction apparently reflects the remainder of a stepped process. This would correspond to the original description of CARLS & GANDL (1969), where it is proposed as distinct feature discriminating *Caudicriodus celtibericus* from its ancestor *Caudicriodus curvicauda*, that developed a short lateral process bending more gradually.

? Caudicriodus sp. Pl. 9, Fig. 7;

Material: 5 specimens.

I element (Pl. 9, Fig. 7)

- Description: Figured is a juvenile specimen with a nearly straight platform axis, only slightly arched at the anteriormost part. Three mature transverse denticle rows are preserved. The immature denticle row as well as the primary cusp and the lateral process is broken. Lateral margins of the spindle have a parallel outline. At maximum width, the platform is almost as wide as the transverse row. Denticles of transverse rows stand in line except those of the posteriormost row. Denticles are conical. The median row seems elevated. The secondary cusp is little higher than denticles of the median row and has a triangular shape in lateral view. For morphometric data see Table 1.
- Remarks: Due to the broken lateral process and the obtained elements being juveniles, the specimens could belong either to *Caudicriodus curvicauda* or *C. celtibericus*. Another specimen, assigned to ? *Caudicriodus* sp., shows similar features. Taking into account immaturity of elements and the high degree of breakage, a reliable determination is impossible.

Genus: Icriodus BRANSON & MEHL, 1938

Type species: Icriodus expansus BRANSON & MEHL, 1938.

Icriodus sp.

Pl. 6, Figs. 10, 15

Material: 10 specimens.

- Adenticulate S element (Pl. 6, Fig. 10)
- aff. 1960 Paltodus sp. a ZIEGLER, p. 190; Pl. 13, Fig. 6.
- aff. 1983 Icriodus woschmidti woschmidti ZIEGLER SERPAGLI, p. 155; Figs. 2, 4J–R, 6f, 7J, 7K.

Remarks: Elements are similar to those presented in ZIEGLER (1960). They differ mainly in possessing a more strongly curved cusp. The basal margin is asymmetrical, with a centred oval part and an extremely wide keel. The upper two-thirds of the posterior surface of the cone is covered with fine striae, whilst the base remains smooth. Compared to the material of SERPAGLI (1983), elements come close to the φ morphotype.

Adenticulate M2 element

- aff. 1983 Icriodus woschmidti woschmidti ZIEGLER SERPAGLI, p. 155; Figs. 4A-I, 6e, 7H, 7I.
- Remarks: Cones have an oval to more circular outline of the basal margin. The cusp is erect and unornamented. Some specimens are similar to those illustrated by SER-PAGLI (1983), grouped within the second transition series as ϵ morphotype.

Denticulate M2 element (Pl. 6, Fig. 15)

- aff. 1983 Icriodus woschmidti woschmidti ZIEGLER SERPAGLI, p. 155; Figs. 2, 3A–F, 6a, 7A, 7B.
- Remarks: The element is cordylodiform, possessing a short (uni-)denticulate posterior process. The basal margin is slightly asymmetrical. No surface texture is observed. Excepting the curvature of the cusp, it is very close to the α morphotype of *lcriodus woschmidti woschmidti* (Fig. 7A in SERPAGLI, 1983). Only one specimen was obtained from the lowermost part of the Seewarte section (Se/01/03/04).

Genus: Latericriodus MÜLLER, 1962

Type species: *lcriodus latericre scens* BRANSON & MEHL, 1938.

Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) beta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980 Pl. 8, Fig. 1

Material: 1 specimen.

I element (Pl. 8, Fig. 1)

- cf. 1977 Icriodus steinachensis n. sp. AL-RAWI, p. 55; Pl. 5, Fig. 43.
- cf. 1979 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI LANE & ORMISTON, p. 54; PI. 4, Figs. 28, 29.
- cf. 1980 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI beta morphotype KLAPPER & JOHNSON, Pl. 2, Figs. 19–22.
- cf. 1980b *lcriodus* cf. *steinachensis* AL-RAWI SCHÖNLAUB, p. 41; PI. 5, Fig. 20; PI. 6, Figs. 15, 16.
- cf. 1983 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI beta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON MURPHY & MATTI, p. 58; PI. 5, Fig. 31, Text-Fig. 10.
- cf. 1984 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Fig. 2 – A, C, H, Z, BB, CC, EE–HH; Fig. 5 – G–J, N–P.
- cf. 1985 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI beta morphotype CHLUPÁČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, p. 27; PI. 2, Fig. 4.
- cf. 1985b Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI morphotype beta KLAPPER & JOHNSON – MASTANDREA, p. 264; Pl. 1, Fig. 7?
- cf. 1985b *Icriodus steinachensis* AL-RAWI beta morphotype SCHÖN-LAUB, PI. 3, Fig. 4?
- cf. 1986 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI CEBECIOĞLU & MURPHY, Pl. 1, Fig. 1–3, 5–7, 34, 36 [= specimen Fig. 5 – G–I, N–P; Fig. 2 – A, C; respectively; MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, 1984].
- cf. 1991 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI beta morphotype sensu KLAPPER (in KLAPPER & JOHNSON) – UYENO, PI. 1, Fig. 11.
- cf. 1992 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, PI. 3, Figs. 17?, 19.
- cf. 1994a Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI VALENZUELA-RÍOS, p. 89; lam. 8, Figs. 1, 5–7.
- cf. 2003 Icriodus cf. I. steinachensis KLAPPER & JOHNSON PYLE, ORCHARD, BARNES & LANDRY, Pl. 1, Fig. 7?

- cf. 2004b *Latericriodus steinachensis* (AL-RAWI) beta morphotype KLAPPER & JOHNSON – SLAVÍK, PI. 1, Fig. 4.
- cf. 2004 Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI) beta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON – SLAVÍK & HLADIL, p. 145; Pl. 1, Fig. 1.
- Description: Only one specimen with broken posterior part was obtained. The outline of the spindle seems rather triangular with its maximum width located at the posteriormost transverse denticle-row preserved. The platform axis seems more straight than arched. Denticles of the lateral rows are longitudinally compressed, elliptical to oval, and twice in size those of the median row of cross-section. Denticles of the median row are rounded to subsquare in cross-section. They are connected by a transverse bar-like junction to the lateral denticles of each multidenticle row, becoming smaller towards the posterior end. (For morphometric data see Table 1).
- Remarks: As the posteriormost part of the specimen is fractured, it cannot be assigned to the beta morph with certainty, although the remaining outline of the spindle clearly shows a triangular shape (= the distinctive feature for the beta morph). Taking in account the estimated elongation measured from the broken specimen, a ratio a little below 54 could be reached, even if the element had a quarter of its original entire length at the same width (330 μ m). Compared to Fig. 6 in MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU (1984), the elongation index of the beta morph ranges approximately between 53 and 60.

Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980

Pl. 8, Figs. 2, 8–10; Pl. 9, Figs. 1, 5, 6, 8

Material: 10 specimens.

- I element (Pl. 8, Figs. 2, 8-10; Pl. 9, Figs. 1, 5, 6, 8)
 - 1958 Icriodus latericrescens latericrescens BRANSON & MEHL BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, p. 95; Pl. 12, Fig. 8?
 - 1971 Icriodus latericrescens BRANSON & MEHL KLAPPER & PHILIP, Fig. 8.
 - 1977 Icriodus steinachensis n. sp. AL-RAWI, p. 55; Pl. 5, Fig. 42.
 - 1980 Icriodus cf. steinachensis AL-RAWI CHLUPÁČ, KŘÍŽ & SCHÖNLAUB, p. 160; Pl. 23, Fig. 1.
 - 1980 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morphotype KLAPPER & JOHNSON, PI. 2, Figs. 25–27.
 - 1980b Icriodus cf. steinachensis AL-RAWI SCHÖNLAUB, p. 41; Pl. 6, Figs. 14, 17; Pl. 7, Figs. 20, 21.
 - 1981 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morphotype JOHNSON & KLAPPER, p. 1241; Pl. 1, Figs. 13–16, 18, 19 [18, 19 = Pl. 2, Fig. 25, KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980].
 - 1983 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morph KLAPPER & JOHN-SON – MURPHY & MATTI, p. 58; Pl. 5, Fig. 36, Text-Fig. 10.
 - 1984 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Fig. 2 (B, D–F, K–R); Fig. 5 (K–M, Q).
 - 1985 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morphotype CHLUPAČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, p. 27; Pl. 2, Figs. 5, 13–16.
 - 1985b Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI morphotype beta KLAPPER & JOHNSON MASTANDREA, p. 264; Pl. 1, Figs. 8, 9.
 - 1985b Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morphotype SCHÖN-LAUB, PI. 3, Fig. 3.
 - 1986 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI CEBECIOĞLU & MURPHY, PI.
 1, Fig. 4, 8, 22–26, 35, 37–39 [= specimen Fig. 5 (K, Q);
 Fig. 2 (O, K, M, Q, R, B, D–F respectively); MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, 1984].
 - 1992 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, PI. 3, Figs. 15, 18?, 22?
 - 1994 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morph KLAPPER & JOHN-SON – MAWSON & TALENT, p. 47; Fig. 9 (K–N).
 - 1994a Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI VALENZUELA-RÍOS, p. 89; Iam. 8, Figs. 2, 3, 8, 11.
 - 1999 Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI) BENFRIKA, p. 318; PI. 1, Fig. 15.
 - 1999 Icriodus steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morph TALENT & MAW-SON, p. 73; Pl. 4, Fig. 6?; Pl. 7, Figs. 5, 6; Pl. 12, Fig. 17.

- 2003 Icriodus cf. I. steinachensis AL-RAWI eta morphotype KLAP-PER & JOHNSON – FARRELL, p. 125; PI. 2, Fig. 3?
- 2004b Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI) eta morphotype KLAP-PER & JOHNSON – SLAVÍK, PI. 1, Fig. 5.
- 2004 Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON SLAVÍK & HLADIL, p. 144; Pl. 1, Figs. 2–4.
- Description: Elements have a deeply V-shaped basal cavity, with an arched axis pointing inward. At maximum width, unbroken I elements exhibit a ratio of basal cavity width to spindle width around 2:1 up to 2.5:1. The outline of the spindle is lenticular with its maximum width located approximately at middle length (= a distinctive feature of the eta morph). The lateral process bears three equally sized and spaced denticles including an angle of 88-114 degrees to the main process. The inner margin of the lateral process tapers towards half the length of the platform, but usually the marginal parts of the process and the platform are broken in the obtained material. The spur sometimes bears a thin linear ridge which joins the platform between the first and second posteriormost transverse denticle rows at a more or less acute angle (compare Plate 8, Figs. 8b and 9; Appendix 3). Denticles of the median and lateral rows are aligned. The posteriormost transverse row only possesses an unaligned median denticle. In this case the transverse row distinctively points anteriorly (including an angle of 130-150 degrees) in upper view. Denticles of the lateral longitudinal rows generally have blunt to acuminate tips. Denticles of the median row show rounded to subangular tips. A few specimens show slightly smaller denticles of the median row (in cross-section and height) compared to those of lateral rows. Between the posteriormost denticle of the median row and the secondary cusp is a smaller and lower node, almost half the size of the cusp. Furthermore the length between the posteriormost median denticle and the primary cusp has a straight to slightly sigmoidal outline in upper view (compare Plate 9, Fig. 6a). Both cusps look like two rounded to nearly triangular ridges in lateral view. Neither denticles, nor the platform surface is ornamented. For morphometric data see Table 1.
- Remarks: The elongation index (MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, 1984) of measured unbroken specimens ranges between 59-74; this clearly discriminates L. steinachensis eta from the beta morphotype, and from the closely related L. claudiae. Contrary to the beta morph, the eta morph enters not exclusively at the pesavis/sulcatus boundary, but earlier, in the upper delta Zone in Nevada (MURPHY & MATTI, 1983; MURPHY & BERRY, 1983: Fig. 2). In Barrandian sections (SLAVÍK, 2004b; SLAVÍK & HLADIL, 2004), Austria (SCHÖNLAUB, 1980b), Morocco (BENFRIKA, 1999) and Australia (MAWSON & TALENT, 1994) the eta morph occurs close to the Lochkovian-Pragian boundary. Fol-Iowing MURPHY & MATTI (1983), both L. steinachensis morphotypes seem to disappear in the lower kindlei Zone. In the Seewarte section the last occurrence of the eta morph is documented in the celtibericus Zone (Upper Pragian).

Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980

Pl. 7, Fig. 7; Pl. 8, Figs. 3, 5, 6, 7; Pl. 9, Figs. 2, 3

Material: 8 specimens.

M2 element (PI. 7, Fig. 7)

- aff. 1985b *lcriodus steinachensis* AL-RAWI morphotype beta KLAPPER & JOHNSON – MASTANDREA, p. 264; Pl. 1, Fig. 11.
- Description: A simple cone with circular cross-section of the basal margin. The lower margin is slightly undulating in lateral view. The base has a low, angular conical shape tapering into a straight cusp. The basal cavity is

Table 1.

Morphometric data on I elements of icriodontid specimens. Inv. no. = inventory number; angle lat. proc. = angle of the lateral process; adult tr.v. rows = adult transverse rows; transv. broken = transversally broken almost along the median row; juv. sp. = juvenile specimen.

specimen (I element)	sample	Inv. no.	length (µm)	width (µm)	ratio (1-W/L)	angle lat. proc.	adult tr.v. rows
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis beta morph	Se/02/15b/05	GBA-2006/1/13-03	> 570 (broken)	> 330		broken	5 (broken)
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/15b/05	GBA-2006/1/13-01	590	175	0,7	broken	4
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/15b/05	GBA-2006/1/13-02	> 470 (broken)	> 210 (broken)		88	2 (broken)
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/15b/05	GBA-2006/1/SE 039	> 500 (broken)	200		broken	5
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/15c/05	GBA-2006/1/13-04	990	334	0,66	broken	6
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/15c/05	GBA-2006/1/SE 040	> 680 (broken)	330		broken	5
? Latericriodus sp.	Se/02/30/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 055	180	90		broken	2 (juv. sp.)
Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/30a/05	GBA-2006/1/SE 056	530	200	0,62	broken	4
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/02/31/04	GBA-2006/1/08-17	550	200	0,64	92 ?	4
? Latericriodus sp.	Se/02/33/04	GBA-2006/1/13-05	440	171	0,61	broken	4 (juv. sp.)
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph (3 pieces)	Se/02/40/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 065	570	190	0,67	broken	5
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/02/04	GBA-2006/1/10-43	> 520 (broken)	230		broken	4
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/05/04	GBA-2006/1/13-06	> 690 (broken)	272		broken	8 (broken)
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/05/04	GBA-2006/1/13-07	> 580 (broken)	260		broken	5?
? Caudicriodus sp.	Se/03/12/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 078	> 280 (broken)	110		broken	4 (broken)
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/13/04	GBA-2006/1/08-21	> 650 (broken)	225		broken	6
? Caudicriodus sp.	Se/03/14/04	GBA-2006/1/13-08	> 310 (broken)	> 108 (broken)		broken	3 (juv. sp.)
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/22/04	GBA-2006/1/08-25	650	169	0,74	100	-
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/24/04	GBA-2006/1/13-18	> 415 (broken)	181		broken	4
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/24/04	GBA-2006/1/13-19	> 660 (broken)	256		84	5 (broken)
Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/24/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 090	> 360 (broken)	150		broken	4
? Caudicriodus sp.	Se/03/24/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 090	> 140 (broken)	100		broken	3
fragmented Icriodontidae (2 lat. rows)	Se/03/24/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 090	> 250 (broken)	transv. broken		broken	4
Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis (2 lat. rows)	Se/03/24/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 090	380	transv. broken		broken	4
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/29/04	GBA-2006/1/13-21	575	151	0,74	114	5
? Caudicriodus sp.	Se/03/29/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 095	> 220 (broken)	100		broken	3
Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/37/04	GBA-2006/1/13-23	> 405 (broken)	147		broken	4
Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis eta morph	Se/03/43/04	GBA-2006/1/SE 107	390	160	0,59	broken	4
Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus	Se/03/45/05	GBA-2006/1/13-24	610	> 162 (broken)		91 ?	5
Latericriodus steinachensis eta morph	Se/04/-07/04	GBA-2006/1/13-30	> 460 (broken)	145		91	4 ?

restricted to the element's unornamented base. The almost cylindrical cusp possesses about 12 prominent equally-spaced striae and is very similar to the shape of a Greek column.

Remarks: The unsculptured basal margin is somewhat higher and circular rather than elliptical in cross-section of the figured specimen compared to the beta morph of MASTANDREA (1985b). All other features are nearly identical. As this specimen was obtained from a level below the first occurrence of icriodontid elements within the Seewarte section, it may belong to the eta morph, which appears in the latest *delta* Zone. According to MURPHY & MATTI (1983) the eta morph enters in the late *delta* Zone.

I element (Pl. 8, Figs. 3, 5, 6, 7; Pl. 9, Figs. 2, 3)

Remarks: Some specimens have a major part of the lateral process broken off, which makes a proper assignment difficult. Other I elements (e.g.: Plate 8, Fig. 7), with the anterior part broken, have the lateral process preserved, so that at least the angle to the main process is measurable (Table 1).

Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980

Material: 4 specimens.

I element

Remarks: Specimens that are very similar to the eta morph, but lack most of the diagnostic features are gathered here.

? Latericriodus sp.

Pl. 8, Fig. 4

Material: 19 specimens.

I element (Pl. 8, Fig. 4)

- Description: The outline of the figured specimen shows a spindle that is almost triangular except that the posteriormost two transverse denticle rows preserved are of equal width. The platform axis is straight. The lateral process as well as the main part of the spur are not preserved. Denticles are rather high and have a circular cross-section and blunt tips. Denticles of the lateral rows are of equal height to those of the median row with relatively broad spaces between each other longitudinally and transversely (for morphometric data see Table 1).
- Remarks: The obtained juvenile specimen differs from those assigned to ? *Caudicriodus* sp. in the outline of the spindle and in shape, height and spacing of denticles. Because of immaturity of the elements no further discrimination at species-level can be undertaken. Other elements, identified as ? *Latericriodus* sp., are assigned to the genus only, because of the high degree of breakage.

Genus: Pelekysgnathus THOMAS, 1949

Type species: *Pelekysgnathus inclinata* THOMAS, 1949.

Pelekysgnathus sp.

Pl. 11, Fig. 15

Material: 9 specimens.

S element (Pl. 11, Fig. 15)

Description: Simple cones exhibiting a subcircular to lenticular basal margin. The cusp, usually laterally flattened, is erect and in some specimens inclined. The surface remains unornamented or is finely striate. Remarks: No I elements were obtained, so that specific identification is not possible.

Order: Prioniodinida SWEET, 1988 Family: Prioniodinidae BASSLER, 1925

Genus: Oulodus BRANSON & MEHL, 1933

Type species: Cordylodus serratus STAUFFER, 1930.

Oulodus aclys MAWSON, 1986

Pl. 10, Figs. 12, 13; Pl. 11, Figs. 2, 4, 5

Material: 56 specimens.

Sb element (Pl. 10, Figs. 12, 13)

1986 Oulodus aclys n. sp. MAWSON, p. 47; Pl. 2, Figs. 12-14.

1989 Oulodus aclys MAWSON - SORENTINO, p. 89; Pl. 6, Fig. 13.

1989 Oulodus aclys MAWSON – WILSON, p. 134; PI. 7, Figs. 5?, 7. 1999 Oulodus aclys MAWSON – TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 7, Fig. 20.

Description: The anterior process bears four to six discrete, equally spaced denticles. The posterior process of the illustrated elements is broken but possesses two (Fig. 13) and four (Fig. 12) denticles. Usually it has five denticles developed. Denticles are wide at the base tapering to a point distally. The cusp is curved, pointing to the inner side. The cross-section of denticles and cusp is subcircular. Lateral processes join the cusp on the outer side. The lower margin is bent including an angle of 85-100 degrees. The basal cavity extends widely on the inner side; it has a lip-like, rounded margin. The basal pit is deep and located beneath the cusp. Basal grooves are shallow and wide proximally, tapering to the distal end.

Sc element (Pl. 11, Fig. 2)

- 1971 ? Ligonodina salopia RHODES FÅHRAEUS, p. 675; Pl. 78, Fig. 43
- 1986 Oulodus aclys n. sp. MAWSON, p. 47; Pl. 2, Figs. 15-16.
- 1989 Oulodus aclys MAWSON SORENTINO, p. 89; Pl. 6, Fig. 12.
- 1989 Oulodus aclys MAWSON WILSON, p. 134; Pl. 7, Fig. 6?
- 1999 Oulodus aclys MAWSON TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 6, Figs. 1, 2. 2003 Oulodus aclys MAWSON - FARRELL, p. 126; Pl. 3, Figs. 3, 5.
- Description: A robust element with the anterior process bent downward. Denticles on either processes are discrete and closely spaced. Though strongly broken, they show a broad base with a nearly circular cross-section. Denticles and cusp tend to point to the posterior end. The basal cavity is shallow beneath the cusp. Basal grooves are strongly inverted along either process.

Pa element (Pl. 11, Figs. 4, 5)

- 1986 Oulodus aclys n. sp. MAWSON, p. 47; Pl. 2, Figs. 1-3.
- 1989 Oulodus aclys MAWSON SORENTINO, p. 89; Pl. 6, Fig. 10.

1989 Oulodus aclys MAWSON - WILSON, p. 134; Pl. 7, Figs. 1, 2.

Description: The illustrated Pa elements have partially broken processes and one of them a strongly broken cusp. The cusp and denticles have a subcircular crosssection. The remaining denticles of the posterior process are narrow in one and equally spaced in the other specimen. They taper to a point distally at a more acute angle, so the space between the denticles is more V- than Ushaped. The prominent cusp tends to curve slightly to the posterior distally (as far as preserved) with the posterior process joining the cusp subcentrally, not in precise central axial alignment, with the outer margin of the cusp in upper view. The basal cavity is rounded, widening towards the inner side. In contrast to the wide, shallow basal cavity, the basal pit is small and located beneath the cusp. The basal grooves are shallow proximally and located closer to the outer margin than the central axial position in lower view. The basal margin is arched, usually including an angle of 90-100 degrees, though not clearly estimable from the figured specimens due to the highly broken anterior process.

Oulodus elegans detorta (WALLISER, 1964)

Pl. 10, Figs. 1, 8; Pl. 11, Fig. 3

General Remarks: Elements of Oulodus elegans detorta can be distinguished easily from Oulodus elegans elegans by the appearance of one or two very small denticles in the spaces between normal-sized denticles (JEPPSSON, 1989). Elements of Oul. e. elegans lack distinct small denticles and bear denticles of "normal"-size increasing evenly in height distally. Elements identified as Ligonodina elegans (WALLISER, 1964: Plate 32, Figs. 19-21) and Oulodus elegans (SWEET & SCHÖNLAUB, 1975) were assigned to Oulodus greilingi spinosus in MAWSON (1986), according to the discriminative fragile, thorn-like shape of the denticles. Among all subspecies mentioned (including Oul. greilingi hirpex) the most reliable features are the shape and pattern of denticulation.

Material: 9 specimens

Sa element (Pl. 10, Fig. 8)

1989 Ligonodina elegans detorta (WALLISER) - JEPPSSON, p. 26; Pl. 3, Fig. 2.

Description: The figured element seems to have asymmetrical processes. The better preserved one bears seven normal-sized and three very small denticles. Two of the small denticles are located proximally, each between two larger denticles (visible in Fig. 8b: area of the two nearly complete normal-sized denticles) and one in the terminal position. The cusp is twice as high as normal-sized denticles. It is laterally compressed and extends wide towards the posterior end. The anterior margin of the cusp is slightly curved, with the tip pointing posteriorly. Both processes are strongly curved downward and slightly inwarded distally, so that the lower margin forms an angle less that 90 degrees. The basal cavity is rather deep, with a flat anterior and a wide, laterally compressed and distally rounded posterior lower margin. Basal grooves remain open towards the distal edges along either process.

Sc element (Pl. 11, Fig. 3)

- 1989 Ligonodina elegans detorta (WALLISER) JEPPSSON, p. 26; Pl. 3, Fig. 1.
- Description: Generally, the element is relatively slender. The anterior process bears two discrete, but wide spaced denticles of normal height. Four denticles of this type are discernible on the posterior process (the proximal two are broken, with only their base remaining). Intercalated are very small denticles showing a pattern varying between larger denticles of: one - two - one - two(?). The distal portion of the posterior process is broken, so that the two distalmost smaller denticles cannot be regarded as probably terminal ones. The cusp is twice the height of normal-sized denticles. Cusp and denticles of the posterior process are slightly curved posteriorly. The lower margin is gently concave.

M element (Pl. 10, Fig. 1)

- 1975 Ligonodina elegans (WALLISER) JEPPSSON, p. 19; PI. 3, Fig. 4 [cum syn.].
- 1989 Ligonodina elegans detorta (WALLISER) JEPPSSON, p. 26; Pl. 3, Fig. 4.
- Description: The obtained element consists of a very prominent cusp and a short posterior process. The anterior process is almost inexistent, forming a descending, narrow adpressed keel. The short posterior process bears at least five equally sized and spaced denticles. The cusp is laterally compressed with a lenticular crosssection. The basal cavity is sub-triangular and of moderate depth, possessing a flat outer side and a rounded lower inner margin. The basal grooves are narrow, running distally towards the tip of each process.

Oulodus elegans elegans (WALLISER, 1964)

Pl. 10, Figs. 2, 3, 7

Material: 27 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 10, Fig. 7)

- 1975 Ligonodina elegans (WALLISER) JEPPSSON, p. 19; Pl. 3, Fig. 2 [cum syn.].
- Description: The nearly symmetrical element shows a large cusp, curved posteriorly. Denticles on either lateral process are equally spaced. They are little shorter proximally, increasing in height distally. Processes bear at least five denticles. The lower margin of either extremity curves continuously downward forming an angle of about 110 degrees. In lower view, the anterior lower margin is gently bowed. The narrow basal cavity has a rounded anterior lower margin. Contrary the posterior lower margin is much wider. Basal grooves are shallow extending towards either margin distally.

M element (Pl. 10, Figs. 2, 3)

- 1998b Oulodus elegans elegans (WALLISER) CORRADINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, PI. 3.3.1, Fig. 13.
- Remarks: Elements are very similar to those of *Oulodus* elegans detorta as both types possess similar-sized denticles. They differ in possessing more closely-spaced denticles and a smaller basal cavity. Denticles on the posterior process (at least four in number) seem to descend stepwise. It remains unclear whether the smaller outline of the nearly triangular basal cavity is the result of fragmentation of the lower margin or not. The designation is based on the obvious similarity with the element illustrated by CORRADINI et al. (1998b).

Oulodus greilingi hirpex MAWSON, 1986

Pl. 11, Figs. 7, 8

Material: 15 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 11, Figs. 7, 8)

- aff. 1968 Ozarkodina ortuformis WALLISER SCHULZE, p. 204; PI. 17, Figs. 5, 7.
 - 1986 *Oulodus greilingi hirpex* n. subsp. MAWSON, p. 46; PI. 1, Figs. 2, 3.
 - 1999 *Oulodus greilingi hirpex* MAWSON TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 6, Fig. 11.
- Description: The anterior process is broken in both figured elements, missing at least 2 uniformly-spaced denticles. The posterior process bears up to five unequal, discrete denticles, with the proximal ones smaller than all other denticles. The cusp is rather high with its tip pointing to the posterior inner side. Denticles and cusp are subcircular in cross-section. In lower view, processes seem gently twisted distally. Anterior and posterior lower margin includes an angle of about 120 degrees. The margin of the moderately deep basal cavity is slightly asymmetrically rounded below the cusp, tapering as open basal grooves towards either margin along each process.
- Remarks: Elements of this subspecies developed uniformly-spaced denticles of varying height, resembling the prongs of a garden rake (MAWSON, 1986). *Oulodus greilingi hirpex* was found within the *eurekaensis, delta* and possibly *pesavis* Zone in New South Wales (Australia).

Oulodus spicula MAWSON, 1986

Pl. 10, Figs. 14, 15; Pl. 11, Fig. 1

Material: 22 specimens.

Sb element (Pl. 10, Figs. 14, 15)

1986 *Oulodus spicula* n. sp. MAWSON, p. 47; Pl. 3, Figs. 11–14. 1989 *Oulodus spicula* MAWSON – WILSON, p. 134; Pl. 7, Fig. 21. 1989 *Oulodus spicula* MAWSON – SORENTINO, p. 89; Pl. 6, Figs. 3, 5? 1999 *Oulodus spicula* MAWSON – TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 6, Fig. 17.

- Description: Both processes bear at least four or five equally, but rather widely spaced denticles. The cusp is subcircular in cross-section and slightly curved, pointing posteriorly. On either side of the cusp adjacent denticles are tiny and more spike-like compared to those following distally. They have a subcircular cross-section, measuring about one-third or less in diameter than other denticles on each process. Specimens illustrated have only the basal part of that spike-like denticles preserved, with the tip broken. The anterior lower margin is nearly straight, whereas the posterior lower margin is concave. Anterior and posterior lower margin include an angle between 80-105 degrees. The basal cavity is moderately deep with a rounded margin, extending only beneath the cusp. Basal grooves are moderately deep at the proximal part, becoming shallow and narrow distally.
- Remarks: In MAWSON (1986), elements of *Oulodus spicula* are characterized by occurrence of two or three spikelike denticles close to the cusp. Some specimens possess randomly developed tiny denticles between normalsized denticles. Observed elements lack intercalated tiny denticles on either distal extremity, bearing spike-like denticles proximal to the cusp only.

Pa element (Pl. 11, Fig. 1)

- 1980 Delotaxis walliseri (ZIEGLER) PICKETT, p. 79; Fig. 10.K.
- 1986 Oulodus spicula n. sp. MAWSON, p. 47; Pl. 3, Figs. 1-4.
- 1995 Oulodus sp. COLQUHOUN, Pl. 2, Fig. 13.
- 2003 Oulodus spicula MAWSON FARRELL, p. 126; Pl. 3, Fig. 1?
- Remarks: The observed element is very similar to that of FARRELL (2003). The anterior process is fragmented covering three? (but usually up to five) denticles. The posterior process bears six denticles. The cusp and all proximal denticles are strongly broken, so that only the base of the typical spike-like denticles is observable on either side close to the cusp (at high magnification). Preserved distal denticles show a more V- than U-shaped spacing. The basal cavity surrounds a moderately deep basal pit. The margin of the basal cavity is rounded with the greatest width below the cusp. The lower margin remains inverted distally along the posterior process, but tapers rapidly below the anterior process, running as narrow basal groove distally.

Oulodus walliseri (ZIEGLER, 1960)

Pl. 10, Fig. 11?; Pl. 11, Figs. 10?, 11

General Remarks: Following the remarks of MAWSON (1986), elements of *Oulodus walliseri* strongly resemble those of *Oulodus aclys*. They differ in possessing peg-like denticles, rather than high, triangular ones with a broad base. The cusp is prominent, but not as high as the spear-like cusp of *Oulodus aclys*. *Oulodus walliseri* was found in the *woschmidti* Zone (ZIEGLER, 1960) and ranges up to the *sulcatus* Zone (FARRELL, 2003).

Material: 21 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 10, Fig. 11?)

- 1986 Oulodus walliseri (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 48; Pl. 9, Fig. 4.
- 1994 *Oulodus* cf. *walliseri* (ZIEGLER) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 14. C, G, I.
- 2006 *Oulodus* sp. cf. *Oul. walliseri* (ZIEGLER) MATHIESON, p. 36; PI. 6, Figs. G-I.
- Description: One of either lateral processes and nearly the entire cusp is broken. The remaining process has seven discrete, almost equally sized, peg-like denticles. They are equally separated by narrow U-shaped gaps. The lower margin is gently arched, including an angle of a little less than 90 degrees. The basal cavity has a

rounded margin and extends more wide than long towards the inner side. Basal grooves are inverted, tapering distally.

Remarks: The figured specimen could possibly be an Sb element. Compared to those illustrated in other papers it differs in possessing a strongly bent lower margin. Sa elements differ from the presented one in a stronger, more continuously curved lower margin of each process, and in less prominence of the inner margin of the basal cavity, forming a somewhat compressed lip-like outline.

M element (Pl. 11, Fig. 10?)

- 1986 Oulodus walliseri (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 48; PI. 9, Fig. 5.
- 1994 Oulodus cf. walliseri (ZIEGLER) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 14. D.
- 2003 Oulodus cf. walliseri (ZIEGLER) FARRELL, p. 127; Pl. 3, Fig. 13.
 2006 Oulodus sp. cf. Oul. walliseri (ZIEGLER) MATHIESON, p. 36; Pl. 6, Fig. D?
- Description: The remaining process is very low and untwisted. It bears ten erect, equally sized, peg-like denticles which are almost equally spaced. Spaces between denticles are narrowly U-shaped. The lower margin is gently arched. The basal groove is inverted.
- Remarks: The figured element is regarded as the posterior process of an M element. A possible Sa position can be excluded, as these elements have a lower, more curved margin. Sb elements differ in possessing a slightly higher blade; the posterior process bears denticles pointing posteriorly. Sc elements have posterior-pointing denticles and usually not inverted, but open basal grooves. Pa and Pb elements possess inverted basal grooves becoming shallow and broader proximally to the basal cavity.

Pa element (Pl. 11, Fig. 11)

- 1980 Delotaxis walliseri (ZIEGLER) PICKETT, p. 79; Figs. 10.A–10.F [cum syn.].
- 1994 Oulodus cf. walliseri (ZIEGLER) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 14. A.
 1995 Oulodus sp. cf. O. walliseri (ZIEGLER) CAREY & BOLGER, p. 78; Fig. 4C.
- 1999 *Oulodus walliseri* (ZIEGLER) TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 6, Fig. 18. 2003 *Oulodus* cf. *walliseri* (ZIEGLER) – FARRELL, p. 127; Pl. 3, Figs.
- 10, 16. 2006 *Oulodus* sp. cf. *Oul. walliseri* (ZIEGLER) – MATHIESON, p. 36; Pl.
- 6, Figs. A, B.
- Description: The figured element is strongly broken. The remaining process is twisted and relatively broad in upper view. It bears twelve narrow-spaced, discrete, peg-like, robust denticles. They are subequal in size with a nearly circular cross-section. A basal groove seems almost not present, forming a broad flat central part with an inverted outer margin running along either side.
- Remarks: The obtained element closely resembles the Pa element of *Oulodus walliseri* in FARRELL, 2003 (Plate 3, Fig. 10).

Oulodus sp. A

Pl. 11, Fig. 6

Material: 1 specimen.

- Sb element (Pl. 11, Fig. 6)
- aff. 1989 Oulodus sp. A WILSON, p. 135; Pl. 8, Fig. 6.
- aff. 2003 Oulodus spp. Group A FARRELL, p. 129; Pl. 4, Figs. 4, 7.
- aff. 2004 *Oulodus* Group A FARRELL, p. 963; Pl. 5, Fig. 8. Description: The very robust element has a prominent
- cusp, gently curving to the inner side distally. The anterior or process bears five narrow-spaced denticles of subequal size. The posterior process is broken distally, bearing at least four discrete denticles. The cross-section of cusp and denticles is nearly circular. The lower margin of the descending processes is straight, meeting the horizontal margin below the cusp at an angle. The lower margin of the posterior process to the horizontal one below

the cusp includes about 116 degrees, whereas that of the anterior process is wider including 132 degrees. The basal cavity extends rather widely with well rounded margins. Basal grooves are inverted.

Oulodus sp.

Pl. 10, Figs. 5?, 6, 9, 10; Pl. 11, Fig. 9

Material: 133 specimens.

Remarks: All elements, of which a proper assignment at species-level was impossible, are referred to *Oulodus* sp. only.

Order: Ozarkodinida Dzik, 1976

Family: Spathognathodontidae HASS, 1959 Genus: *Ancyrodelloides*

BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958

Type species: Ancyrodelloides trigonica BISCHOFF & SANNE-MANN, 1958.

Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958

Pl. 21, Figs. 1, 2

Material: 4 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 21, Figs. 1, 2)
- 1958 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri n. sp. BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, p. 93; Pl. 12, Figs. 15, 17, 18.
- 1968 Ancyrodelloides cf. kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN SCHULZE, p. 183; Fig. 11.
- 1969b Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN PÖLSLER, p. 404; Pl. 1, Figs. 22, 23.
- 1978 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN SERPAGLI, GNOLI, MASTANDREA & OLIVIERI, PI. 27, Fig. 3.
- 1979 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN LANE & ORMISTON, p. 52; Pl. 2, Figs. 14, 15, 18, 19.
- 1983 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN MURPHY & MATTI, p. 22; Pl. 3, Fig. 20.
- 1985a Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN MASTAN-DREA, p. 244; Pl. 2, Fig. 4.
- 1986 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN BARCA, GNOLI, OLIVIERI & SERPAGLI, PI. 31, Figs. 4, 7.
- 1991 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN KLAPPER, SWEET & ZIEGLER, p. 19; Pl. 1, Fig. 3.
- 1992 Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN BARDA-SHEV & ZIEGLER, Pl. 2, Figs. 16, 18.
- 1998a Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN CORRADI-NI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, PI. 2.3.1, Fig. 7 [= specimen PI. 2, Fig. 4; MASTANDREA, 1985a].
- Description: A species of Ancyrodelloides with two lateral denticulate lobes, one of them being bifurcate. Both specimens figured are broken with the anterior process totally and the posterior process partially. Nevertheless a significant amount of the platform lobes remains. They join the main axis in the middle of the blade, with their proximal denticle in line with the cusp and each other. The angle between the anterior process and the anteriorpointing lobe is 35-45 degrees on either side. Also, the angle measured for the posterior-pointing lobe (of the bifurcate lobe) to the posterior-process falls within that range. In upper view the anterior pointing extremity of the branched lobe is more narrow and much shorter, bearing one to two denticles, whereas the remaining lateral lobes have 3-5 denticles each. Denticles are discrete, more or less equally spaced, conical, and of equal height. The face of the tips is finely striated, grading into a subtly reticulate (lower third of denticles to mid-height of platform) and finally smooth surface (mid-height of platform to lower margin). The blade, as far as preserved, seems unornamented. Usually denticles are straight, erect. Only one specimen (Plate 21, Fig. 1) has inclined denticles

with their tips pointing towards the inner side in posterior view. The cusp is developed in the same style as the denticles and not elevated. The basal cavity is narrow, featuring a restricted pit. The basal groove is medium deep in central position, becoming adpressed towards the distal end of both lateral processes. Beneath the posterior process the groove is adpressed along its entire length. The cross-section of the main and lateral processes is bulging to subcircular in outline.

Remarks: MURPHY & MATTI (1983) proposed a close relation of *Ancyrodelloides kutscheri* to *Ancyrodelloides trigonicus*, because it differs only in bifurcation of one of the lateral lobes. Regarding the broken anterior process of all specimens obtained, no statement can be given; neither about its shape and platform development, nor about the basal groove's outline and extension. MURPHY & MATTI (1983) figured a sketch of *A. kutscheri* in lower view (their Text-Fig. 5.n.), showing that the basal groove of the anterior process, contrary to the posterior one, is open along two-thirds of its length until it becomes adpressed.

Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus MURPHY & MATTI, 1983

Pl. 21, Figs. 4, 5

Material: 2 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 21, Figs. 4, 5)
 - 1980b Ozarkodina limbacarinata KLAPPER & MURPHY SCHÖNLAUB, p. 39; Pl. 5, Fig. 3?, non Figs. 1, 2, 4, 5.
 - 1983 Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus n. sp. MURPHY & MATTI, p. 25; Pl. 4, Figs. 20–30, Text-Fig. 5.
 - 1985a *Ozarkodina fluminensis* n. sp. MASTANDREA, p. 252; Pl. 2, Figs. 1, 3, 5, 6, 9, 10, 14, Text-Fig. 4.
 - 1991 Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus MURPHY & MATTI KLAPPER, SWEET & ZIEGLER, p. 21; PI. 2, Fig. 1 [= specimen PI. 4, Figs. 20, 25, 26; MURPHY & MATTI, 1983].
 - 1998a Ancyrodelloides fluminensis (MASTANDREA) CORRADINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, Pl. 2.3.1, Fig. 9 [= specimen Pl. 2, Fig. 9; MASTANDREA, 1985a].
- Description: The platform reaches from almost the middle of the anterior blade to the posterior margin. The anterior part of the shouldered lobes is expanded twice as much as the proximal posterior part. The outer platform lobe is wider than the inner one and starts tapering posteriorly at a more distal point. The outer margin of the outer lobe is bent upward forming a parapet. The smaller inner lobe is rather flat, except for the second specimen, where a less prominent raised outer margin is developed, surrounding a nearly flat but depressed upper surface. A granulose texture on both platform lobes is discernible, but the ornament is restricted to the upper platform surface, with the lateral margin and lower face remaining smooth. The basal pit is rather deep and located below to somewhat anterior to the cusp. It continues to a shallow basal cavity beneath the distally rounded lobes. The cavity is distinctively restricted to the area below the anterior expanded part of the platform lobes. The basal groove is inverted. The lower margin is straight anteriorly and concave posteriorly in lateral view. Denticles show an elliptical cross-section. Anterior denticles are high, followed by smaller denticles which are lower in lateral view. Cusp and posterior denticles are of moderate height and rather triangular with a broad base. Denticles of both specimens show a fine striated surface.
- Remarks: Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus has been referred together with A. delta to the genus Kimognathus by MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999 (mentioned as a short note on page 323). This decision is not followed, due to the fact that detailed data regarding the stated progenitor development were not published. Obtained specimens can be

distinguished easily from *A. delta* by the outline of the basal cavity and the parapet-like outer margin of the outer lobe (the latter is unique for *A. limbacarinatus*).

Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) alpha morph LANE & ORMISTON, 1979

Pl. 21, Figs. 3, 6, 7

Material: 7 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 21, Figs. 3, 6, 7)

- 1979 Ozarkodina transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) alpha morph LANE & ORMISTON, p. 58; Pl. 3, Fig. 21, Text-Fig. 7.
- 1980b *Ozarkodina transitans* (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) SCHÖNLAUB, p. 39; PI. 5, Figs. 8, 10–13 and p. 42; PI. 7, Fig. 4.
- 1985 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) CHLUPÁČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, p. 26; PI. 2, Fig. 28.
- 1985a Ozarkodina transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) alpha morph - MASTANDREA, p. 255; Pl. 5, Fig. 14.
- 1985b Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) SCHÖN-LAUB, PI. 3, Fig. 1.
- 1992 Cruciodus transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, p. 14; Pl. 2, Figs. 14?, 15?, 19?
- 1994a Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS, p. 41; Iam. 1, Figs. 11, 14–18.
- 1998 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) SLAVÍK, p. 159; Pl. 1, Fig. 3.
- 1998 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & GARZÍA LÓPEZ, PI. 1 Figs. 6, 8, 9?
- 2003 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) alpha morphotype LANE & ORMISTON – FARRELL, p. 132; PI. 5, Figs. 10–12.
- Description: The axis of the blade is slightly arched but can be straight in some specimens. The lower margin usually is straight in lateral view. A few specimens possess an anterior margin which is a little raised, resulting in a slightly convex lower margin of the anterior process. The posterior process is inflated, oval in cross-section. The basal cavity is deeper below the cusp and runs strongly narrowed – to the anterior and posterior margin of the main process (as far as preserved). Below the lateral lobes, the cavity is somewhat club-shaped and laterally bluntly rounded. Each lateral process bears one discrete accessory denticle located in the middle to distal position of the lobe. Denticles of lateral lobes are aligned with the cusp. The anteriormost two or three denticles, and in some specimens the cusp too, are raised and a little wider at the base than other denticles of the blade. Denticles are discrete, closely spaced and sometimes fused at the base. The cross-section ranges from subcircular to oval, whereas centred denticles tend to be more circular. The tip can be acute to bluntly rounded. Denticles of some specimens have a fine striation which may cover part of the platform. The free blade remains unornamented.
- Remarks: The most important criteria for distinguishing Ancyrodelloides transitans and A. trigonicus are the shape of the basal cavity and the cross-section of the platform of the posterior process, which, in the case of A. trigonicus, is of bench-like shape. The latter characteristic feature can also be developed in A. transitans, but never that wide. The basal cavity in A. trigonicus can be restricted (adult specimen) or possess pointed distal ends on each lateral process (juvenile specimen). By contrast, A. transitans has a club-shaped (juvenile specimen) to narrow, but open basal cavity (adult specimen) on either lateral process. MURPHY & MATTI (1983) suggested that the angle including the lateral and anterior processes might be a less distinctive feature, as it has a wide range of variation producing several kinds of intermediate stages between both species.

Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) beta morph LANE & ORMISTON, 1979

Pl. 21, Fig. 8

Material: 3 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 21, Fig. 8)
- 1958 Spathognathodus transitans n. sp. BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, p. 107; Pl. 13, Figs. 4, 12, 14?
- 1979 Ozarkodina transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) beta morph -LANE & ORMISTON, p. 58; Pl. 2, Figs. 4, 5, Text-Fig. 7.
- 1986 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) BARCA, GNOLI, OLIVIERI & SERPAGLI, PI. 31, Fig. 6.
- 1989 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) beta morph LANE & ORMISTON - WILSON, p. 137; Pl. 12, Figs. 18, 19.
- 1994a Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS, p. 41; lam. 2, Figs. 2, 4.
- 1998 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) beta morph LANE & ORMISTON - ÇAPKINOĞLU & BEKTAŞ, p. 163; Pl. 1. Fias. 1. 2.
- Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) SLAVÍK, 1998 p. 159; Pl. 1, Fig. 4.
- 1998 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) - VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & GARZÍA LÓPEZ, Pl. 1, Fig. 10.
- Description: Features are similar to those asserted for the alpha morph except for the number of denticles on lateral processes. Whereas the alpha morph bears one denticle on either lateral lobe, the beta morph developed a second accessory denticle on the inner lobe. That denticle is half the height of the proximal one and occupies a position close to the distal margin of the lobe. The outline of the basal cavity and the cross-section of the posterior process is like that of the alpha morph.
- Remarks: LANE & ORMISTON (1979) pointed out, that the beta morph may have persisted into the pesavis Zone. In MURPHY & MATTI (1983), the transitans group ranges from the lower delta Zone into the lowermost pesavis Zone. All other species included in the genus Ancyrodelloides disappear at different levels within the upper delta Zone.

Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) intermediate form MASTANDREA, 1985a

Pl. 21, Fig. 9

Material: 2 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 21, Fig. 9)
 - 1968 Spathoganthodus transitans BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN -SCHULZE, p. 230; Pl. 16, Fig. 2.
 - Ancyrodelloides trigonica BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN CARLS, 1969 p. 325; Pl. 1, Fig. 1.
 - 1980a Ancyrodelloides sp. aff. A. trigonica BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN - SCHÖNLAUB, FLAJS & THALMANN, PI. 1, Figs. 3, 4.
 - 1983 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) - MUR-PHY & MATTI, p. 22; Pl. 2, Figs. 9-11.
 - 1985a Ozarkodina transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) intermediate form - MASTANDREA, p. 255; Pl. 5, Figs. 18, 19.
 - 1985a Ancyrodelloides trigonicus BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN MAS-TANDREA, p. 244; Pl. 2, Figs. 7, 8, non Figs. 11–13, 15.
 - 1991 Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) - KLAP-PER, SWEET & ZIEGLER, p. 25; Pl. 1, Fig. 4 [= specimen PI. 2, Figs. 10, 11; MURPHY & MATTI, 1983].
 - 1998a Ancyrodelloides trigonicus BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN CORRA-DINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, Pl. 2.3.1, Fig. 8 [= specimen PI. 2, Fig. 8; MASTANDREA, 1985a].
- Description: Each platform lobe forms an angle of 80 degrees with the anterior process. Both lateral extremities are shaped almost symmetrically, are of equal length, and have two denticles on either side, whereas the proximal denticle is of normal height and the distal one rather small and node-like. The anterior free blade bears one small initially and two raised denticles with the

following ones almost uniform in shape, decreasing in height within the posteriormost fifth. Denticles and the upper and lateral platform surface show a reticulate ornament. The lower platform area and the blade are smooth. The cross-section of the posterior process is oval and of rather broad width. The lower margin is slightly arched. The axis is gently curved (nearly Sshaped) in upper view, with the posterior margin pointing towards the outer side. The basal cavity is narrow, with basal grooves extending to either margin. The outline of the cavity below each lateral process is somewhat clubshaped, with rounded distal ends.

Remarks: The figured specimen seems to be an intermediate morphotype between Ancyrodelloides transitans and Ancyrodelloides trigonicus. The outline of the lateral face is very similar to that in SCHÖNLAUB et al. (1980a, Pl. 5, Fig. 13), except that the lateral lobes are of unequal length (Plate 5, Fig. 12, therein). Nonetheless the outline of the basal cavity is closer to that of A. transitans. It is not as restricted as is typical for A. trigonicus and the transition form A. transitans delta morph proposed by LANE & ORMIS-TON (1979, Pl. 1, Fig. 41; Pl. 2, Figs. 12, 13). The specimen presented by CARLS (1969) has a similar shaped cavity and platform denticulation, although the distal denticle on both lateral processes seems to be bigger in his specimen. Another difference is the grade of curvature of the lateral processes pointing anteriorly. The specimens herein have a more gentle bent transverse axis of the lateral lobes, unlike that of A. trigonicus but, in contrast to the specimen figured in MURPHY & MATTI (1983), both lateral lobes include an angle less than 90 degrees. Although several features resemble A. trigonicus, the most discriminative one (the outline of the basal cavity) corresponds to that of A. transitans. Therefore I regard both obtained Pa elements as intermediate morphotype, with closer relations to Ancyrodelloides transitans.

Genus: Flajsella

VALENZUELA-RÍOS & MURPHY, 1997

Type species: Spathognathodus stygius FLAJS, 1967.

Flajsella schulzei (BARDASHEV, 1989)

Pl. 18, Fig. 11

Material: 9 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 18, Fig. 11)
- Spathognathodus seebergensis n. sp. SCHULZE, p. 227; Pl. 17, 1968 Fig. 9?
- 1969b Spathognathodus stygius FLAJS PÖLSLER, p. 433; Pl. 1, Figs. 5, 6.
- 1980b Ozarkodina stygia (FLAJS) alpha morph SCHÖNLAUB, p. 39; Pl. 4, Figs. 5-8.
- 1985a Ozarkodina stygia (FLAJS) beta morph MASTANDREA, p. 255; Pl. 3, Fig. 2?
- 1992 Ozarkodina stygia schulzei BARDASHEV – BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, p. 15; Pl. 1, Fig. 39, non Figs. 25, 26. 1994a *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) – VALENZUELA-RÍOS, p. 66; Iam. 6,
- Figs. 16, 21.
- Flajsella schulzei (BARDASHEV) VALENZUELA-RÍOS & MUR-1997 РНÝ, р. 136; Fig. 8: 1–4, 7–22.
- Flajsella schulzei (BARDASHEV) VALENZUELA-RÍOS & GARZÍA 1998 LÓPEZ, Pl. 1, Figs. 1, 2.
- 1999 Flajsella schulzei (BARDASHEV) - TALENT & MAWSON, p. 74; Pl. 11, Fig. 19.
- Description: The basal platform is spear-like in shape (margin partly broken). It extends from the middle of the blade to the posterior margin. The blade is gently twisted, but continues almost in line with a slightly deflected posterior carina in upper view. It bears 9 denticles anterior and 4 posterior of the cusp. Whereas the denticles of the

high anterior blade are more palisade- than needle shaped, those of the posterior blade are conspicuously small and seem to be discrete. The posterior blade is about one-third of the height of the anterior blade. The inflated conical cusp has a position in the posterior third and is almost equal in height to the denticles of the anterior blade. In cross-section the denticles and the cusp are elliptical to almost lenticular. The lower margin is arched, pointing downward at both ends with the highest point anterior of the cusp. The lateral face of the blade is partly covered with fine striae parallel to the anterior margin. The tips of the denticles and the cusp as well as the lower third of the lateral face remain smooth.

Remarks: In the frame of the revised diagnosis and discussion of this species, VALENZUELA-RÍOS & MURPHY (1997) mentioned that the straight anterior and the posterior carina are aligned in upper view, without offset or angle at the cusp. This feature is not clearly discernible for the specimen figured, as the blade is gently twisted in upper view (postdiagenetic processes?). Several other features correspond to the original description. In the Seewarte section Pa elements are found in the middle part of the *delta* Zone.

Flajsella stygia (FLAJS, 1967)

Pl. 18, Figs. 12, 13

Material: 37 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 18, Figs. 12, 13)
- 1967 Spathognathodus stygius FLAJS, p. 204; Pl. 5, Figs. 12?, 13?, 14?, 15?, 16, 17, Text-Fig. 7.
- 1968 Spathognathodus seebergensis n. sp. SCHULZE, p. 227; Pl. 17, Fig. 4, 10?, 11?
- 1969b Spathognathodus stygius FLAJS PÖLSLER, p. 433; Pl. 1, Figs. 1–4.
- 1979 *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) beta morph LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 1, Figs. 45, 46.
- 1979 *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) gamma morph LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 2, Figs. 10, 11.
- 1980b *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) gamma morph SCHÖNLAUB, p. 39; Pl. 4, Figs. 23, 24?, 25, non Figs. 21, 22.
- 1980b *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) SCHÖNLAUB, p. 28; Pl. 2, Figs. 12?, 25, 26, non Figs. 13, 14, 18, 19.
- 1985a *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) beta morph MASTANDREA, p. 255; Pl. 3, Fig. 1.
- 1985b *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Figs. 12?, 25, 26.
- 1992 Ozarkodina stygia sorokini BARDASHEV BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, p. 15; Pl. 1, Figs. 22, 23, 31, 32, 36?, 37?
- 1992 Ozarkodina stygia stygia BARDASHEV BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, p. 15; Pl. 1, Figs. 34, 35?, 38?
- 1994a *Ozarkodina stygia* (FLAJS) VALENZUELA-RIOS, p. 66; Iam. 6, Figs. 17–19.
- 1997 *Flajsella stygia* (FLAJS) VALENZUELA-RÍOS & MURPHY, p. 139; Fig. 8: 26–28; Fig. 9: 26–30.
- 1998 Flajsella stygia (FLAJS) VALENZUELA-RÍOS & GARZÍA LÓPEZ, Pl. 1, Fig. 4.
- Description: The axis of the blade ranges from a little to strongly sigmoidal, resulting in an angle or offset where both processes join the cusp. The anterior blade (broken in both figured specimens) remains straight until near the cusp where the axis is strongly bent before joining the cusp. The rudimentary posterior blade is nearly straight and joins the cusp including an angle of about 10 degrees to a projected straight main axis. 6 to 7 denticles are present on the anterior blade and only one (rather node-like) on the posterior blade. The cusp is almost as high as denticles of the anterior process with an acute tip pointing posteriorly. A broad U-shaped space is observed between the cusp and the first denticle of the posterior blade in both figured specimens. Cusp and denticles have an elliptical cross-section. The platform has an asymmetrical outline with the outer lobe wider. It

covers between one-half to two-thirds of the main axis length and reaches the posterior margin. The lower margin is almost straight. A fine striation is visible on the lateral face of the anterior blade of some specimens. Others remain totally unornamented.

Remarks: This species differs from *Flajsella schulzei* in possessing an angle or offset where the anterior and posterior carina meet the cusp and in the development of asymmetric platform lobes. Some Pa elements show a slightly curved anterior blade in upper view, which corresponds to one of the features of *Flajsella streptostygia*. Nevertheless they are assigned to *F. stygia*, as the denticles of the anterior blade remain highest in the anterior third and the platform extends more than one-third of the main axis length.

Flajsella sp.

Pl. 15, Figs. 11, 12

Material: 20 specimens.

Pa element

Remarks: Specimens possessing features of *Flajsella stygia* and *F. streptostygia*, and those too broken for specific determination are included here.

Pb element (Pl. 15, Figs. 11, 12)

- aff. 1979 Ozarkodina stygia (FLAJS) gamma morph LANE & ORMIS-TON, p. 57; Pl. 2, Fig. 25.
- aff. 1985a Ozarkodina stygia (FLAJS) MASTANDREA, p. 255; Pl. 3, Fig. 10.
- aff. 1997 Flajsella streptostygia VALENZUELA-RÍOS & MURPHY, p. 140; Fig. 9: ?20.
- Description: The processes of both Pb elements figured, are almost of equal length with a straight axis. The anterior process bears 6 and the posterior 4-5 denticles. The cusp is slightly reclined with its tip pointing posteriorly. It is one-third to twice as high as the proximal posterior blade. Anterior denticles are fused with needle-shaped free tips increasing in height towards the posterior. Tips are aligned with the anterior margin of the cusp in lateral view. Those of the posterior process (partly broken) decrease in height to the posterior margin. The lower margin is nearly straight, but some specimens have a gently inclined posterior lower margin and a slightly down-curving anterior lower margin. The anterior margin is strongly curved with the anteriormost denticle arcuate. The basal cavity is deep below the cusp with a nearly lens-shaped outline covering one-third of the entire axis length, located centrally in lower view. The anterior basal groove remains narrow but open until the middle of the anterior blade, continuing closed to the anterior margin. The posterior basal groove is broken, but seems to continue narrowly opened to the posterior margin.
- Remarks: Some of the obtained Pb elements are similar to that figured in VALENZUELA-RIOS & MURPHY, 1997 (Fig. 9: 20), but the authors pointed out that it is one of four candidates proposed for the apparatus of *F. streptostygia*. Apparatus reconstruction for this genus is still not sufficienty developed that unequivocal assignment of Pb elements can be made at species-level.

Genus: Lanea

MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999

Type species: Ozarkodina eleanorae LANE & ORMISTON, 1979.

Lanea omoalpha MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999

Pl. 19, Figs. 5, 8, 10

Material: 4 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 19, Figs. 5, 8, 10)

- 1958 Spathognathodus fundamentatus WALLISER BISCHOFF & SAN-NEMANN, p. 105; Pl. 14, Figs. 1–3.
- 1969 Spathognathodus steinhornensis n. ssp. A. CARLS, p. 341; Pl. 3, Figs. 7, 8.
- 1983 Ancyrodelloides omus alpha morph MURPHY & MATTI, p. 16; Pl. 2, Figs. 18–20.
- 1994 Ancyrodelloides omus alpha morph MURPHY & MATTI MAW-SON & TALENT, p. 51; Fig. 11 (H–L).
- 1994a Ancyrodelloides omus morfotipo δ , nuevo morfotipo VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS, p. 40; lam. 1, Fig. 10.
- 1999 Ancyrodelloides omus MURPHY & MATTI TALENT & MAWSON, p. 73; Pl. 5, Figs. 6–9; Pl. 7, Fig. 13; Pl. 8, Figs. 4, 11.
- 1999 *Lanea omoalpha* n. sp. MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, p. 327; Pl. 1, Figs. 10–19, 23, 27–29; Pl. 2, Figs. 12–14.
- 2004 Lanea omoalpha FARRELL, p. 976; Pl. 8, Figs. 12, 13.
- 2004 Lanea aff. omoalpha MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS SLAVÍK & HLADIL, p. 147; Pl. 1, Fig. 10.
- 2005 Lanea omoalpha MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS VALENZUELA-RÍOS, LIAO, MARTÍNEZ-PÉREZ, CASTELLÓ & BOTELLA, Iam. 1, Figs. e, f.
- 2006 Ancyrodelloides omus MURPHY & MATTI MATHIESON, p. 42; Pl. 13, Figs. A-F.
- Description: Elements are characterised by terraced platform lobes. The platform is positioned nearly centrally to slightly posteriorly. Lobes are asymmetrical with a rounded to subsquare outline in upper view. The anterior transverse margin of the terrace is in line with the front of the cusp in upper view. The area of the terrace covers about one-half of the surface area of the platform lobe, meeting the brim at a slightly obtuse angle. The ratio of brim to terrace, measured from proximal anterior to posterior platform margin, is 1:2:1 for the figured specimens. The lateral face of the blade shows a weak to moderate pinch zone that is limited to the lower one-third of the blade. Its upper horizontal margin is almost in line with the upper surface of the terrace extenting to the lower margin. The main axis is nearly straight. Denticles possess a stout to palisade-like outline with a lens-shaped cross-section. One of the anterior denticles is very high and broad at its base. Other specimens obtained have two or three enlarged anterior denticles. Denticles of the posterior process are moderately high with two or three of them larger in size. The cusp is prominent but not higher than denticles of the posterior blade, with smaller denticles of irregular height on either side characterising the denticles of the mid-blade area. The lower margin is stepped with anterior and posterior lower margins straight to slightly arched. The basal cavity is deep and not restricted. Basal grooves are medium to rather deep and continue open to the anterior and posterior margins where both taper to a point. Pa elements are smooth, but may show granulose texture restricted to the surface of the terrace (compare Plate 19, Fig. 10b).
- Remarks: Distinguishing features for this species compared to other ones included in *Lanea* are the unconstricted basal cavity and the size of the brim in relation to the area of the terrace. Additionally MURPHY & VALENZUELA-Ríos (1999) mentioned that the profile of the upper margin is concave and those of the lower margin slightly convex, which is not clearly observable for some specimens obtained.

Lanea eoeleanorae MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999

Pl. 19, Fig. 14

Material: 5 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 19, Fig. 14)

1980 Ozarkodina cf. asymmetrica BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN – SCHÖN-LAUB, PI. 4, Figs. 3, 4.

- 1992 Cruciodus eleanorae (LANE & ORMISTON) BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, p. 14; Pl. 2, Figs. 4, 5, 10.
- 1999 Lanea eoeleanorae n. sp. MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, p. 327; Pl. 1, Figs. 20–22, 24–26, 30; Pl. 2, Figs. 1–11, 21–23.
- 2005 Lanea eoeleanorae MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS, LIAO, MARTÍNEZ-PÉREZ, CASTELLÓ & BOTELLA, lam. 1, Figs. c, d.
- Description: The broken Pa element displays a posterior blade with descending upper profile and a lower margin slightly bent downward. Denticles are discernible only by the undulating lateral face and free blunt tips. Cusp and denticles are of rather equal shape, with the tip of the cusp having little wider spaces on either side of the carina. The main axis is straight to slightly arched. Unequal, distally rounded platform lobes are shouldered, with a terrace covering nearly the entire platform area, so that no discrete brim is perceivable in upper view. The anterior and posterior margin of each platform-lobe terrace joins the surface of the brim almost perpendicularly. A shallow brim sulcus is visible in lateral view. The pinch zone of the posterior lower blade is well developed to highly adpressed close to the lower margin. The basal cavity is open, possessing a moderate deep basal pit shallowing below the platform lobes. Though strongly pinched, the posterior groove remains shallow but open, tapering to a point posterior. No surface texture is apparent.
- Remarks: The obtained element differs in possessing stout, but bluntly rounded denticle tips, with the major part of the denticles nearly indiscernible, fused with only an undulated lateral face remaining. The anterior blade, though nearly completely absent, exhibits a proximal cross-section which has an adpressed rather than deep and open basal groove. Only one of the platform lobes developed a weak brim sulcus on the rounded distal margin in anterior view. All these features differ from the description of MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS (1999).

The presence of a brim sulcus and the almost equal size of terrace and platform area distinguishes *Lanea eoeleanorae* from *L. omoalpha*. In contrast to *L. eleanorae*, the basal cavity is open with no bench developed along the blade.

Lanea telleri (SCHULZE, 1968)

Pl. 19, Figs. 11, 12

Material: 8 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 19, Figs. 11, 12)

- 1968 Spathognathodus steinhornensis telleri n. subsp. SCHULZE, p. 229; Pl. 17, Figs. 18, 19.
- 1978 Spathognathodus steinhornensis telleri SCHULZE SERPAGLI, GNOLI, MASTANDREA & OLIVIERI, PI. 27, Figs. 2, 6.
- 1980 Ozarkodina eleanorae LANE & ORMISTON KLAPPER & MUR-PHY, Figs. 4.1, 4.7-4.9, 4.13, 4.14.
- 1980b Pandorinellina steinhornensis telleri (SCHULZE) SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Fig. 20/52b.
- 1983 Ancyrodelloides eleanorae (LANE & ORMISTON) MURPHY & MATTI, PI. 4, Figs. 4–6.
- 1985a Ozarkodina steinhornensis telleri (SCHULZE) MASTANDREA, p. 254; Pl. 4, Figs. 2–6.
- 1987 Ancyrodelloides eleanorae (LANE & ORMISTON) MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Tab. 2, Figs. 1, 5, 6.
- 1991 Ancyrodelloides eleanorae (LANE & ORMISTON) KLAPPER, SWEET & ZIEGLER, p. 17; PI. 2, Fig. 3.
- 1994a Ancyrodelloides eleanorae (LANE & ORMISTON) VALENZUELA-Ríos, p. 50; Iam. 4, Figs. 10-12, 14-16.
- 1998a Pandorinellina steinhornensis telleri (SCHULZE) CORRADINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, PI. 2.3.1, Fig. 6 [= specimen PI. 4, Fig. 3; MASTANDREA, 1985a].
- 1999 Lanea telleri (SCHULZE) MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, p. 330; Pl. 2, Figs. 24–38.
- Description: The axis of the blade is gently arched. The lower margin of both processes is slightly bent down-

ward, with the highest point below the platform lobes. The basal platform is located posterior to the centre of the blade resulting in a shorter posterior process measuring about two-thirds the length of the anterior one. Denticles have a pallisade-like shape. They are raised anteriorly, descending towards the cusp. The anterior blade bears 10 denticles and the posterior one 4, with two of them enlarged. Mid-blade denticles are almost uniform, except those next to the cusp, which are smaller and less broad. The basal platform is terraced with less prominent anterior and bulging posterior benches along the blade. The cross-section of the broken platform lobe shows a narrow marginal ridge ("rim") framing the platform in upper view; it is a typical feature of this species. The basal cavity is restricted in its extension. It has a deep basal pit and adpressed anterior and posterior basal grooves. The surface of the blade and the platform is smooth, whereas denticles show fine striated texture.

Remarks: MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RIOS (1999) pointed out that juvenile Pa elements may lack the distinct rim in very early ontogenetic stages of the species. One of the specimens obtained (Plate 19, Fig. 12) is regarded as representing such a Pa element of a juvenile *Lanea telleri*. The element is similar to that figured in MASTANDREA (1985a; Plate 4, Fig. 5), with the exception that both platform lobes (although possessing slightly broken platform margins) join the blade in a right rather than acute angle. A shallow furrow-like depression of the anterior half of one of the lobes (extending parallel to anterior platform margin) is visible in upper view. In the Seewarte section *Lanea telleri* ranges from the middle to upper *delta* Zone.

Genus: Ozarkodina BRANSON & MEHL, 1933

Type species: Ozarkodina typica BRANSON & MEHL, 1933.

Ozarkodina camelfordensis FARRELL, 2004

Pl. 18, Fig. 5

Material: 1 specimen.

Pa element (Pl. 18, Fig. 5)

- 2003 Ozarkodina cf. canadensis (WALLISER) FARRELL, p. 135; Pl. 7, Figs. 3–10.
- 2004 Ozarkodina camelfordensis sp. nov. FARRELL, p. 966; PI. 7, Figs. 1–14.
- Description: The obtained element has a nearly straight axis with only the anteriormost part gently curved. The anterior process bears 6 denticles of uneven size with the second one largest. The posterior process covers 5 denticles of different size, the third and fourth (counted from the cusp distally) being enlarged. All are triangular in lateral view. The cusp is prominent too and almost as high as the second anterior denticle. The anterior lower margin is rather straight to slightly inclined, whereas the posterior one is weakly stepped. The basal platform is slightly asymmetrical, with a subequally rounded to tongue-like outline. The basal cavity occupies a nearly central position. Platform lobes gently taper distally, almost reaching the posterior margin before meeting the blade. Along the anterior process, the tapering margin of the lobes joins the blade at mid-length. The posterior basal groove remains open towards the posterior margin, whereas the anterior basal groove becomes closed below the anterior high denticles. The horizontal lower third of the blade is pinched proximally to either side of the platform lobes.
- Remarks: Pa elements of *Ozarkodina camelfordensis* are very similar in shape to *Ozarkodina canadensis*. Both possess an asymmetrical, tongue-like basal platform and enlarged

denticles (anteriormost and above the basal cavity). The diagnostic feature separating the species from each other is the development of 1 or 2 prominent denticles within the mid-region of the posterior process of *Ozarkodina camelfordensis*. The specimen found in the Seewarte section was obtained from Lower Lochkovian strata of the Rauchkofel Formation.

Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933)

Pl. 1, Fig. 3; Pl. 12, Figs. 1, 7; Pl. 13, Figs. 3, 5, 8, 9; Pl. 14, Figs. 2–11; Pl. 16, Figs. 1–7, 9; Pl. 17, Figs. 1–3, 5

General Remarks: MURPHY et al. (2004) elevated some of the most common conodont species around the Silurian-Devonian boundary to the level of newly introduced genus (e.g.: Ozarkodina excavata ssp. = Wurmiella sp.; Ozarkodina r. remscheidensis = Zieglerodina remscheidensis; Ozarkodina r. eosteinhornensis = W. eosteinhornensis). This proposition is not adopted herein. In their paper, they figured complete reconstructed apparatuses of 'Wurmiella excavata' and 'Wurmiella tuma' but no elements of 'Wurmiella excavata' and 'Wurmiella tuma' but no elements of 'Wurmiella excavata' and the descriptions of the proposed apparatuses of the latter two species are given in the text, except 'Wurmiella excavata' of which the Pa element (as most discriminative element distinguishing the species) is mentioned only in comparison with 'Wurmiella tuma' and 'Wurmiella wurmi' (page 11, therein).

Elements of the transition series that show great affinity to those in MURPHY et al. (2004, Figs. 2.23–2.28) are assigned to *Ozarkodina* cf. *O. excavata tuma* MURPHY & MAT-TI, 1983. The possibility, that the latter specimens are variations of *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* has to be taken into account, as MURPHY et al., 2004 (page 12) pointed out, that *'W. tuma'* represents a short-ranging species (middle Lochkovian) of local distribution in central Nevada. Platform elements of *O. excavata excavata* and *O. excavata tuma* can be discriminated easily by considering the ratio of denticle numbers to the entire length of the blade (MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, 1986). *Ozarkodina excavata tuma* is characterised by possessing a higher number of denticles per mm compared to *O. excavata excavata*.

Illustrated Pa elements assigned to *O. excavata excavata* differ from those figured in BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER (1992) by having exclusively a straight or stepped outline of the blade's lower margin. Following MURPHY et al. (2004) a convexo-concave or biconcave basal margin is one of the diagnostic features of *'Wurmiella wurmi'* within the revised diagnosis (page 12, therein).

Material: 1865 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 12, Fig. 7)

- 1933 *Trichognathus excavata* n. sp. BRANSON & MEHL, p. 51; Pl. 3, Figs. 35, 36.
- 1962 Trichonodella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) ETHINGTON & FURNISH, p. 1287; PI. 173, Fig. 8.
- 1964 *Trichonodella excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) WALLISER, p. 89; Pl. 8, Fig. 2; Pl. 31, Figs. 26, 27.
- 1966 *Trichonodella excavata* (ВRANSON & MEHL) PHILIP, p. 451; PI. 3, Fig. 22; PI. 4, Figs. 22, 29.
- 1971 Trichonodella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) BULTYNCK, p. 35; Pl. 2, Fig. 9?
- 1971 *Trichonodella excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 701; Pl. 79, Figs. 43?, 44–46.
- 1975 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) KLAPPER & MURPHY, p. 34; PI. 6, Figs. 5, 6.
- 1975 Trichonodella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TELFORD, p. 75; Pl. 16, Figs. 1–3.
- 1979 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 55; PI. 9, Fig. 22.
- 1985a Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MASTAN-DREA, p. 250; Pl. 1, Fig. 14?

- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 48; Pl. 4, Figs. 10–16.
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBE-CIOĞLU, Fig. 1.11.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SORENTINO, p. 92; Pl. 1, Figs. 13–15.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) WILSON, p. 137; Pl. 9, Figs. 12, 13.
- 1990 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 91; Pl. 14, Fig. 18.
- 1994 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 13. F.
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) FUREY-GREIG, PI. 1, Fig. 12.
- 1995 *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 147; Pl. 9, Figs. 14–16 [cum syn.].
- 1999 *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 6, Fig. 22; PI. 11, Fig. 14; PI. 12, Fig. 4.
- 2003 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 4, Figs. 5, 6?, 7–9.
- 2004 Wurmiella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY, VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, Figs. 2.35, 2.36.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VON BITTER & PUR-NELL, PI. 2, Figs. 14-17; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT, SIMPSON, MOLLOY & MAWSON, p. 282; Fig. 6, D; Fig. 8, F.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Fig. 2.
- 2006 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MATHIESON, p. 49; Pl. 12, Fig. J.
- Description: Sa elements are trichonodellan (no posterior process developed). Usually they bear discrete, closely-spaced denticles, fused at their base in some specimens. The cross-section of nearly equal-sized denticles is elliptical to lenticular. The majority of obtained Sa elements have strongly broken processes, so that the precise number of denticles cannot be determined. The cusp is parallel-sided in posterior view, but starts tapering to a point in the upper half to one-third. At its base it is only a little wider than the maximum width of the raised margin of the basal cavity; the latter is rather broad and has a bluntly rounded apex. The lower margin is arched including an angle of about 110 degrees. In lower view, elements show a bowed outline with outer margins of the processes pointing posteriorly. Shallow open to nearly inverted basal grooves taper towards either end of each lateral process. The transverse axis seems rather straight but, when measured, angles sometimes are less than 180 degrees (with the anterior margin in front of the basal cavity resembling the vertex). A ledge along the base of the denticles is not developed.

Sb element (Pl. 13, Figs. 3, 5)

- 1962 Plectospathodus extensus RHODES ETHINGTON & FURNISH, p. 1281; Pl. 173, Fig. 6.
- 1964 Plectospathodus extensus RHODES WALLISER, p. 64; Pl. 8, Fig. 1; Pl. 30, Figs. 13, 14.
- 1971 Plectospathodus extensus RHODES REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 698; Pl. 82, Figs. 1, 2.
- 1975 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) KLAPPER & MURPHY, p. 34; Pl. 6, Figs. 1, 2, 4.
- 1979 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 55; Pl. 9, Fig. 23.
- 1985a *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) MASTAN-DREA, p. 250; Pl. 1, Fig. 15.
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 48; Pl. 4, Figs. 17–20.
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBE-CIOĞLU, Fig. 1.12.
- 1987b Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 286; Pl. 31, Figs. 13, 14.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) sensu JEPPS-SON 1969 – JEPPSSON, p. 27; Pl. 3, Fig. 7.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SORENTINO, p. 92; Pl. 1, Fig. 16.

- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) WILSON, p. 137; PI. 9, Fig. 17.
- 1990 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 91; Pl. 14, Figs. 23?, 24?; Pl. 15, Fig. 17.
- 1994 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 13. G.
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 147; Pl. 9, Figs. 17–20 [cum syn.].
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 6, Fig. 21.
- 2003 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 4, Figs. 13–15.
- 2004 Wurmiella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY, VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, Fig. 2.29.
- 2004 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SLAVÍK & HLADIL, PI. 1, Figs. 17, 19?
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VON BITTER & PUR-NELL, Pl. 1, Figs. 1–4; Pl. 3, Figs. 1–9; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
- Description: Sb elements have a short anterior but a rather long posterior process (up to twice the length of the anterior one). The anterior process bears about 8 denticles, whereas the posterior one carries about 9 to 12 (in many specimens the posteriormost part of each process is broken, so that the exact number of denticles could not be counted). The blade is rather low, possessing no ledges. Denticles are discrete and closely spaced. Some elements have denticles that are fused at their base. They are needle-like with an elliptical cross-section, but generally tips are broken. Some elements bear a few smaller denticles on either side of the cusp. The cusp is inclined and pointed and about two-thirds the height of the blade. The lower margin is gently arched. The basal cavity is narrow with a lowly raised, bluntly rounded outer margin that reaches about one-third of the height of the blade in lateral view. The basal grooves start shallow with a inverted margin running towards the middle of each process, then becoming narrowly open or adpressed.

Sc element (Pl. 13, Figs. 8, 9)

- 1962 Hindeodella equidentata RHODES ETHINGTON & FURNISH, p. 1267; PI. 173, Fig. 2.
- 1964 Hindeodella equidentata RHODES WALLISER, p. 36; Pl. 8, Fig. 3; Pl. 32, Fig. 11.
- Hindeodella equidentata RHODES PHILIP, p. 445; PI. 3, Fig. 1.
 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) KLAPPER &
- MURPHY, p. 34; Pl. 6, Fig. 3. 1979 *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) – LANE & ORMISTON, p. 55; Pl. 9, Fig. 19.
- 1985a Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MASTAN-DREA, p. 250; Pl. 1, Fig. 21.
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 48; Pl. 4, Figs. 21, 22.
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Fig. 1.13.
- 1987b Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 286; Pl. 31, Figs. 15, 16.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SORENTINO, p. 92; Pl. 1, Figs. 17, 18.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) WILSON, p. 137; PI. 9, Fig. 18.
- 1990 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 91; Pl. 14, Fig. 25.
- 1994 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 13. H.
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 147; Pl. 9, Figs. 21–24 [cum syn.].
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 6, Fig. 20; Pl. 12, Fig. 3.
- 2003 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 4, Figs. 10, 12.
- 2004 Wurmiella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY, VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, Fig. 2.34.
- 2004 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SLAVÍK & HLADIL, PI. 1, Fig. 18.

2005 *Ozarkodina excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) – VON BITTER & PUR-NELL, Pl. 1, Figs. 1–4; Pl. 3, Figs. 10–15; Text-Figs. 2, 3.

2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) - TALENT, SIMPSON, MOLLOY & MAWSON, p. 282; Fig. 8, C.

- 2006 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MATHIESON, p. 49; Pl. 12, Figs. K-M.
- Description: Elements bear 7 to 8 denticles on the anterior process and about 15 (or more) on the posterior process. The denticles are needle-like and elliptical in cross-section. Near the cusp they are somewhat smaller, but enlarged successively towards the distal ends. The posterior process is bowed and meets the anterior process including an angle between 90 and 100 degrees. The basal cavity is narrow and extends as an open basal groove to the posterior margin. By contrast the anterior basal groove becomes inverted immediately in front of the anterior margin of the cusp in lower view. In lateral view the posterior process is gently arched and seems slightly stepped, whereas the lower margin of the anterior process remains straight. The cusp is rather high and slightly inclined with an elliptical cross-section (tip generally broken). A ledge is developed only close to the cusp beneath the proximal 2 and 5 denticles.

M element (Pl. 12, Fig. 1; Pl. 14, Fig. 2)

- 1933 Prioniodus excavatus n. sp. BRANSON & MEHL, p. 45; Pl. 3, Figs. 7, 8.
- 1962 Prioniodina bicurvata (BRANSON & MEHL) ETHINGTON & FUR-NISH, p. 1283; PI. 173, Fig. 17.
- 1964 *Neoprioniodus excavatus* (BRANSON & MEHL) WALLISER, p. 49; Pl. 8, Fig. 4; Pl. 29, Fig. 26, Text-Fig. 5.c.
- 1971 Neoprioniodus excavatus (BRANSON & MEHL) BULTYNCK, p. 3; PI. 2, Fig. 11.
- 1971 Neoprioniodus excavatus (BRANSON & MEHL) REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 692; Pl. 80, Figs. 6–9.
- 1975 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) KLAPPER & MURPHY, p. 34; Pl. 6, Figs. 7–10.
- ?1975 Synprioniodina bicurvata (BRANSON & MEHL) TELFORD, p. 70; Pl. 15, Figs. 6–11.
- 1979 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 55; PI. 9, Fig. 21.
- 1985a Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MASTAN-DREA, p. 250; Pl. 1, Fig. 11?
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 48; PI. 4, Figs. 8, 9.
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBE-CIOĞLU, Fig. 1.23.
- 1987b Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, p. 286; Pl. 31, Fig. 10.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) sensu JEPPSSON 1969 – JEPPSSON, p. 27; Pl. 3, Fig. 8.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SORENTI-NO, p. 92; Pl. 1, Figs. 10, 11.
- 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) WILSON, p. 137; Pl. 9, Figs. 14–16.
- 1990 *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 91; Pl. 8, Fig. 11; Pl. 14, Figs. 17?, 19?; Pl. 15, Fig. 15?
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) CAREY & BOLGER, p. 79; Fig. 3G.
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMPSON & TALENT, p. 147; PI. 9, Figs. 12, 13 [cum syn.].
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 12, Fig. 18.
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 4, Figs. 1, 4.
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VIIRA, PI. 1, Fig. 4?
- 2003 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 4, Figs. 1–4.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VON BITTER & PURNELL, PI. 3, Figs. 16–20; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Fig. 8.
- 2006 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MA-THIESON, p. 49; PI. 12, Fig. N.

- Description: Two different types of M elements were recognized, one type possessing a short anterior process bearing up to 3 denticles (Plate 12, Fig. 1); this feature is lacking on the other type. The posterior process includes numerous denticles (more than 13). Denticles are discrete (aligned to closely-spaced) and nearly equal-sized with an elliptical to lenticular cross-section. The cusp is very prominent and high. The inner lower margin below the cusp is curved, possessing a slightly angular vertex pointing downward (broadly V-shaped). The inner anterior lower margin is bent upward, whereas the posterior one is evenly curved downward. The basal cavity is wider beneath the cusp on the inner side and continues as a shallow open groove towards the posterior margin. The anterior basal groove is shallow proximally and narrows towards the tip along the raised anterior lower margin.
- Remarks: The most distinctive feature discriminating M elements is the outline of the inner lower margin below the cusp and the adjacent anterior area. WALLISER (1964) compared the differing shapes and concluded there were four types (Text-Fig. 5, therein).

Pa element

- (PI. 1, Fig. 3; PI. 14, Fig. 2; PI. 16, Figs. 1–7, 9; PI. 17, Figs. 1–3, 5)
 1933 Ozarkodina simplex n. sp. BRANSON & MEHL, p. 52; PI. 3,
 - Figs. 46, 47. 1962 Spathognathodus dubius n. sp. ETHINGTON & FURNISH, p.
 - 1286; Pl. 172, Fig. 1.
 - 1964 Spathognathodus inclinatus inclinatus (RHODES) WALLISER,
 p. 76; Pl. 8, Fig. 6; Pl. 19, Figs. 6?, 8–11, 18?, 19?; Pl. 20, Fig. 18.
 - 1966 Spathognathodus inclinatus inclinatus (RHODES) PHILIP, p. 450; PI. 1, Figs. 30, 31, 34, 35, 37–39.
 - 1971 Ozarkodina simplex BRANSON & MEHL REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 694; Pl. 80, Figs. 26–31.
 - 1975 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) KLAP-PER & MURPHY, p. 34; Pl. 6, Figs. 13–20.
 - 1979 *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 55; Pl. 2, Figs. 30, 31; Pl. 9, Fig. 20.
 - 1983 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & MATTI, PI. 1, Figs. 1, 2.
 - 1985a Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAS-TANDREA, p. 250; Pl. 1, Figs. 17, 20?
 - 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON, p. 48; Pl. 4, Figs. 1?, 2–4.
 - 1986 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Figs. 1.16–1.17; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
 - 1987b Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON, p. 286; Pl. 31, Fig. 11.
 - 1989 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) sensu JEPPSSON 1969 – JEPPSSON, p. 27; Pl. 3, Fig. 6?
 - 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) -SORENTINO, p. 92; Pl. 1, Figs. 1-9, 19.
 - 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) WIL-SON, p. 137; Pl. 9, Figs. 1-7.
 - 1990 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO,
 p. 91; Pl. 3, Fig. 11; Pl. 8, Fig. 10; Pl. 14, Figs. 14–16,
 31; Pl. 15, Fig. 16?
- non 1992 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) BARDA-SHEV & ZIEGLER, PI. 1, Figs. 1, 12.
 - 1994 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON & TALENT, Fig. 13. A, B.
 - 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) COLQHUOUN, PI. 1, Fig. 16.
 - 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) FUREY-GREIG, Pl. 1, Figs. 13, 14.
 - 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMP-SON & TALENT, p. 147; PI. 8, Figs. 16–25; PI. 9, Figs. 1–6 [cum syn.].
 - 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 12, Fig. 15.
 - 1998 *Ozarkodina excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) ÇAPKINOĞLU & ВЕКТАŞ, p. 164; Pl. 1, Figs. 15, 16, 18–20, non Figs. 14, 17, 21–23.

- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) BENFRIKA, p. 315; Pl. 1, Fig. 7.
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 5, Figs. 1–4; Pl. 7, Fig. 14; Pl. 9, Fig. 8; Pl. 11, Figs. 12, 13; Pl. 12, Fig. 1.
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VIIRA, PI. 1, Figs. 1, 2.
- 2003 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 3, Figs. 1–14.
 2004 Wurmiella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) – MURPHY, VALEN-
- ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, Figs. 2.30, 2.31, 2.33. 2004b Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) – SLAVÍK, PI.
- 1, Figs. 10, 11. 2004 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) – SLAVÍK &
- HLADIL, PI. 1, Fig. 14.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VON BITTER & PUR-NELL, PI. 1, Figs. 5, 6; PI. 2, Figs. 1–8; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT, SIMPSON, MOLLOY & MAWSON, p. 282; Fig. 8, D.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Fig. 9.
- 2006 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MATHIESON, p. 49; Pl. 12, Figs. A-H.
- Description: Specimens have a rather long blade bearing 15 to 20 denticles. Denticles are discrete, but variable in shape, stout to palisade-like. They are more or less of equal height with an oval to elliptical cross-section. Some specimens have a few denticles enlarged but not following a particular pattern. The cusp usually is similar in size and shape to the denticles. The blade axis is straight or arched. A few elements show a slight twisting of the distal parts of the blade. Ledges are not or weakly developed, becoming more prominent among specimens in higher stratigraphic position. The lower margin is straight to stepped. The basal cavity is relatively small and has a position centred or posterior mid-length. The platform lobes are asymmetrical with the inner lobe more expanded and inflated so that the basal cavity is visible in lateral view on the inner side. In some specimens the outer margin of the platform lobes tapers gradually towards the posterior margin in lower view. Usually both lobes have a smooth surface, but a few elements developed a weak shoulder on the inner one. The basal cavity is moderately deep with an open anterior basal groove that can become adpressed towards the anterior margin, and an open posterior basal groove which tends to be inverted distally.

Pb element (Pl. 14, Figs. 3–11)

- 1962 Ozarkodina media WALLISER ETHINGTON & FURNISH, p. 1278; PI. 173, Fig. 19.
- 1964 *Ozarkodina media* WALLISER WALLISER, p. 58; Pl. 8, Fig. 5; Pl. 26, Figs. 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 28?
- non 1966 Ozarkodina media WALLISER CLARK & ETHINGTON, p. 681; Pl. 82, Fig. 25.
 - 1966 *Ozarkodina media* WALLISER PHILIP, p. 447; PI. 1, Figs. 29, 32, 33.
 - 1971 Ozarkodina media WALLISER REXROAD & CRAIG, p. 693; Pl. 80, Figs. 22–24.
 - 1975 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) KLAP-PER & MURPHY, p. 34; Pl. 6, Figs. 11, 12.
 - 1979 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 55; PI. 9, Fig. 18.
 - 1985a *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) MAS-TANDREA, p. 250; Pl. 1, Fig. 19?
 - 1986 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON, p. 48; Pl. 4, Figs. 5–7.
 - 1986 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Fig. 1.10.
 - 1987b Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON, p. 286; Pl. 31, Fig. 12.
 - 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SORENTINO, p. 92; Pl. 1, Fig. 12.
 - 1989 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) WIL-SON, p. 137; Pl. 9, Figs. 8–11.
 - 1990 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) UYENO, p. 91; Pl. 3, Fig. 12; Pl. 8, Fig. 7; Pl. 14, Fig. 11; Pl. 15, Fig. 18.

- 1994 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON & TALENT, Fig. 13. C, D.
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) CAREY & BOLGER, p. 79; Fig. 3H.
- 1995 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SIMP-SON & TALENT, p. 147; PI. 9, Figs. 7–11 [cum syn.].
- 1999 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 4, Fig. 3; PI. 6, Fig. 19; PI. 9, Fig. 9; PI. 12, Fig. 2.
- 1999 *Ozarkodina excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL) VIIRA, Pl. 1, Fig. 3.
- 2003 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAW-SON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, PI. 3, Figs. 15–19.
- 2004 Wurmiella excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY, VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, Fig. 2.32.
- 2004 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) SLAVÍK & HLADIL, PI. 1, Fig. 15?
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) VON BITTER & PURNELL, PI. 2, Figs. 9–13; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
- 2005 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) TROT-TER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Fig. 7.
- 2006 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MATH-IESON, p. 49; PI. 12, Fig. I.
- Description: Elements consist of two long processes with a nearly straight axis. The anterior process is about one-third to half the length of the posterior one, bearing 4 to 9 denticles. The posterior process has 6 to 14 denticles. Generally the blade is rather low with stout to palisade-like denticles possessing free-pointed tips. The cross-section of the denticles is elliptical, but can be lenticular in specimens with a rather adpressed blade. In some elements the base of the denticles on the posterior process is located a little lower than along the anterior one. A weak ledge (or none) is developed near the denticle's base. The cusp is slightly inclined oval to elliptical in cross-section and usually two-thirds longer compared to the height of the denticles. The lower margin is straight or gently curved including an angle of 113 to 142 degrees between the anterior and posterior processes. The basal platform is rounded, but asymmetrical with the inner lobe higher, so that the basal cavity is visible in lateral view on the inner side. The basal pit is located beneath the centre of the cusp. The basal grooves remain open, tapering towards either margin in lower view. In some specimens with an adpressed blade both basal grooves are open proximally becoming adpressed distally.
- Remarks: Though some specimens have a higher number of denticles, the ratio (denticles/mm) calculated is closer to values of *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* rather than of *O. excavata tuma*. Such elements (e.g.: Plate 14, Fig. 3) possibly represent transitional forms, but remain within the assigned group, because they lack the prominent ledge typical for *O. excavata tuma*.

Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983

Pl. 12, Figs. 9, 10; Pl. 13, Figs. 1, 2, 13; Pl. 16, Figs. 8, 10

Material: 18 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 12, Figs. 9, 10)

- aff. 2004 Wurmiella tuma (MURPHY & MATTI) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 11; Figs. 2.27, 2.28.
- Description: Sa elements are trichonodellan with discrete, closely-spaced denticles, which are needle-like with elliptical to lenticular cross-section. Denticles are of equal size, except some specimens that have smaller intercalated denticles, which are not alternating along the entire process. The cusp is parallel-sided in posterior view, but starts tapering to a point in the upper half to one-third. Processes bear about 9 denticles. The lower margin is arched, including an angle of about 135 degrees. In lower view, elements show a bowed outline
with outer margins of each process pointing in posterior direction. Open basal grooves taper towards either end of each lateral process becoming adpressed distally. The transverse axis seems rather straight, but when measured angles can include 155 to 165 degrees (with the anterior margin in front of the basal cavity resembling the vertex). The basal cavity is rather narrow with a raised posterior margin with a rounded apex (lancet-like). The raised part of the margin is about a half to two-thirds of the width of the lower part of the cusp. In some specimens the basal pit is triangular and of moderate depth, whereas others possess only a shallow pit. A ledge along the base of the denticles is developed in some elements, extending from near the cusp to the third to sixth denticle.

Sb element (Pl. 13, Figs. 1, 2)

- aff. 2004 Wurmiella tuma (MURPHY & MATTI) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Rios & CARLS, p. 11; Figs. 2.23, 2.24.
- Description: Obtained elements have a short anterior process with more than 6 denticles (minimum number of denticles resulting from the high degree of breakage). The posterior process is up to twice the length of the anterior one. The central axis is straight to arched. The blade is rather low possessing no or only weakly developed ledges beneath the denticles proximal to the cusp. Denticles are discrete and usually closely spaced and sometimes fused at their base. They are needle-like with elliptical to lenticular cross-section. Some elements bear one or two smaller denticles on either side of the cusp. The cusp is inclined and pointed and about two-thirds the height of the blade. The lower margin is slightly arched. The basal cavity is narrow with a low, raised outer margin of which the apex reaches about a guarter of the height of the blade. The basal margin remains uninverted with open basal grooves that extend about half the length along the posterior process before becoming adpressed (anterior extent is questionable due to breakage).

Sc element (Pl. 13, Fig. 13)

- aff. 2004 Wurmiella tuma (MURPHY & MATTI) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 11; Figs. 2.25, 2.26.
- Remarks: The figured element is similar in shape to those assigned to *Ozarkodina excavata excavata*, differing only in few, but distinct features. The angle included between posterior and anterior process is wider than 150 degrees. The lower margin of the posterior process is slightly down curving. The basal cavity is narrow, but contrary to *Ozarkodina excavata excavata*, it extends along either side as open basal groove becoming adpressed distally. The ledge along the posterior process is more prominent.

Pa element (Pl. 16, Figs. 8, 10)

- aff. 1983 Ozarkodina excavata subspecies tuma n. subsp. MURPHY & MATTI, p. 7; Pl. 1, Figs. 3–9.
- aff. 1986 Ozarkodina tuma MURPHY & MATTI MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, Figs. 1.1–1.7; Text-Figs. 2, 3.
- aff. 2004 Wurmiella tuma (MURPHY & MATTI) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 11; Figs. 2.16–2.19.
- Description: Some specimens of the *excavata* group show a higher number of denticles, a more pronounced ledge and small but shouldered, asymmetrical platform lobes. The lower profile is stepped (Plate 16, Fig. 8) or nearly straight (Plate 16, Fig. 10). Values of the calculated ratio (denticles/mm) of the few Pa elements obtained, cover an intermediate position between both clusters (*Ozarkodina excavata excavata* and *O. excavata tuma*), but tend to be closer to the lower limit of what is classified as *Ozarkodina tuma* (compare scatter diagram, MURPHY & CEBECIOĞLU, 1986: Fig. 2).
- Remarks: Elements of this species differ from Ozarkodina excavata excavata in possessing a markedly high ratio of

denticle number in relation to blade length and from *Ozarkodina wurmi* in having a straight or stepped lower profile.

Ozarkodina excavata ssp.

Pl. 12, Fig. 2

Material: 10 specimens.

M element (Pl. 12, Fig. 2)

- 1994 Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 13. E.
- Remarks: The obtained elements are very similar to those assigned to *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933), but differ in possessing denticles alternating in size along the posterior process. The sequence starts with one denticle of average size alternating with a small one. Variation in denticle size is restricted to the proximal half of the posterior process. Denticles along the distal half of the process are again rather equal in size. The posterior process bears between 17 and 20 denticles.

Following the proposal of MURPHY et al. (2004, p. 10, final paragraph of the first column, therein), non-platform elements assigned to the apparatus of *'Wurmiella'* (= *Ozarkodina excavata* ssp.) generally include equidentate denticulation. Intercalations of single smaller denticles may occur in this nominal genus. The illustrated element shows denticles of alternating size, but in accordance with the distinct outline of the inner basal margin it is assigned to *Ozarkodina excavata* ssp.

Ozarkodina pandora alpha morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, 1981

Pl. 19, Figs. 1-3

Material: 7 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 19, Figs. 1-3)
 - 1981 *Ozarkodina pandora* alpha morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, p. 763; Pl. 1, Figs. 1–13, 15–16, 22–24; Pl. 2, Fig. 13; Pl. 3, Figs. 3–5; Text-Figs. 4, 8, 9, 11, 12.
 - 1985 Ozarkodina pandora alpha morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER – CHLUPÁČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Figs. 2, 11, 18.
 - 1985b *Ozarkodina* cf. *pandora* alpha morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER – SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Figs. 6?, 7?, 8, 9, 11, 15.
- aff. 1987 Ozarkodina pandora MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER WEDDI-GE, Text-Fig. 2.
 - 1989 *Ozarkodina pandora* alpha morph MURPHY, MATTI & WAL-LISER – SORENTINO, p. 94; Pl. 3, Fig. 16?
 - 1989 *Ozarkodina pandora* MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER WIL-SON, p. 139; Pl. 12, Figs. 1, 4, 5.
 - 1998 Ozarkodina pandora MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER ÇAPKI-NOĞLU & BEKTAŞ, p. 164; Pl. 2, Figs. 12–14.
 - 1999 *Ozarkodina pandora* alpha morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER BENFRIKA, p. 315; Pl. 1, Figs. 16–18.
 - 1999 *Ozarkodina pandora* alpha morph MURPHY, MATTI & WAL-LISER – TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 8, Figs. 8, 10, non Fig. 9.
 - 2004 Ozarkodina pandora alpha morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER FARRELL, p. 972; Pl. 6, Figs. 14–15.
 - 2004 Ozarkodina pandora alpha morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER SLAVÍK & HLADIL, p. 149; Pl. 1, Fig. 11.
- Description: Elements have a nearly straight to slightly arched axis. The blade usually has fused to unspaced but discrete denticles with pointed tips; these have a lenticular to oval cross-section. Denticles and cusp are of uniform height (except for one specimen on Plate 19, Fig. 1) forming a nearly horizontal upper profile with their tips pointing posteriorly. The anterior margin is slightly

rounded. The lower margin is stepped to straight. The platform covers more than half the entire blade length. Two unequally wide lobes are visible in upper view. One of them is rounded but narrow compared with a much larger second lobe. The latter expands abruptly anterior to the middle of the blade, continuing with its outer margin parallel to the blade and starting to taper gradually to the posterior margin somewhat behind the cusp. Both lobes are unornamented. The basal cavity is medium to shallow and remains open to the posterior tip of the blade. The anterior groove is narrow open to adpressed.

Remarks: The specimen on Plate 19, Fig. 2 seems to be an early representative of *O. pandora* alpha morph according to the outline of the lateral profile of the blade, which is not as low as it is common for this species. On the other hand the platform is broadly expanded and tapers to the posterior margin, standing in contrast to the platform development of its progenitor *Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis*.

The specimen on Plate 19, Fig. 1 possesses needle-like denticles of equal size, but has an enlarged cusp, which differs from the original description of MURPHY et al. (1981). All denticles point anteriorly. The deformed specimen may be the result of shear stress within a small faulted area of the outcrop, from which the figured element was obtained. The basal cavity seems typical for the alpha morph, but has a more spear-like outline, a feature that is diagnostic for the pi morph (MURPHY & MATTI, 1983). Following the remarks of MURPHY & MATTI, the pi morph is intermediate in form between the alpha and zeta morphs that occurs in the lower part of the pesavis Zone. The specimen from the Seewarte was found in the late delta Zone from a bed a few metres below the first occurrence of Pedavis sp. (M2 elements only). Compared to figured type material (MURPHY & MATTI, 1983: Plate 1, Figs. 10-24) the specimen herein is regarded as closer to the alpha morph with features of the pi morph.

Ozarkodina aff. O. pandora beta morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, 1981

Pl. 19, Fig. 13

Material: 2 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 19, Fig. 13)

- aff. 1981 Ozarkodina pandora beta morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, p. 763; Pl. 1, Figs. 17–21, 25–31, 36–38; Text-Figs. 4, 8, 9, 11.
- aff. 1985 Ozarkodina pandora beta morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER CHLUPÁČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Figs. 8, 10, 12.
- aff. 1989 Ozarkodina pandora MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER SORENTI-NO, p. 94; Pl. 3, Fig. 10?
- aff. 1989 Ozarkodina pandora beta morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLIS-ER – WILSON, p. 139; PI. 12, Figs. 2, 3.
- aff. 1998 Ozarkodina pandora beta morfotipi MURPHY, MATTI & WAL-LISER – ÇAPKINOĞLU & BEKTAŞ, p. 164; Pl. 2, Figs. 15–18.
- Description: A fragmented Pa element with a low adpressed blade with widely spaced denticles and a stepped lower margin. Denticles are discrete and nearly triangular in lateral view with subcircular to lenticular cross-section. The platform is rounded with its centre located slightly anterior to the cusp. Lobes are of unequal width, with the wider one bearing a ridge linked with the blade. Both lobes expand abruptly in the anterior half of the blade and taper with an only narrowly expanded platform margin below the tip of the cusp (in upper view) along the posterior process extending to the posterior margin. The basal cavity is shallow. Basal grooves are

open proximally and run adpressed towards either margin.

Remarks: Considering that the platform lobes taper to a point at the posterior margin, with one lobe ornamented, and with the presence of discrete, widely spaced denticles, it is concluded, that the element does not belong to the *eosteinhornensis* lineage (MURPHY et al., 2004: Fig. 1). The specimen shows strong affinity to Pa elements of *O. pandora* beta morph. Due to breakage of the anterior and posterior portions of the blade and the evidence, that the specimen occurs within the *delta* Zone, it is not assigned to the suggested morphotype with certainty.

Ozarkodina cf. O. pandora zeta morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, 1981

Pl. 20, Fig. 11

Material: 1 specimen. Pa element (Pl. 20, Fig. 11)

- cf. 1981 Ozarkodina pandora zeta morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, p. 765; PI. 2, Fig. 20; Text-Fig. 4.
- cf. 1985 Ozarkodina pandora zeta morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER – CHLUPÁČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Figs. 6, 7, 9.
- cf. 1989 Ozarkodina pandora zeta morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER – MURPHY, Fig. 1.1.
- cf. 2003 Ozarkodina pandora zeta morphotype MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER FARRELL, p. 136; PI. 7, Figs. 15–19.
- Remarks: The obtained specimen differs from O. pandora zeta morph and morphs of Eognathodus sulcatus in exhibiting only a small platform with one lobe being square and the other more triangular (if not broken?). The blade is low in lateral view with one process entirely broken off. The main axis is arched. Due to the bad condition of the element it is questionable whether the remaining process is the anterior one. Five broken denticles possibly with unfused tips (counted from the one end of the remaining process in the direction to the platform) are followed by a ridge consisting of 4 to 5 fused denticles. Fusion of denticles around the mid-blade is characteristic for Pa elements of O. pandora zeta morph. The most proximal denticle of the fused ridge-like part of the carina seems to join the cusp (close to where the lateral margin of the squareshaped lobe, pointing to the preserved process, meets the blade) with a slight offset in upper view. This feature is diagnostic for Eognathodus irregularis (DRUCE, 1971), but the obtained specimen lacks the irregular nature of denticulation along the blade. The lowermost part of the blade along the area close to the straight lower margin is adpressed. Both platform lobes are free of any ornament.

Ozarkodina aff. O. paucidentata MURPHY & MATTI, 1983

Pl. 18, Fig. 10

Material: 1 specimen.

Pa element (Pl. 18, Fig. 10)

- aff. 1977 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) α morphotype CHATTERTON & PERRY – CHATTERTON & PERRY, p. 786; PI. 3, Figs. 28–35; PI. 4, Figs. 31, 33–36.
- aff. 2003 Ozarkodina sp. cf. O. paucidentata MURPHY & MATTI MAW-SON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 93; PI. 4, Figs. 19, 20.
- Description: The element has a straight axis with 6 denticles on the anterior and 5 denticles on the posterior process. Denticles are blunt and fused at the base. The cusp is enlarged, triangular in lateral view with a rounded tip. Mid-blade denticles including the cusp show a sub-

rounded cross-section which changes to lenticular shape among the distal denticles. The upper profile of the anterior process is slightly curved resulting in somewhat larger denticles distally. The posterior blade is about onethird lower compared to the height of the anterior blade. Denticles are smaller forming a rather straight upper profile. A weak pinch zone is developed in the lower part of the blade. The basal platform is located posterior to midlength, possessing broad, subequal rounded lobes. The anterior and posterior margin of the platform lobes close to the blade taper distally, except that the basal walls of the posterior blade are wider in lower view. The proximal basal walls of the anterior platform margin decline faster somewhat below the second denticle (in front of the cusp) with an anterior basal groove that narrows in the middle part of the anterior process, becoming adpressed towards the distal end.

Remarks: In contrast with the specimens presented by KLAPPER & MURPHY (1975) referred to Ozarkodina n. sp. E, which later were renamed by MURPHY & MATTI (1983), the obtained element lacks the distinct squeeze-like proximal posterior process. The diagnostic paucity of denticles of the posterior process is less well developed compared to the figured type material. The obtained Pa element is similar to that illustrated by MAWSON et al. (2003). The authors decided to use open nomenclature due to the differing shape of the denticles. CHATTERTON & PERRY (1977) described a "new form α " of Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis, of which Pa elements show a prominent cusp and a lowered profile of the posterior process, but their specimens differ from the present one by possessing more discrete and needle-like denticles and slightly inclined lower margins of both processes.

Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis (WALLISER, 1964) alpha morph MURPHY, VALENZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, 2004

Pl. 20, Fig. 10

Material: 1 specimen.

Pa element (Pl. 20, Fig. 10)

- aff. 1964 Spathognathodus steinhornensis eosteinhornensis n. ssp. WAL-LISER, p. 85; Pl. 20, Figs. 19, 22.
- aff. 1989 Ozarkodina S. eosteinhornensis (WALLISER) sensu JEPPSSON 1975 – JEPPSSON, p. 28; Pl. 2, Figs. 1–3.
- aff. 2004 W eosteinhornensis (WALLISER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 16; Figs. 2.45–2.47; Figs. 3.33–3.35.
- Description: The obtained material is broken with only the part of the mid blade preserved. In lateral view a high denticle is aligned with the blade developed on one platform lobe. Such an alignement is not visible on the opposite side. Four denticles (two of them complete) are discernible, fused at the base, and possessing low, bluntly rounded tips and a nearly oval cross-section. The proximal basal grooves are shallow. All other distinctive features remain unclear due to breakage.
- Remarks: The remaining part of the Pa element is nearly identical with the elements figured by WALLISER, 1964 (Plate 20, Figs. 19, 20). According to the stratigraphic position (*detorta* Zone), and the fact that one of the platform lobes is ornamented in a specific way, a close relation to the former *Ozarkodina steinhornensis eosteinhornensis* is concluded. This taxon was reinvestigated by MURPHY et al. (2004) and included in their newly established "New Genus W" as *"W eosteinhornensis"*. They discriminated three morphotypes in *"W eosteinhornensis"* (alpha, beta and tau morphs). The described specimen resembles the alpha morph by possessing a certain denticle fusion and a conspicuous denticle on one of the platform lobes.

Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis (WALLISER, 1964) beta morph MURPHY, VALENZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, 2004

Pl. 18, Fig. 2

Material: 3 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 18, Fig. 2)

- aff. 2004 W eosteinhornensis (WALLISER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 16.
- Description: The blade axis is gently arched with bluntly rounded denticles that are nearly of uniform height with elliptical cross-section. Some differ in being somewhat wider at the base. The cusp is not enlarged and is very similar in shape to the other denticles. The lower margin is nearly straight. The basal platform is asymmetrical and seems to be positioned posterior the mid-length. One of the lobes is subrectangular and wider than broad, whereas the second lobe is rounded to heart-shaped. Both lobes are unornamented. The anterior and posterior margins of the platform lobes are not constricted where they join the blade. A weak pinch zone is developed anteriorly and posteriorly of the platform. Each of the basal grooves remains open proximally. The anterior one tapers to a point distally.
- Remarks: The material is very similar to Ozarkodina remscheidensis baccata described by MILLER & ALDRIDGE, 1997 (Plate 1, Figs. 9, 12) from the Upper Ludlow of the Welsh Borderland and Wales. It differs slightly in outline and position of the platform. Due to the broken posterior process, it is unclear whether the specimen possessed a step-like extension beyond the last denticle or not, and how the posterior basal groove continued distally. The Pa element seems closely related to O. r. eosteinhornensis mainly because of the relatively even denticulation, the presence of an asymmetrical platform with one of the lobes being subrectangular, as well as regarding its stratigraphic position (lower? delta Zone). Nevertheless it could not be assigned to Ozarkodina remscheidensis eosteinhomensis with certainty due to the margin of the platform being not constricted where the lobes join the blade (MURPHY et al., 2004: page 16). As both platform lobes remain unornamented, relationship to the beta morph is suggested.

Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960)

Pl. 12, Figs. 5, 6, 8; Pl. 17, Figs. 6-13; Pl. 18, Fig. 1

General Remarks: MURPHY et al. (2004) figured all elements suggested for the apparatus of their new genus 'Zieglerodina'. They assigned only elements obtained from beds e and f of the section at Untenrüden (Rhenish Slate Mountains) to 'Zieglerodina remscheidensis'. Similar elements from bed 40 of the Cellon section (Carnic Alps) and from glacial erratic boulders (northern Germany) were classified only at genus-level.

According to the high variability of some features within elements of the *O. remscheidensis* ssp. material from the type locality, morphological differences in elements of the apparatus from the Carnic Alps are possibly of intraspecific nature compared with the assemblage in MUR-PHY et al. (2004). Specimens from the Seewarte are therefore left within *Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis*.

Material: 229 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 12, Fig. 8)

- 1979 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 1, Fig. 36.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) PICKETT, Fig. 13.A.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SERPAGLI & MASTANDREA, p. 39; Pl. 1, Fig. 6.

- 1985a Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MASTAN-DREA, p. 252; Pl. 1, Fig. 7.
- 1986 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 49; PI. 6, Figs. 14–17.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SORENTI-NO, p. 93; Pl. 3, Figs. 15, 17.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) WILSON, p. 138; Pl. 11, Fig. 15.
- 1990 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, p.
 93; Pl. 5, Fig. 36?; Pl. 16, Fig. 37?; Pl. 17, Fig. 30 [cum syn.].
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER COL-QUHOUN, PI. 3, Fig. 13.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 90; PI. 2, Fig. 16 [cum syn.].
- 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 13; Fig. 3.20.
- 2004 Zieglerodina sp. MURPHY, VALENZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, p. 12; Figs. 3.30, 3.31.
- Description: The cusp is subcircular to rather triangular with rounded edges in cross-section. The anterior margin of the cusp is recessed, meeting the proximal parts of both processes not in a line in upper view. No posterior process is developed. A short, rounded, not raised margin of the small basal cavity extends posteriorly. Each process bears 5 to 7 denticles of almost uniform size and shape. The lower margin of both processes includes an angle of nearly 90 degrees.
- Remarks: In the description of Sa elements assigned to this genus, MURPHY et al. (2004) pointed out, that the blades are short but high, including an angle of 65 to 80 degrees. These features differ slightly in some of the obtained specimens. The blade is not very high and the angle included reaches up to a maximum of 90 degrees. Nonetheless the distinct recessed position of the cusp is visible in all specimens.

Sb element

- 1979 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 1, Fig. 35.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SERPAGLI & MASTANDREA, p. 39; Pl. 1, Fig. 10.
- 1985a Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MASTAN-DREA, p. 252; Pl. 1, Fig. 12.
- 1986 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 49; Pl. 6, Fig. 18.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SO-RENTINO, p. 93; PI. 4, Figs. 4–6.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) WILSON, p. 138; PI. 11, Fig. 14.
- 1990 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, p. 93; Pl. 5, Fig. 31; Pl. 16, Fig. 39?; Pl. 17, Fig. 31 [cum syn.].
- 1999 *Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis* (ZIEGLER) TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 12, Fig. 14.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 90; Pl. 2, Fig. 17 [cum syn.].
- 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 13; Figs. 3.21–3.23.
- Description: Elements have a long posterior process bearing large denticles alternating with sets of 2 to 3 small denticles. Denticles are discrete with pointed tips and elliptical to lenticular cross-section. No ledge is developed below the base of the denticles. The blade is slightly undulating with a somewhat wavy lower margin. The basal cavity is small and the basal grooves are shallow proximally, becoming inverted distally.
- Remarks: Elements differ from those assigned to *O. r. eosteinhornensis* by lacking pronounced ledges, but exhibit undulating blades with irregularly spaced and alternating denticles.

Sc element

- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) PICKETT, Fig. 13.C.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SERPAGLI & MASTANDREA, p. 39; Pl. 1, Fig. 11.
- 1985a Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MASTAN-DREA, p. 252; Pl. 1, Fig. 6.
- 1986 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 49; Pl. 6, Figs. 19, 20.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SORENTI-NO, p. 93; Pl. 4, Figs. 1–3, 7.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) WILSON, p. 138; Pl. 11, Fig. 16.
- 1990 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, p. 93; Pl. 5, Fig. 32; Pl. 16, Fig. 40?; Pl. 17, Fig. 29 [cum syn.].
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER COL-QUHOUN, PI. 3, Fig. 2.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 13, Fig. 17.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) VIIRA, PI.
 3, Fig. 13.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 90; PI. 2, Figs. 18, 19 [cum syn.].
- 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 13; Fig. 3.24.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; PI. 18, Fig. 4.
- 2006 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MATH-IESON, p. 56; Pl. 19, Fig. S.
- Description: Elements have a long, evenly curved posterior process joining the shorter anterior extremity. The blade covers irregular alternating denticles; these are discrete with pointed tips and elliptical cross-section. The cusp and larger denticles are reclined, pointing slightly to the inner side. No ledge is evident at the base of the denticles. The blade is undulating. The basal cavity is small passing into adpressed basal grooves.

M element (Pl. 12, Figs. 5, 6)

- 1979 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 1, Fig. 17.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SERPAGLI & MASTANDREA, p. 39; Pl. 1, Fig. 1.
- 1985a Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MASTAN-DREA, p. 252; Pl. 1, Fig. 4.
- 1986 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 49; Pl. 6, Figs. 12, 13.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SOREN-TINO, p. 93; Pl. 3, Fig. 19.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) WILSON, p. 138; Pl. 11, Figs. 11, 12.
- 1990 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, p. 93; Pl. 5, Fig. 37; Pl. 16, Fig. 38?; Pl. 17, Fig. 34 [cum syn.].
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER COL-QUHOUN, PI. 3, Fig. 7.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 13, Fig. 19.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) TALENT & MAWSON, Pl. 12, Fig. 15.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) VIIRA, PI. 3, Fig. 9?
- 2001 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) PACKHAM, PERCIVAL, RICKARDS & WRIGHT, Fig. 2G.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 90; Pl. 2, Fig. 15 [cum syn.].
- 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 13; Figs. 3.14–3.16, 3.19.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) CORRADI-NI, SIMONETTO, SERVENTI, RIGO & CALLIGARIS, Fig. 5d.
- 2006 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MATH-IESON, p. 56; Pl. 19, Fig. T.

- Description: Elements possess a very high cusp with a pointed, slightly inwardly-directed tip. The anterior blade is rather low with 3 denticles decreasing distally. The posterior blade is steeply descending and usually has no prominent ledge developed. It bears more than 10 denticles alternating in size, with the distal part of the process often broken. Denticles are closely spaced with their tips erect. The lower margin of the processes includes an angle between 90 and 100 degrees. The basal cavity is flattened on the outer side, possessing a well-rounded margin on the inner side. The posterior basal groove is narrowly open. The anterior groove is open proximally, becoming adpressed in many specimens.
- Pa element (Pl. 17, Figs. 6-13; Pl. 18, Fig. 1)
 - 1960 *Spathognathodus remscheidensis* n. sp. ZIEGLER, p. 194; PI. 13, Figs. 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 14?
 - 1960 Spathognathodus cf. frankenwaldensis BISCHOFF & SANNE-MANN – ZIEGLER, PI. 13, Fig. 13.
- non 1966 Spathognathodus remscheidensis ZIEGLER CLARK & ETH-INGTON, p. 686; Pl. 84, Figs. 12, 14.
 - 1968 Spathognathodus steinhornensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER SCHULZE, p. 228; Pl. 17, Fig. 12.
- non 1969 Spathognathodus steinhornensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER CARLS & GANDL, p. 197; Pl. 19, Fig. 2.
 - 1969 Spathognathodus remscheidensis ZIEGLER KLAPPER, p. 21; PI. 4, Figs. 1–3?, 4–12.
 - 1969b Spathognathodus steinhornensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER PÖLSLER, p. 433; PI. 2, Figs. 15–20.
 - 1971 Spathognathodus steinhornensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER BULTYNCK, p. 11; Text-Figs. 4–10, 11.
- non 1975 Ozarkodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) CARLS, PI. 2, Figs. 16–18.
 - 1975 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) KLAPPER & MURPHY, PI. 7, Figs. 22, 25–30.
 - 1979 *Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis* (ZIEGLER) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 1, Figs. 3–5, 8, 15, 18, 34.
 - 1980 Ozarkodina r. remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) CHLUPÁČ, KŘÍŽ & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 18, Figs. 11, 14–26; PI. 19, Figs. 7, 13, 14, 18–21; PI. 20, Figs. 1–3.
 - 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) PICKETT, Fig. 13.D–F, non Fig. 13.G.
 - 1980b Ozarkodina r. remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SCHÖNLAUB, PI.
 1, Figs. 1, 2?, 3?, 8–10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 18, 20, 21; PI.
 2, Figs. 1–3; PI. 3, Figs. 14, 17, 18?, 20?, 21; PI. 4,
 Fig. 2; PI. 6, Figs. 4, 6, 7, 9; PI. 7, Figs. 2, 7, 29; non
 PI. 6, Fig. 11.
 - 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SER-PAGLI & MASTANDREA, p. 39; Pl. 1, Figs. 7, 8, 12.
 - 1983 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MUR-PHY & MATTI, Pl. 2, Figs. 4, 5, 6?
 - 1985 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) CHLUPÁČ, LUKEŠ, PARIS & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 2, Fig. 30.
 - 1985a Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAS-TANDREA, p. 252; PI. 1, Figs. 1–3.
 - 1985b *Ozarkodina r. remscheidensis* (ZIEGLER) MASTANDREA, PI. 1, Fig. 1.
 - 1985b Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SCHÖNLAUB, Pl. 1, Figs. 1–3, 8–10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 18, 20, 21; Pl. 2, Figs. 1–3.
 - 1986 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 49; Pl. 6, Figs. 1–5, 7, 8, non Fig. 6.
- non 1989 Ozarkodina s. remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) JEPPSSON, p. 28; PI. 2, Figs. 6–11.
 - 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SORENTINO, p. 93; Pl. 3, Figs. 3–9, 12, 13, non Figs. 1, 2.
 - 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) WIL-SON, p. 138; Pl. 11, Figs. 8–10.
 - 1990 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, p. 93; Pl. 4, Figs. 4–6; Pl. 5, Fig. 30, non Figs.
 1–3, 6, 7; Pl. 6, Fig. 11; Pl. 13, Figs. 11, 12, 20; Pl. 15, Figs. 27, 28, non Figs. 32–34; Pl. 16, Figs. 34, 35; Pl.
 17, Figs. 10?, 32 [cum syn.].

- 1991 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, PI. 1, Fig. 13.
- 1992 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) BAR-DASHEV & ZIEGLER, Pl. 1, Figs. 5, 6.
- 1994 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 13. N, O.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) BAR-RICK & NOBLE, Figs. 6.9, 6.12, 6.15, 6.16.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER COL-QUHOUN, PI. 1, Figs. 9, 10.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGEL-BRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 12, Figs. 9, 10; PI. 13, Fig. 16.
- 1997 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MIL-LER & ALDRIDGE, p. 46; PI. 1, Figs. 21, 24; Text-Fig. 2.
- 1998a Ozarkodina rem. remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) CORRADINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, PI. 2.3.1, Fig. 4.
- 1998b Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) COR-RADINI, FERRETTI & SERPAGLI, Pl. 3.3.1, Fig. 8?
- 1998 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis ZIEGLER SER-PAGLI, CORRADINI & FERRETTI, Pl. 1.2.2, Fig. 6.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) BEN-FRIKA, p. 315; Pl. 1, Fig. 6?
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) TAL-ENT & MAWSON, PI. 5, Figs. 13–18; PI. 7, Fig. 12; PI. 8, Fig. 1.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) VIIRA, PI. 3, Figs. 5–7.
- 2001 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) PACKHAM, PERCIVAL, RICKARDS & WRIGHT, Fig. 2A, E.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) FAR-RELL, PI. 8, Figs. 1–18 [cum syn.].
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 90; Pl. 2, Figs. 1–11; Pl. 4, Figs. 17, 18 [cum syn.].
- 2004 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) FAR-RELL, p. 974; Pl. 10, Figs. 1–9.
- 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MURPHY, VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, p. 13; Figs. 3.1–3.8.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) COR-RADINI, SIMONETTO, SERVENTI, RIGO & CALLIGARIS, Fig. 5b, c.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Figs. 1, 3.
- 2006 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MATHIESON, p. 56; PI. 19, Figs. A–N.
- Description: The axis of the blade is rather straight or slightly arched. There is no ledge at the base of the denticles, and no or only a very weak pinch zone. The blade of the anterior process seems a little higher compared to the posterior one. The distal part of the anterior process (cockscomb) bears none or one small denticle and one or two markedly higher denticles followed by two to five denticles of irregular size. The cusp is very high and broad at its base and usually as large or even larger than denticles of the cockscomb. Denticles (four to five in number) of the posterior process are variable in size, similar to those between the cockscomb and cusp of the anterior process. They are nearly triangular, fused at the base, with an elliptical cross-section. The basal platform is rounded to heart-shaped and covers about one-quarter of the length of the blade, with a position posterior to the mid-length. The anterior margin of the platform lobes start to expand slightly anterior to or at the middle of the blade. Lobes seem nearly symmetrical in upper view, but in many cases the outer margin of the plaform is broken so that the distinct shape can only be inferred. Both lobes are unornamented. The basal cavity forms open with basal grooves extending to both margins distally. The lower margin is stepped or somewhat sigmoidal in many specimens. Elements possessing a straight lower profile are rare.

- Remarks: Compared to other spathognathodontids the Pa elements of *Ozarkodina remscheidensis* have distinctively rounded to heart-shaped, unornamented platform lobes and an extremely irregular upper profile.
- Pb element
- 1979 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 57; Pl. 1, Fig. 43.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) PICKETT, Fig. 13.B.
- 1980 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SERPAGLI & MASTANDREA, p. 39; Pl. 1, Fig. 9.
- 1985a Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MASTAN-DREA, p. 252; Pl. 1, Fig. 5.
- 1986 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, p. 49; Pl. 6, Figs. 9–11.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SORENTI-NO, p. 93; Pl. 3, Fig. 18.
- 1989 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) WILSON, p. 138; Pl. 11, Fig. 13.
- 1990 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) UYENO, p.
 93; Pl. 5, Figs. 8?, 33; Pl. 16, Fig. 36?; Pl. 17, Fig. 33?
 [cum syn.].
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) COL-QUHOUN, PI. 3, Fig. 1.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) SLOAN, TALENT, MAWSON, SIMPSON, BROCK, ENGELBRETSEN, JELL, AUNG, PFAFFENRITTER, TROTTER & WITHNALL, PI. 13, Fig. 18.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) VIIRA, PI. 3, Fig. 8.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 90; PI. 2, Figs. 12–14 [cum syn.].
- 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 13; Figs. 3.9–3.11.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) CORRADI-NI, SIMONETTO, SERVENTI, RIGO & CALLIGARIS, Fig. 5a.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) TROTTER & TALENT, p. 42; Pl. 18, Figs. 5, 6.
- 2006 Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) MATH-IESON, p. 56; Pl. 19, Figs. O–Q.
- Description: The blade is rather low compared to the denticles of the anterior process; these increase in height progressively with their base remaining low, unelevated. Denticles of the posterior process are needle-like too, but much smaller and more uniform in height and shape. The lower margin is curved with anterior and posterior tips pointing downward. The basal cavity has a nearly symmetrical outline with greatest width in the anterior one-third, tapering posteriorly. The basal grooves are narrow-ly open becoming adpressed towards the distal margins. The lower part of the blade is pinched.
- Remarks: Most elements presented in other papers are illustrated in lateral view only, so that the outline of the basal cavity and the shape of the basal grooves cannot be inferred. The Pb element figured by ZIEGLER, 1960 (Plate 15, Fig. 15) shows a rather high, slender cusp and proximal denticles in front of the cusp which are almost as high as the cusp. MURPHY et al. (2004) classified Pb elements of 'Zieglerodina' (= Ozarkodina remscheidensis) by the following criteria: angulate pectiniform element; equally wide anterior denticles increasing in height progressively posteriorly almost to height of cusp; cusp wide and high; denticles of the posterior process shorter and more even in height.

Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL, 1969)

Pl. 19, Figs. 7, 9

Material: 2 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 19, Figs. 7, 9)

- 1969 Spathognathodus steinhornensis repetitor n. ssp. CARLS & GANDL, p. 198; Pl. 19, Fig. 3.
- 1969 Spathognathodus steinhornensis repetitor CARLS & GANDL CARLS, p. 340; Pl. 2, Figs. 21–23; Pl. 3, Figs. 1–6, Fig. 4?

- 1971 Spathognathodus steinhornensis repetitor CARLS & GANDL BUL-TYNCK, p. 18; Pl. 3, Figs. 1–24; Pl. 4, Figs. 1–5; Text-Figs. 12–14, 15–18.
- 1973a Ozarkodina steinhornensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) KLAP-PER, LINDSTRÖM, SWEET & ZIEGLER, p. 245; PI. 2, Fig. 6 [= specimen PI. 19, Fig. 3; CARLS & GANDL, 1969].
- 1980 Ozarkodina steinhornensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) KLAP-PER & JOHNSON, Pl. 1, Fig. 1.
- 1985a Ozarkodina steinhornensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) MAS-TANDREA, p. 254; Pl. 1, Figs. 13, 18.
- 1992 Ozarkodina steinhornensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) BARDA-SHEV & ZIEGLER, PI. 1, Figs. 8–10.
- 1994 Ozarkodina steinhornensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) MAW-SON & TALENT, Fig. 13. I.
- ?1995 Pandorinellina steinhormensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) BONCHEVA, Pl. 1, Fig. 5.
- 1995 Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor CARLS & GANDL COL-QUHOUN, Pl. 1, Fig. 13.
- 1999 Ozarkodina steinhornensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) BENFRI-KA, p. 316; Pl. 1, Fig. 11.
- 1999 Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 7, Figs. 11, 17, 18.
- 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) FAR-RELL, p. 138; Pl. 9, Fig. 4–7.
- 2005 Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL) TROT-TER & TALENT, p. 42; PI. 18, Fig. 21.
- Description: Two different representatives of Pa elements were obtained. Both types have a rather straight axis, a very compressed blade and a narrow symmetrical basal platform in upper view. The platform is subcentral, posterior to mid-length. Denticles on either blade show an almost even upper profile. Elements differ slightly in development of the lower margin, the degree of inclination of the denticles, and the outline of the platform. One type (Plate 19, Fig. 7) bears about 10 or more (posteriormost part broken) pointed denticles, inclined posteriorly (five denticles have only the basal portion preserved). The lower margin of the posterior blade is straight and neither stepped nor sigmoidal. The anterior lower margin seems convex, possibly resulting from breakage of the anteriormost lower part of the process. The margin of the symmetrical platform lobes tapers gently and is curved towards either side, with the greatest width in the anterior one-third of the platform. The second type (Plate 19, Fig. 9) is covered by 9 less strongly inclined denticles. Denticles are of uniform height, except a somewhat smaller one on either side of the cusp. The platform is symmetrical and less wide. The lower margin of each process is inclined and characterised by adpressed basal grooves.
- Remarks: One of the illustrated specimens (Plate 19, Fig. 7) seems identical to that obtained by BENFRIKA (1999). It resembles the αr morph according to the proposed discrimination of BULTYNCK (1971). The second Pa element is close to the γr morph of BULTYNCK, 1971 (especially: Plate 3, Fig. 10). *Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor* differs in a regular, more subtly designed Pa element and in development of a symmetrical outline of the platform compared to *Ozarkodina remscheidensis respectively*. FARRELL (2003) suggested a maximum range from the *woschmidti* to the *kindlei* Zones by referring to several authors.

Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp.

Pl. 12, Fig. 11; Pl. 15, Figs. 1, 2, 5; Pl. 18, Figs. 4, 7-9

Material: 7 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 12, Fig. 11)

cf. 2004 Zieglerodina remscheidensis (ZIEGLER) – MURPHY, VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, p. 13; Fig. 3.45.

Description: Denticles are closely spaced with needlelike tips showing a subcircular to elliptical cross-section. A few small denticles are developed proximally to the cusp, and start to alternate in size towards the distal margin of either lateral process. Both processes include an angle of about 125 degrees. The basal cavity is rather small, not raised, and forms only a short posterior extension.

Remarks: The preserved part of the obtained specimen has great affinity to that figured by MURPHY et al. (2004) from the Lag Vas 6 glacial erratic boulder (northern Germany). As this type differs markedly in the kind of denticulation and the angle of the processes compared to the Sa elements assigned to *Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis*, it possibly represents another (sub?) species.

Pa element (Pl. 18, Figs. 4, 7-9)

- Description: Elements are rather large and robust. The axis is straight to arched. Denticles are discrete, aligned at the base with free tips and vary in height along both processes. The anterior process usually bears 7 denticles; an initial, very small denticle, is followed by three to four larger denticles that show only slight variations in size. Close to the wide and rather high cusp, two or three small denticles occur on either side. The remaining denticles of the posterior process vary in height, but are not larger than the anterior high denticles or the cusp. The denticles and the cusp have a lens-shaped cross-section and seem to be pointed, but usually the tip is broken. Some denticles are finely striate. The basal platform is symmetrical, rounded to somewhat heart-shaped and lacks ornament. Some elements have platform lobes that tend to be asymmetrical and slightly wider than long. The platform is located in a central to slightly posterior position. The lower margin is straight, stepped to gently inclined. In the lower half to one-third of the blade, a weak pinched zone is developed in some specimens. The basal cavity is unconstricted, passing into narrowly open basal grooves.
- Remarks: Obtained elements are similar to *Ozarkodina rem*scheidensis remscheidensis, but much too broken, even for proper assignment at species-level.

Pb element (Pl. 15, Figs. 1, 2, 5)

- cf. 1989 Ozarkodina s. eosteinhornensis (WALLISER) sensu JEPPSSON 1975 – JEPPSSON, p. 28; Pl. 3, Fig. 10.
- cf. 1997 Ozarkodina remscheidensis eosteinhornensis (WALLISER) MILLER & ALDRIDGE, p. 45; Figs. 5a, b.
- cf. 2003 Ozarkodina remscheidensis eosteinhornensis (WALLISER) MAWSON, TALENT, MOLLOY & SIMPSON, p. 89; PI. 2, Figs. 20, 21.
- cf. 2004 *W eosteinhornensis* (WALLISER) MURPHY, VALENZUELA-Ríos & CARLS, p. 16; Figs. 3.26–3.28.
- Description: Specimens have a rather broad cusp. A certain angularity close to mid-height of the cusp and slightly above the alignment of the anterior and posterior margin to adjacent denticles is observed in lateral view. The anterior margin (aligned to denticle) and the free upper anterior margin of the cusp includes an angle of 143 to 145 degrees. The anterior margin of the remaining free part of the cusp is inclined and forms a line with the upper margin of the anterior process. The anteriormost denticles are somewhat wider than the proximal 2 to 3 denticles. The anterior blade of Ozarkodina remscheidensis eosteinhornensis seems shorter compared to that of Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis, and is little higher proximally to the cusp. The basal cavity has a nearly symmetrical outline with greatest width in the anterior one-third, tapering posteriorly. The basal grooves are narrowly open, becoming adpressed towards the distal margins. The lower part of the blade is pinched.
- Remarks: These Pb elements from the Seewarte section are very close to *Ozarkodina remscheidensis eosteinhornensis* ('W eosteinhornensis' in MURPHY et al. [2004, Figs. 3.26–3.28]).

Since no corresponding Pa elements were found within the same samples, specimens are not assigned to *Ozarkodina r. eosteinhornensis.*

Ozarkodina wurmi (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958)

Pl. 17, Fig. 4

Material: 4 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 17, Fig. 4)
- 1986 Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) MURPHY & CEBE-CIOĞLU, Figs. 1.8, 1.9.
- 1994a *Ozarkodina wurmi* BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN VALENZUELA-Ríos, p. 71; lam. 4, Fig. 1.
- 2004 Wurmiella wurmi (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN) ROOPNARINE, MURPHY & BUENING, p. 3; Figs. 1B?, 2.
- Description: Specimens are rather long, possessing about 20 denticles. The denticles vary in size, becoming a little larger towards the distal ends. The cusp, covering a position above the basal cavity, is underdeveloped and therefore similar in size to the denticles. The blade axis is nearly straight with a slight twisting of the distal parts of the blade. A ledge is developed on either side (weak on the outer and little more pronounced on the inner side). The lower margin is biconcave. The basal cavity is small with a position posterior mid-length. The inner platform lobe is more expanded and slightly inflated. The basal cavity is moderately deep with the basal grooves becoming adpressed distally.
- Remarks: Following the revised diagnosis for Ozarkodina wurmi ('Wurmiella wurmi' in MURPHY et al. [2004, 11]), a convexo-concave or biconcave lower margin represents one of the most reliable features distinguishing Ozarkodina wurmi from Ozarkodina excavata excavata and Ozarkodina excavata tuma.

Genus: *Pandorinellina* MÜLLER & MÜLLER, 1957

Type species: Pandorina insita STAUFFER, 1940.

General Remarks: Pandorinellina is separated from Ozarkodina by its diplododellan Sa element with a denticulate posterior process as discriminative feature of this genus. The apparatus of Ozarkodina is reconstructed with a trichonodellan Sa element (only lateral processes are present; they lack the distinctive denticulate posterior process). Varieties of both apparatuses are demonstrated by KLAPPER & PHILIP (1971). The relation of Pandorinellina to Ozarkodina was discussed further by BULTYNCK (1971), FÅHRAEUS (1974), BONCHEVA (1995), FARRELL (2003), KLAPPER et al. (1973b) and MURPHY et al. (2004). In FARRELL (2003), three morphological groups (Optima, Exigua and Steinhornensis groups) are discriminated within Pandorinellina by the outline of the anterior denticleset of the assumed Pa elements (compare Appendix 4). Representatives of the Optima group have an arcuate anterior denticle-set with a centred vertex. The group includes the species and subspecies Pandorinellina ebzeryi, Pandorinellina optima optima, Pandorinellina o. postoptima and Pandorinellina o. postexcelsa. The lineage of Pand. optima suggested by FARRELL (2003) is followed here. According to the development of the base in the Optima group and the evolution of Pand. o. postexcelsa from Pand. o. optima, a scenario was suggested by BARDASHEV et al. (2002). In their article subspecies of Pand. optima were assigned to a new genus Pseudogondwania, and a relation between the lineages of Pandorinellina optima and certain species of Eognathodus (also assigned to Pseudogondwania) was proposed.

Species of the Exigua group possess an anterior denticle-set increasing in height with the posteriormost denticle highest. This group includes about 11 different types with *Pandorinellina exigua exigua* and *Pand. e. philipi* remaining as the mostly quoted representatives in papers dealing with Lower Devonian conodonts.

Contrary to the features of the above listed groups, Pa elements assigned to the Steinhornensis group lack any raised denticle-sets. Generally they show a bowed axis of the blade bearing numerous subequal denticles (e.g: *Pandorinellina miae, Pand. steinhornensis praeoptima* and *Pand. st. steinhornensis*).

Pandorinellina cf. Pand. ebzeryi FARRELL, 2003

Pl. 20, Figs. 3, 6

Material: 2 specimens.

Pa element (Pl. 20, Figs. 3, 6)

- aff. 1980 Pandorinellina cf. optima (MOSKALENKO) CHLUPÁČ, KŘÍŽ & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 20, Figs. 5–8.
- cf. 2003 Pandorinellina ebzeryi n. sp. FARRELL, p. 143; Pl. 10, Figs. 1–8; Text-Fig. 7.
- Description: The figured Pa elements bear a raised anterior denticle-set, strongly fused at the base and covering about a guarter of the entire length. Due to breakage, the discriminative outline of the denticle-set, whether arcuate or ascending, cannot be identified with accuracy. Nevertheless the height of anterior denticles could possibly be estimated from the corresponding size of the oval to lenticular cross-section. One Pa element (Plate 20, Fig. 3) shows that the cross-section of the middle denticle is more elongated than that of the preserved one with the anteriormost denticle shortest. The longer lenticular cross-section of the second anterior denticle accords with a generally larger size of the denticle compared to the preserved one. The second Pa element (Plate 20, Fig. 6) differs in bearing 4 anterior denticles with the second and third denticle notably enlarged. The anteriormost denticle is small with a broken tip. The fourth denticle is broken too, but the posterior margin of the third and highest denticle shows, that the fusion between them reaches almost as high as that between the second and third denticle. In lateral view the fourth denticle is aligned with the one in front of it, and having a definite space between it and the one posterior to it. It is concluded from this that the unbroken anterior denticle-set was arcuate. The cusp is enlarged in both elements. Mid-blade denticles on either side of the cusp are relatively small. Denticles of the posterior carina are arcuate in upper profile due to the decreasing size of denticles towards the posterior margin. The axis of the blade is nearly straight. The anterior and posterior lower margin is steeply inclined. The anterior lower margin meets the anterior margin including an angle between 112-120 degrees. Compared to the anterior one, the posterior lower margin increases less steeply with a nearly straight outline in lateral view. The rounded basal platform is asymmetrical with one of the lobes wider. The basal cavity is central to slightly posteriorly located. The anterior and posterior margins of each lobe taper to either side along the blade as shallow, open grooves.
- Remarks: The specimens might look like Pa elements of *Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis* at first glance (especially that on Plate 20, Fig. 6). But in no Pa element of *O. r. remscheidensis* observed, the anterior lower margin was that inclined as it is in material of FARRELL (2003) or the present one.

Apart from the outline of the anterior denticle-set – which would definitively indicate assignment to the Optima group – all other features accord with *Pandorinellina ebzeryi*. Even if the figured Pa elements were to possess an ascending anterior denticle-set, they would come close to *Pandorinellina exigua philipi* but would still differ in the profile of the posterior lower margin, the outline of platform lobes, and the shape of denticles. At its type locality (The Gap, New South Wales) *Pand. ebzeryi* ranges from the *pesavis* to early *sulcatus* Zones (FARRELL, 2003). The present specimens are from the late *delta* Zone.

Pandorinellina miae (BULTYNCK, 1971)

Pl. 20, Fig. 7

Material: 1 specimen.

- Pa element (Pl. 20, Fig. 7)
- 1971 *Spathognathodus steinhornensis miae* n. subsp. BULTYNCK, p. 25; Pl. 4, Figs. 13, 14; Pl. 5, Figs. 1–14; Text-Figs. 19–21, 22.
- 1979 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 59; PI. 5, Figs. 15, 16, 23.
- 1980 Ozarkodina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) BULTYNCK & HOLLARD, PI. 2, Figs. 3, 4.
- 1980 Pandorinellina st. miae (BULTYNCK) CHLUPÁČ, KŘÍŽ & SCHÖNLAUB, PI. 21, Figs. 7, 19, 20, 22; PI. 23, Figs. 11, 12; PI. 24, Figs. 4, 13, 16.
- 1983 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) WANG & ZIEGLER, PI. 4, Fig. 13.
- 1985b Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) SCHÖNLAUB, Pl. 3, Figs. 11–12.
- 1985b Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) MASTANDREA, p. 264; Pl. 1, Figs. 2, 3.
- 1986 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) BARCA, GNOLI, OLIVIERI & SERPAGLI, PI. 30, Figs. 7–9.
- 1989 Ozarkodina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) BULTYNCK, PI. 6, Figs. 10–11.
- 1990 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) GARCIA-ALCALDE, ARBIZU, GARZÍA LÓPEZ, LEYVA, MONTESINOS, SOTO & TRUYOLS-MASSONI, Figs. 10.5, 10.6.
- 1990 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) GARZÍA LÓPEZ, JULIVERT, SOLDEVILA, TRUYOLS-MASSONI & ZA-MARRENO, PI. 1, Figs. 21–23.
- 1991 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) UYENO, PI. 2, Fig. 17.
- 1992 Pandorinellina miae (BULTYNCK) BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, PI. 1, Figs. 41, 47.
- 1994 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) MAWSON & TALENT, p. 55; Fig. 11. A–G.
- 1995 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) KALVODA, p. 38; PI. 2, Figs. 3, 8.
- 1995 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) FUREY-GREIG, Pl. 1, Fig. 18?
- 1995 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) COLQUHOUN, Pl. 2, Figs. 7, 9.
- 1999 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) BENFRIKA, p. 316; Pl. 1, Fig. 19?
- 21999 Pandorinellina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 5, Figs. 11, 12; PI. 12, Figs. 11–13.
- 2004 Pandorinellina miae (BULTYNCK) FARRELL, p. 976; Pl. 10, Figs. 10–13.
- 2004a Ozarkodina steinhornensis miae (BULTYNCK) SLAVÍK, Pl. 1, Figs. 11.7–11.11.
- Description: The anterior process of the figured element has an arched to gently twisted axis. The blade of the remaining process is rather low in lateral view and bears 9 denticles (with the anteriormost one broken). The posterior blade is broken, so no information about the curvature of the axis can be given. The denticles are subequal in size, closely spaced with blunt tips, and lenticular in cross-section. The cusp is a little wider at its base and seems a little larger than the denticles. The platform is slightly asymmetrical with rounded to heart-shaped platform lobes. Due to the rather long anterior process (compared with the size of the denticles), the platform seems to occupy a position posterior to the centre of the blade. Both lobes are unornamented. The lower margin of the anterior process is broken distally but seems to be gently curved.

Remarks: Usually the posterior blade is much shorter than the anterior one and often strongly arched in upper view. The upper profile of the posterior process can be straight to curving gently downwards resulting in slightly smaller denticles distally. The illustrated element is almost identical with the specimens assigned to the beta morph by BULTYNCK (1971).

Pandorinellina optima optima (MOSKALENKO, 1966)

Pl. 20, Fig. 2

Material: 2 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 20, Fig. 2)
 - 1969 *Spathognathodus optimus* MOSKALENKO KLAPPER, p. 20; Pl. 4, Figs. 13–24, 26–29, non Fig. 25.
 - 1971 Spathognathodus optimus MOSKALENKO FÅHRAEUS, p. 679; Pl. 77, Figs. 15, 16.
- non 1989 Pandorinellina optima (MOSKALENKO) SORENTINO, p. 94; Pl. 4, Figs. 8–16.
 - 1991 Pandorinellina optima (MOSKALENKO) UYENO, PI. 1, Figs. 6, 9, 10.
 - 1992 Pandorinellina optima (MOSKALENKO) BARDASHEV & ZIEGLER, PI. 1, Figs. 19–21.
 - 1994 Pandorinellina optima (MOSKALENKO) MAWSON & TALENT, Fig. 13. K, L.
- non 1999 *Pandorinellina optima* (MOSKALENKO) TALENT & MAWSON, PI. 7, Figs. 7, 8.
 - 2003 Pandorinellina optima optima (MOSKALENKO) FARRELL, p. 140; Fig. 7.
- Description: The figured element has fused, needle-like denticles with free tips. The cross-section of the denticles is subcircular to elliptical. The anterior denticle-set has markedly larger denticles arcuate in upper profile with the third one being highest. It extends for a third of the blade-length. The mid-blade denticles anterior (and the proximal one posterior) of the cusp are of almost equal size but much smaller than all other denticles. The cusp is quite large and broad at the base, but not higher than the anterior denticle-set. The posterior blade is partly broken so that the position of the basal platform (whether centred or posterior to mid-length) is uncertain. The platform has rounded but asymmetrical lobes in upper view, with one of them being wider. The axis of the blade is arched with a slightly deformed anterior process. The lower margin is stepped, and straight in either profile (anterior and posterior). The anterior lower margin joins the anterior margin at nearly a right angle.
- Remarks: In the original diagnosis of Pandorinellina optima postoptima new ssp. of FARRELL (2003), a raised and slightly arched posterior lower margin is one of the diagnostic features, distinguishing the subspecies optima and postoptima from each other. Additional features are the horizontal to inclined anterior lower margin and a platform located in the centre or just posterior to it. A range from the pesavis to dehiscens Zones is proposed for Pand. o. postoptima. The emended diagnosis of Pand. o. optima refers to a straight to slightly downwardly curving lower margin on either side along the blade-axis and a central basal cavity. The nominate ssp. enters earlier in the delta Zone (possibly eurekaensis Zone) and extends until late in the pesavis Zone (possibly sulcatus Zone). Additional information about ranges and relations of species within the Optima group are given by FARRELL (2003, Fig. 7, therein). The present specimens occur in the middle to late delta Zone but, due to the stepped but straight posterior lower margin, the illustrated one could be a form transitional to an early Pand. optima postoptima. Because of the differing outline of the holotype of that subspecies (LANE & ORMISTON, 1979, Pl. 3, Fig. 10) and the specimen figured by FARRELL (2003), the illustrated Pa element was assigned to Pand. o. optima.

Pandorinellina steinhornensis praeoptima (МАЅНКОVА, 1972)

Pl. 20, Fig. 1

Material: 2 specimens.

- Pa element (Pl. 20, Fig. 1)
- 1979 Pandorinellina steinhornensis praeoptima (MASHKOVA) LANE & ORMISTON, p. 59; Pl. 3, Fig. 1; Pl. 4, Figs. 10, 11.
- 1991 Pandorinellina steinhornensis praeoptima (MASHKOVA) sensu LANE & ORMISTON, 1979 – UYENO, Pl. 1, Fig. 19.
- Description: The blade of the Pa elements is very low with a straight axis. Denticles are short, subequal in height and fused at the base. A few smaller denticles are present in the mid-blade area. The cusp is not enlarged. The upper profile is nearly straight along the remaining part of the anterior process. The distal part of the posterior process is slightly bowed due to decreasing height of the posteriormost denticles. The basal platform is asymmetrical with rounded, almost tongue-like lobes. The platform possibly has a position posterior to mid-length, with the upper surface of the lobes unornamented. A narrow pinch zone is visible in the lower part of the blade in lateral view.
- Remarks: Both specimens are closest to one illustrated by LANE & ORMISTON (1979, Pl. 4, Figs. 10, 11) except for the number of denticles and the curvature of the axis of the blade. Their specimen has an equally low blade. Furthermore it has a similar arrangement of mid-blade denticles alternating in size, but whether this is a significant feature or not is uncertain; only a few Pa elements are referred to *Pand. steinhornensis praeoptima* in the literature.

Pandorinellina sp.

Pl. 12, Fig. 12; Pl. 20, Figs. 4, 5, 8

Material: 7 specimens.

Sa element (Pl. 12, Fig. 12)

- Remarks: Two diplododellan Sa elements with a short denticulate posterior process are found in the lower part of the Seewarte section. No further assignment can be made, as Pa elements of *Pandorinellina* are lacking within the conodont assemblage of the same bed.
- Pa element (Pl. 20, Figs. 4, 5, 8)
- Description: One of the figured specimens (Plate 20, Fig. 5) has a rather low blade with 4 somewhat larger anterior denticles, followed by 2 very small, and 6 relative broad ones. The axis of the blade is straight. The platform is symmetrical, with both lobes widest beneath the cusp, tapering to a point distally. The basal cavity is open and moderately deep. The lower profile is straight within the anterior one-third and continues bowed to the posterior end.

Other Pa elements obtained (Plate 20, Figs. 4, 8), show an almost straight anterior axis of the blade, whereas the posterior one is arched. The anterior blade has about 9 denticles and the posterior one 6 to 8. The cusp and the denticles are of almost equal height with a slightly bowed to straight upper profile. The tips of the denticles point slightly posteriorly. The platform is asymmetrical and is located in the posterior half of the blade. One of the lobes is wider and subrectangular to tongue-like. The second lobe is rounded to heart-shaped. In lower view, the margin of the basal cavity flares from the distal end of the posterior process. The anterior groove is narrow proximally, tapering to a point distally. The lower margin is straight to gently bowed with the distal end of the posterior blade pointing downwards. The latter two specimens are similar to Pand. steinhornensis steinhornensis (ZIEGLER, 1956).

UNKNOWN

"Apparatus A" MASTANDREA, 1985a

Pl. 13, Figs. 14, 15, 16; Pl. 14, Fig. 1

General Remarks: Elements obtained are nearly identical to those figured by MASTANDREA (1985a) as "Apparatus A" from the Fluminese area (southwestern Sardinia). They occur in association with conodonts referred to the mid-Lochkovian *delta* Zone.

Material: 26 specimens.

Sb element (Pl. 13, Fig. 14?)

1985a "Apparatus A" MASTANDREA, p. 256; Pl. 3; Fig. 17?

Description: Elements have a high, adpressed blade with rather long denticles. The axis of the blade is almost straight. Denticles are nearly uniform, discrete, and aligned. They are compressed laterally with a lenticular cross-section. Denticles of the anterior process are slightly curved with their tips pointing to the inner side. Similarly, those of the posterior process are gently incurved and point slightly posteriorly. The cusp is similar in size and shape to the denticles. The basal cavity is narrow with the outer margin of the inner extension pointing posteriorly. The margin on the outer side of the basal cavity is rounded, but is less wide. Basal grooves are open proximally, tapering to a point along the anterior process and becoming adpressed posteriorly. The lower margin of both processes includes an angle of about 60 to 65 degrees. The entire element has a granular texture. This is apparently not due to acid-leaching, as only "Apparatus A" elements among the material from samples Se/01/15/04 and Se/01/16/04 have this pattern.

Sc element (PI. 13, Fig. 15?)

- 1985a "Apparatus A" MASTANDREA, p. 256; Pl. 3; Fig. 16.
- 1998a "Apparatus A" MASTANDREA in CORRADINI, FERRETTI & SER-PAGLI, PI. 2.3.1, Fig. 11 [= specimen PI. 3, Fig. 16; MAS-TANDREA, 1985a].
- Remarks: The Sc element is similar in general features to the Sb element but differs in that the mid-blade denticles are more inwardly curved, with those of the posterior process conspicuously pointing in posterior direction. The basal cavity is totally flattened on the outer side, less wide, and more symmetrical on the inner side. Both basal grooves run adpressed towards either distal margin. The lateral processes include an angle of 80 to 85 degrees.

M element (Pl. 13, Fig. 16; Pl. 14, Fig. 1)

- 1985a "Apparatus A" MASTANDREA, p. 256; Pl. 3; Figs. 11, 13.
- 1998a "Apparatus A" MASTANDREA = CORRADINI, FERRETTI & SER-PAGLI, PI. 2.3.1, Fig. 10 [= specimen PI. 3, Fig. 11; MAS-TANDREA, 1985a].
- Description: Elements have long, steeply descending processes with palisade-like denticulation. In lower view the blade axis is not straight. The inner wall of the anterior lower margin continues as a rather straight line to the anterior lower margin of the cusp. By contrast, the inner wall of the posterior lower margin is curved relative to the posterior margin of the cusp and is slightly angular with its vertex where the posterior process meets the cusp. The angle between the anterior and posterior processes (outer side) is about 160 degrees. Thus only a projected angle (70 to 85 degrees) including the lower profile of the lateral processes can be measured. The anterior process has at least 14 to 16 denticles and the posterior one 12 to

16. Because of breakage, the precise number of denticles cannot be determined for either process. The denticles are rather small with elliptical cross-section. The basal cavity is moderately deep, extending to the inner side with a pronounced rounded margin, producing a prominent cusp. The cusp and mid-blade denticles are curved inward. The basal grooves are moderately deep and remain open distally.

Unassigned elements

- Pl. 5, Figs. 5, 13; Pl. 6, Figs. 12, 18–20; Pl. 7, Figs. 6, 8, 9, 11; Pl. 10, Fig. 4; Pl. 11, Figs. 12–14; Pl. 12, Figs. 3, 4, 13–15;
- Pl. 13, Figs. 4, 6, 7, 10–12; Pl. 15, Figs. 3, 4, 6–10, 13–15; Pl. 17, Fig. 14; Pl. 18, Figs. 3, 6; Pl. 19, Figs. 4, 6; Pl. 20, Figs. 9, 12

Material: Approximately 11301 specimens.

Remarks: Several specimens figured on plate 4 to 21 (S, M and P elements of various taxa) are referred to as "unassigned coniform element" or, where the position of the element can be determined, as "unassigned specimen", resulting from poor preservation, loss of taxonomically important features or, for some taxa, lacking Pa elements vital for determination. Though unassigned, they document the range of elements obtained.

10. Discussion and Conclusion

Compared to the pelagic Lower Devonian strata of the Barrandian area (CHLUPÁČ & KUKAL, 1977; CHLUPÁČ et al., 1985; CHLUPÁČ & OLIVER, 1989; CHLUPÁČ et al., 1998; CHLUPÁČ & HLADIL, 2000) and coeval sections in the Carnic Alps (SCHÖNLAUB, 1985a and 1985b; SCHÖNLAUB et al., 2004), the yield of rich conodont faunas for correlation in relation to biozonal boundaries suffers from the generally neritic nature of the Mount Seewarte depositional area. Additional geochemical methods were used as a tool for stratigraphic correlation. Stable isotopes (δ^{13} C, δ^{18} O) and magnetic susceptibility (ELLWOOD et al., 1999; CRICK et al., 2001; CARLS & SLAVÍK, 2005) were used to complement biostratigraphic data where index conodonts were lacking or very sparse. These investigations are still in progress; only isotope data are presented here.

The exposed uppermost part of the Megaerella Formation is assigned to the detorta Zone. The boundary to the adjacent Lower Devonian woschmidti Zone cannot be drawn with certainty due to lack of the distinctive I elements of Icriodus woschmidti or index graptolites, i.e. M. uniformis. The Silurian-Devonian boundary is estimated close to the occurrence of Oulodus elegans detorta, Belodella anomalis, Icriodus sp. and the overlapping interval of Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis and O. remscheidensis remscheidensis marking the uppermost portion of the Pridoli Series (compare KLAPPER, 1977). Better results are provided by carbon isotopes. In Northern America (SALTZMAN, 2002) as well as in the Prague Syncline, and the slope to pelagic sequences of the Carnic Alps (BUGGISCH & MANN, 2004), a strong positive excursion from the latest detorta to the latest woschmidti Zone is evident. Such a positive trend was also observed in the investigated section, but without showing such high values across the Silurian-Devonian boundary. It thus may be concluded, that there may be a sedimentary gap in the earliest Devonian in the neritic succession of the Seewarte.

Text-Fig. 9.

Correlation of Lower Devonian units belonging to the Kellerwand Nappe (Seewarte section), Cellon Nappe (Cellon section) and Rauchkofel Nappe (Rauchkofel Boden, Oberbuchach II and Seekopfsockel sections), representing the shallow marine to pelagic transition. A = 'Ashgillian'; Em = Emsian; Lo = Lochkovian; Lu = Ludfordian; P = Pragian; Pr = Pridolian; celtib. = celtibericus Zone; wo. = woschmidti Zone; lst. = limestone.



Contrastingly, the Lochkovian *delta* Zone yields abundant conodonts enabling clear discrimination of its lower and upper boundary. The boundary of the base of the *delta* Zone is confirmed by the first occurrence of *Lanea omoalpha* in sample Se/01/07/04. The upper boundary is located some metres above the last occurrence of *Ancyrodelloides transitans* (Se/02/06a/05), between samples Se/02/07/04 and Se/02/08/04. Because no distinct I elements of *Pedavis pesavis* were obtained (only S and M elements of *Pedavis* sp. in a rather poor conodont fauna) less precision can be presented regarding the *pesavis* Zone.

Remarks on the Lower Devonian conodont zonation in relation to conodont crises in the latest *delta* to *pesavis* Zones have been presented by CARLS (1987) and VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS (1994b). A similar disappointingly poor conodont fauna continues from the base of the megaclast horizon from near the middle of the Rauchkofel Formation to the top of the Hohe Warte Formation. The first I elements of both morphotypes of *Latericriodus steinachensis* were obtained at the megaclast horizon. No Pa elements of any species of *Eognathodus*, neither *sulcatus sulcatus*, nor *sulcatus kindlei*, characteristic of the lower and middle Pragian, were encountered. However, an alternative conodont zonation for the Pragian proposed by SLAVÍK (2004b) confirmed a Pragian age for the upper Rauchkofel and Hohe Warte formations.

Obtained specimens of demonstrated stratigraphic value were *Latericriodus steinachensis* eta morph, *Pelekysgnathus* sp. and one element of *Caudicriodus* aff. *C. celtibericus*.

Stable isotopes across the suggested Lochkovian/Pragian-boundary show a sudden positive shift near the base of the megaclast horizon. A similar positive excursion is reported for the stage boundary for the stratotype section in the Barrandian by HLADÍKOVÁ et al. (1997).

Greater difficulty was experienced in trying to trace the biostratigraphic level and determine the precise age of the uppermost part of the Hohe Warte Formation; neither conodonts nor stable isotopes gave conclusive results, but an age not younger than upper Pragian seems reasonable. The total range of *Pelekysgnathus* sp. marks a rather longlasting interval compared with the *steinachensis* Zone, which conforms to the proportion of the biozones as proposed by SLAVÍK, 2004b (page 61, Table 8). Moreover, this interval corresponds with an increased thickness of presumably continuous, shallow marine sediments. With respect to definition of the Pragian/Emsian-boundary (YOLKIN et al., 1997), distinctive conodonts, especially polygnathids or specimens of *Latericriodus bilatericrescens gracilis* (both indicative of Lower Emsian strata) were not encountered in the recently collected samples. A fragment of a supposed *Polygnathus* sp. indet. and elements of *lcriodus expansus* reported by BANDEL (1969) and VAI (1973) remain unconfirmed.

The most interesting interval in the Seewarte section is the upper *pesavis* or lower *steinachensis* Zone (= *sulcatus* Zone) megaclast horizon; approximating the Lochkovian/Pragian boundary according to the carbon isotope excursion. Whether or not it reflects events in shallow marine contexts associated with the pesavis Event (TALENT et al., 1993) cannot be unequivocally answered, though it is possible. Decrease in diversity of conodont taxa coupled with decreased abundance of conodont specimens is obvious and is consistent with an extinction event, but is not necessarily compelling. It could reflect no more than differences in preservation in different platform facies. Moreover, discrimination of life-crises in environmentally changeable shallow-water contexts, reflecting complex land-sea interactions, with sedimentary gaps, appears inherently more difficult than with more continuous pelagic sequences. The correlation of the shallow marine succession at the Seewarte (Kellerwand Nappe) with other sections from the transitional facies (Cellon Nappe) and the pelagic facies (Rauchkofel Nappe) in Text-Fig. 9, clearly shows a lithological change at this boundary throughout all logs.

Fig. A:	Coated grain grainstone; MF-type 2. IPUW-3803–1–2, Se/01/02/04. Megaerella Formation; thin section.
Fig. B:	Bioclastic grainstone; major components are crinoid stem plates; MF-type 2. IPUW-3803–1–3, Se/01/03/04. Megaerella Formation; thin section.
Fig. C:	<i>Ozarkodina excavata excavata</i> ; two Pa elements in sparitic matrix. IPUW-3803–1–3, Se/01/03/04. Megaerella Formation; thin section.
Fig. D:	Peloidal pack-/grainstone with bioclastic components; MF-type 3a. IPUW-3803–1–9, Se/01/09/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
Fig. E:	Dolomite; only a few relicts of crinoid stem plates of the primary facies are preserved. IPUW-3803–1–11, Se/01/11/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
Fig. F:	Peloidal pack-/grainstone with bioclastic components; MF-type 3a. IPUW-3803–1–17, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
Fig. G:	Micritic matrix with densely packed small bioclasts, pyrite and concentrations of dolomitic grains along stylolites; MF-type 8? IPUW-3803–2–10, Se/02/10/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
Fig. H:	Probably resedimented cluster of <i>Girvanella</i> tubes growing around siliciclastic grains or calcareous skeletal remains substituted by secondary sparite during diagenesis. IPUW-3803–2–12, Se/02/12/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.



- Fig. A: Dolomitic matrix of the megaclast horizon; consisting of poorly sorted skeletal grains dominated by crinoid stem plates; components are densely packed (for about 2 cm) around the megaclasts, becoming loosely packed to dispersed with increasing distance, MF-type 3a. IPUW-3803–2–15c, Se/02/15c/05. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
- Fig. B: Rudstone, breccia of reefal debris, MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–2–17, Se/02/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
- Fig. C: Dolomite vugh, zonal texture shows dolomite rhombohedrons increasing in size towards the buff-colored centre. IPUW-3803–2–18, Se/02/18/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
- Fig. D: Bioclastic pack-/grainstone with subordinate peloids, matrix partially dolomitized, MF-type 3a. IPUW-3803–3–1, Se/03/01/04. Rauchkofel Formation; thin section.
- Fig. E: Rudstone, breccia of reefal debris, matrix partially dolomitized, MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–3–2a, Se/03/02a/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
- Fig. F: Rudstone, breccia of reefal debris, matrix partially dolomitized, high-spired gastropod at centre, MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–3–8, Se/03/08/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
- Fig. G: Rudstone, breccia of reefal debris, dominated by large crinoid stems, MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–3–9, Se/03/09/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
- Fig. H: Bioclastic pack-/grainstone with two small *Renalcis* clusters. IPUW-3803–3–12, Se/03/12/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.



Fig. A:	Crinoidal grainstone, capped at the top; sedimentation continues with bioclastic, peloidal pack-/grainstone. IPUW-3803–3–44, Se/03/44/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. B:	Framestone; MF-type 5b. IPUW-3803–4–3, Se/04/-10/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. C:	Rudstone; with udoteacean green algae and crinoid stem plates; MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–4–4, Se/04/-09/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. D:	Framestone; major components are corals, stromatoporoids and encrusting algae (latter acting as sediment-binding organisms); MF-type 5b/c. IPUW-3803–4–9, Se/04/-04/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. E:	Rudstone; consisting mainly of udoteacean green algae and calcimicrobes; MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–4–12, Se/04/-01/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. F:	Rudstone; with <i>Orthonella</i> ? and <i>Renalcis</i> ; MF-type 6. IPUW-3803–4–14, Se/04/02/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. G:	Framestone; the main frame-building calcimicrobes belong to the <i>Renalcis</i> Group; MF-type 5b. IPUW-3803–4–27, Se/04/15/04. Hohe Warte Formation; thin section.
Fig. H:	Bindstone with stromatactis (fenestral fabrics), <i>Garwoodia</i> , ostracod valves and gastropod shells; MF-type 5c. IPUW-3803–5–1, Se/05/01/05. Seewarte Formation; thin section.



- Fig. 1: Belodella anomalis COOPER, 1974. GBA-2006/1/14-31, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Sd element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 2: *Belodella anomalis* COOPER, 1974. GBA-2006/1/14-33, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 3: Belodella anomalis COOPER, 1974. GBA-2006/1/14-30, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Sd element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 4: Belodella anomalis COOPER, 1974. GBA-2006/1/14-29, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Sd element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 5: *Belodella anomalis* COOPER, 1974. GBA-2006/1/14-32, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
 - c) Posterior view.
- Fig. 6: *Belodella anomalis* COOPER, 1974. GBA-2006/1/14-34, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
 - b) Lower view.
 - c) Anterior view.

Fig. 7: *Dvorakia* sp. A. GBA-2006/1/14-14, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa? element. a) Lateral view.

- b) Lower view.
- Fig. 8: *Dvorakia* sp. A. GBA-2006/1/14-15, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sb? element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 9: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/08-11, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/08-13, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sd element.
 - a) Lateral view
 - b) Lower view.

- Fig. 11: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/08-09, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Belodella resima (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/10-31, Se/02/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sd element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: Belodella striata KOZUR, 1984. GBA-2006/1/14-12, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/13-28, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element. Lateral view.
- Fig. 15: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/10-39, Se/02/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 16: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/10-05, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 17: *Belodella striata* KOZUR, 1984. GBA-2006/1/14-17, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 18: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/14-13, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 19: Belodella resima (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/09-11, Se/03/42/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 20: ? Belodella striata KOZUR, 1984. GBA-2006/1/12-15, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa? element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.

- Fig. 21: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/12-14, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 22: Belodella resima (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/12-13, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 23: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/12-12, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sc element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 24: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/12-11, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sc element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 25: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/13-27, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sc? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 26: *Belodella striata* KOZUR, 1984. GBA-2006/1/09-28, Se/04/-09/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 27: *Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/09-17, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 28: Belodella resima (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/10-51, Se/04/-05/04. Hohe Warte Formation. T element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 29: *? Belodella resima* (PHILIP, 1965). GBA-2006/1/09-31, Se/04/03/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sd element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



Fig.	1:	Dvorakia sp. GBA-2006/1/09-22, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. S? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	2:	Dvorakia sp. GBA-2006/1/07-20, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. S? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	3:	Belodella striata KOZUR, 1984. GBA-2006/1/16-06, Se/02/12/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	4:	Dvorakia sp. GBA-2006/1/11-08, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. S? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/07-17, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	6:	Dvorakia sp. GBA-2006/1/14-19, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. S? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	7:	Panderodus sp. GBA-2006/1/01-09, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	8:	Panderodus sp. GBA-2006/1/01-05, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	9:	Panderodus sp. GBA-2006/1/01-17, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.

Fig. 10: *Dvorakia* sp. GBA-2006/1/14-22, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. M element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view. Fig. 11: Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/07-19, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view. Fig. 12: Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/04-02, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view. Fig. 13: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/01-08, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view. Fig. 14: *Dvorakia* sp. GBA-2006/1/01-02, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. M element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view. Fig. 15: Panderodus sp. GBA-2006/1/14-43, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view. Fig. 16: Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni KLAPPER & BARRICK, 1983. GBA-2006/1/14-28, Se/01/04/04. Megaerella Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 17: Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni KLAPPER & BARRICK, 1983. GBA-2006/1/14-27, Se/01/03/04. Megaerella Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 18: Dvorakia sp. GBA-2006/1/12-34, Se/02/15c/05. Rauchkofel Formation. S? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.



- Fig. 1: Neopanderodus leptostriatus ANDERSON, 2003. GBA-2006/1/09-12. Se/03/42/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa? element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 2: Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/14-18, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Lateral view. a) b) Lower view. Fig. 3: Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/14-09, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 4: Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/13-16, Se/03/19/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 5: Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/09-32, Se/04/03/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 6: Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD, 1975. GBA-2006/1/08-23, Se/03/19/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 7: Neopanderodus aequabilis TELFORD, 1975. GBA-2006/1/10-48, Se/03/17/04. Sa element. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 8: *Panderodus* sp. GBA-2006/1/10-22, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation; lateral view. Fig. 9 Neopanderodus sp. GBA-2006/1/09-02, Se/03/27/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sc? element. Lateral view. Fig. 10: Icriodus sp. GBA-2006/1/14-42, Se0/01/05a/05. Rauchkofel Formation. Adenticulate S element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 11: ? Panderodus unicostatus (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/10-10, Se/02/05/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view (remark strongly deformed cusp). b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/10-47, Se/03/17/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: Dvorakia klapperi (CHATTERTON, 1974). GBA-2006/1/09-29, Se/04/-09/04. Hohe Warte Formation.
 - Sb? element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: Walliserodus multistriatus FARRELL, 2004. GBA-2006/1/17-02, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation.
 - Sa? element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 15: Icriodus sp.
 - GBA-2006/1/17-01, Se/01/03/04. Megaerella Formation. Denticulate M2 element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 16: *Pseudooneotodus beckmanni* (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958). GBA-2006/1/08-15, Se/02/31/04.
 - Rauchkofel Formation. a) Upper view.
 - b) Lateral view.
- Fig. 17: Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958).
 - GBA-2006/1/10-18, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 18: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/08-22, Se/03/13/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 19: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/14-10, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 20: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/09-13, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



- Fig. 1: Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958). GBA-2006/1/10-19, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Lateral view.
- Fig. 2: Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958). GBA-2006/1/08-19. Se/03/07/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Oblique posterior view.
- Fig. 3: Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958). GBA-2006/1/08-20, Se/03/07/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Lateral view.
- Fig. 4: Pseudooneotodus beckmanni (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958). GBA-2006/1/10-15, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 5: Dvorakia klapperi (CHATTERTON, 1974). GBA-2006/1/10-52, Se/04/13/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sd element. a) Lower view. b) Lateral view.
- Fig. 6: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/14-08, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 7: Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/12-22, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M2 element. a) Posterior view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 8: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/10-21, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 9: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/10-25, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Lateral view.
- Fig. 10: *Pedavis* sp. GBA-2006/1/12-24, Se/02/11/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M2d element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/14-07, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/11-04, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view
 - b) Lower view.

- Fig. 13: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-19, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation,
 - Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/15-07, Se/03/17/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 15: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/10-20, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa-Sb element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 16: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-17, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa-Sb element. a) Anterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 17: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-20, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sa element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 18: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/10-30, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 19: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/10-24, Se/02/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb? element.
 - a) Lower view.

 - b) Lateral view.
- Fig. 20: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-21, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 21: Decoriconus fragilis (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-18, Se/02/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



Fig.	1:	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) beta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-03, Se/02/15b/05. Rauchkofel Formation. I element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	2:	<i>Latericriodus steinachensis</i> (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-01, Se/02/15b/05. Rauchkofel Formation. I element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	3:	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/10-43, Se/03/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. I element. Upper view.
Fig.	4:	 ? Latericriodus sp. GBA-2006/1/13-05, Se/02/33/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Juvenile I element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	Latericriodus cf. <i>L. steinachensis</i> (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-06, Se/03/05/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	6:	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-07, Se/03/05/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
Fig.	7:	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-02, Se/02/15b/05. Rauchkofel Formation. I element. a) Posterior view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	8:	<i>Latericriodus steinachensis</i> (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/08-21, Se/03/13/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
Fig.	9:	Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-04, Se/02/15c/05. Rauchkofel Formation. I element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig. ⁻	10:	<i>Latericriodus steinachensis</i> (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-19, Se/03/24/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.



- Fig. 1: Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/08-17, Se/02/31/04. Rauchkofel Formation. I element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view. 2: Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph Fig.
- KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-23, Se/03/37/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
- 3: Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph Fig. KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-18, Se/03/24/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
- 4: Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus (CARLS & GANDL, 1969). GBA-2006/1/13-24, Se/03/45/05. Fig. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Upper view.
 - b) Lateral view.
- Fig. 5: Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/08-25, Se/03/22/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
- 6: Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph Fig. KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-21, Se/03/29/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element.
 - a) Upper view.
 - b) Lateral view.
 - c) Cross section of anterior part through second denticle row - detail shows lamellar interior structure.

Fig. 7: ? Caudicriodus sp. GBA-2006/1/13-08, Se/03/14/04.

- Hohe Warte Formation.
- Juvenile I element.
- a) Lateral view.
- b) Upper view.

- Fig. 8: Latericriodus steinachensis (AL-RAWI, 1977) eta morph KLAPPER & JOHNSON, 1980. GBA-2006/1/13-30, Se/04/-07/04. Hohe Warte Formation. I element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
- Fig. 9: *Pedavis* sp. GBA-2006/1/06-19, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M2d element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: Pedavis sp. GBA-2006/1/12-23, Se/02/10/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M2d element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: Pedavis sp. GBA-2006/1/14-51. Se/02/10/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M2d element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: *Pedavis* sp. GBA-2006/1/12-25, Se/02/11/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M2d element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: *Pedavis* sp. GBA-2006/1/10-37, Se/02/17/04.
 - Rauchkofel Formation. M2b element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



Fig.	1:	Oulodus elegans detorta (WALLISER, 1964). GBA-2006/1/14-47, Se/01/02/04. Megaerella Formation. M element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	2:	Oulodus elegans elegans (WALLISER, 1964). GBA-2006/1/14-49, Se/01/02/04. Megaerella Formation. M element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	3:	Oulodus elegans elegans (WALLISER, 1964). GBA-2006/1/14-48, Se/01/02/04. Megaerella Formation. M element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	4:	Unassigned coniform element. GBA-2006/1/14-50, Se/01/02/04. Megaerella Formation. M element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	 ? Oulodus sp. GBA-2006/1/12-10, Se/02/01/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	6:	Oulodus sp. GBA-2006/1/02-20, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Sa element. a) Posterior view. b) Lateral view. c) Lower view.
Fig.	7:	Oulodus elegans elegans (WALLISER, 1964). GBA-2006/1/14-26, Se/01/03/04. Megaerella Formation. Sa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	8:	Oulodus elegans detorta (WALLISER, 1964). GBA-2006/1/14-46, Se/01/02/04. Megaerella Formation. Sa element. a) Posterior view. b) Lateral view. c) Lower view.

c) Lower view.

- Fig. 9: *Oulodus* sp. GBA-2006/1/11-09, Se/01/04/04. Megaerella Formation.
 - Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: *Oulodus* sp. GBA-2006/1/05-22, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: Oulodus walliseri (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/07-12, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa? element.
 - a) Posterior view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Oulodus aclys MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/07-18, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: Oulodus aclys MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/11-20, Se/01/09/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element.

 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: *Oulodus spicula* MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/05-18, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 15: *Oulodus spicula* MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/11-06, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



- Fig. 1: Oulodus spicula MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/07-11, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. Lateral view.
- Fig. 2: Oulodus aclys MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/06-12, Se/01/14/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sc element.
 - a) Posterio-lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 3: Oulodus elegans detorta (WALLISER, 1964). GBA-2006/1/05-15, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sc element. Lateral view.
- Fig. 4: Oulodus aclys MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/11-12, Se/01/06b/05. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 5: Oulodus aclys MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/06-17, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 6: *Oulodus* sp. A. GBA-2006/1/05-23, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 7: Oulodus greilingi hirpex MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/11-26, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.

 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 8: Oulodus greilingi hirpex MAWSON, 1986. GBA-2006/1/11-07, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view
 - b) Lower view.

- Fig. 9: Oulodus sp. GBA-2006/1/14-44, Se/01/05/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 10: Oulodus walliseri (ZIEGLER, 1960).
- GBA-2006/1/14-45, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Broken posterior process of an M? element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: Oulodus walliseri (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/07-14, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 12: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/14-21, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/08-07, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/07-26, Se/02/02/04 Rauchkofel Formation. M element.
 - a) Upper view.
 - b) Lateral view.
 - c) Oblique lower lateral view.
- Fig. 15: Pelekysgnathus sp. GBA-2006/1/16-01, Se/03/20/04. Hohe Warte Formation.
 - S element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



- Fig. 1: Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-19, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation.
 - M element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 2: Ozarkodina excavata ssp. GBA-2006/1/07-01, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M element. Lateral view.
- Fig. 3: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/10-50, Se/03/40/04. Hohe Warte Formation. M element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 4: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/12-32, Se/02/15b/05. Rauchkofel Formation. M element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 5: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/04-32, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - M element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 6: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/07-06, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - M element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 7: Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/01-15, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation.
 - Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 8: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/05-02, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.

- Fig. 9: Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983). GBA-2006/1/04-22, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983). GBA-2006/1/01-13, Se/01/01/04.
 - Megaerella Formation. Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/06-02, Se/01/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Pandorinellina sp. GBA-2006/1/14-52, Se/01/05b/05.
 - Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sa element (attached on posterior processus a fragment-
 - ed Pa element).
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/07-24, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/13-11, Se/03/18/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sa element. a) Posterior view.

 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 15: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/14-37, Se/01/15/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



Fig.	 Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/04-26, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 2: Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/04-30, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 3: Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/04-23, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 4: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/13-26, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 5: Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/06-04, Se/01/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 6: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/02-02, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Sb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 7: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/09-04, Se/03/27/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sb? element. a) Posterior view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 8: Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-15, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	 9: Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-21, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view.

b) Lower view.

- Fig. 10: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/09-18, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sc element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/13-12, Se/03/18/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sc element. Lateral view.
- Fig. 12: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/09-24, Se/03/19/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Sc element. Lateral view.
- Fig. 13: Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/04-24, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Sc element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: 'Apparatus A' MASTANDREA, 1985a. GBA-2006/1/12-01, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Sb? element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 15: 'Apparatus A' MASTANDREA, 1985a. GBA-2006/1/12-02, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 16: 'Apparatus A' MASTANDREA, 1985a. GBA-20061/07-03, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M element.

 - a) Upper view.b) Posterior view.
 - c) Lower view.


Fig.	1:	'Apparatus A' MASTANDREA, 1985a. GBA-2006/1/07-02, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. M element. a) Posterior view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	2:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/01-18, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Cluster of a broken M & Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	3:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/01-23, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	4:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/05-27, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/01-16, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	6:	 <i>Ozarkodina excavata excavata</i> (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/11-28, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	7:	 <i>Ozarkodina excavata excavata</i> (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-08, Se/02/01/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	8:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/05-30, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	9:	<i>Ozarkodina excavata excavata</i> (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/07-22, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	10:	<i>Ozarkodina excavata excavata</i> (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-01, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	11:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-04, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.



Fig.	1:	Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/05-25, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	2:	Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/11-11, Se/01/06b/05. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	3:	Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/11-21, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	4:	Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/11-15, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/12-29, Se/01/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	6:	Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/11-16, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	7:	Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/08-08, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	8:	Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/11-13, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.

- Fig. 9: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/07-27, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/10-44, Se/03/17/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pb element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 11: *Flajsella* sp. GBA-2006/1/11-02, Se/01/11/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pb element. a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Flajsella sp. GBA-2006/1/14-39, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pb element.

 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 13: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/13-13, Se/03/19/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pb element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/14-05, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pb element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Lower view.
- Fig. 15: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/09-35, Se/04/08/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pb element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



Fig.	1:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/03-07, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	2:	<i>Ozarkodina excavata excavata</i> (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/03-09, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	3:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-35, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	4:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/03-08, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-30, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	6:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/04-15, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	7:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/02-33, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	8:	Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/17-04, Se/01/14/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	9:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/09-05, Se/03/27/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	10:	Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/13-22, Se/03/31/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.



Fig.	1:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/04-10, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	2:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/12-30, Se/01/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	3:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/07-23, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
Fig.	4:	Ozarkodina wurmi (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958). GBA-2006/1/17-03, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	5:	Ozarkodina excavata excavata (BRANSON & MEHL, 1933). GBA-2006/1/10-07, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	6:	Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/03-13, Se/01/01/04. Megaerella Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig.	7:	Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/04-19, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.

- Fig. 8: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/04-17, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 9: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/11-24, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/05-06, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.

 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 11: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/05-11, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 12: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/04-11, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.

 - a) Lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 13: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/04-14, Se/01/06a/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 14: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/06-08, Se/01/13/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.



- Fig. 1: Ozarkodina remscheidensis remscheidensis (ZIEGLER, 1960). GBA-2006/1/10-01, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 2: Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis (WALLISER, 1964) beta morph MURPHY, VALENZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, 2004. GBA-2006/1/11-14, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. Fig. 3: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/10-02, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 4: Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/08-04, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 5: Ozarkodina camelfordensis FARRELL, 2004. GBA-2006/1/11-22, Se/01/06/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 6: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/12-31, Se/01/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Anterior view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 7: Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/06-21, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view
 - b) Lower view.

- Fig. 8: Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp. GBA-2006/1/07-25, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 9: *Ozarkodina* cf. *O. remscheidensis* ssp. GBA-2006/1/06-22, Se/01/17/04 Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 10: Ozarkodina aff. O. paucidentata MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/07-07, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation Pa element.

 - a) Lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 11: Flajsella schulzei (BARDASHEV, 1989). GBA-2006/1/12-03, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 12: *Flajsella stygia* (FLAJS, 1967). GBA-2006/1/14-41, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.

 - a) Lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 13: *Flajsella stygia* (FLAJS, 1967). GBA-2006/1/12-04, Se/01/16/04.
 - Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.



- Fig. 1: Ozarkodina pandora alpha morph MURPHY, MATTI & Walliser, 1981. GBA-2006/1/12-33, Se/02/06a/05. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view. c) Anterior view. Fig. 2: Ozarkodina pandora alpha morph MURPHY, MATTI
- & WALLISER, 1981. GBA-2006/1/14-40, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Upper view.
- Fig. 3: Ozarkodina pandora alpha morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, 1981. GBA-2006/1/12-06, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 4: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/10-49, Se/03/40/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 5: Lanea omoalpha MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999. GBA-2006/1/11-03, Se/01/07/04. Rauchkofel Formation Pa element a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
- Fig. 6: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/12-28, Se/02/12/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 7: Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL, 1969). GBA-2006/1/13-25, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.

- Fig. 8: Lanea omoalpha MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999. GBA-2006/1/14-36, Se/01/15/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 9: Ozarkodina remscheidensis repetitor (CARLS & GANDL, 1969). GBA-2006/1/13-29, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 10: Lanea omoalpha MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999. GBA-2006/1/14-35, Se/01/08/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 11: Lanea telleri (SCHULZE, 1968). GBA-2006/1/12-09, Se/02/01/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 12: Lanea telleri (SCHULZE, 1968). GBA-2006/1/12-05, Se/01/16/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Juvenile Pa element.
 - a) Slightly oblique lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 13: Ozarkodina aff. O. pandora beta morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, 1981. GBA-2006/1/14-38, Se/01/16/04.
 - Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
 - c) Oblique posterior view.
- Fig. 14: Lanea eoeleanorae MURPHY & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, 1999. GBA-2006/1/07-08, Se/02/01/04.
 - Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Slightly oblique lower view.
 - b) Anterior view.
 - c) Lateral view.



- Fig. 1: Pandorinellina steinhornensis praeoptima (MASHKOVA, 1972). GBA-2006/1/10-45, Se/03/17/04. Hohe Warte Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 2: Pandorinellina optima optima (MOSKALENKO, 1966). GBA-2006/1/12-07, Se/02/01/04. Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
- Fig. 3: Pandorinellina cf. Pand. ebzeryi FARRELL, 2003. GBA-2006/1/10-12, Se/02/05/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.b) Upper view.
- Fig. 4: Pandorinellina sp. GBA-2006/1/07-10, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
 - c) Anterior view.
- Fig. 5: Pandorinellina sp. GBA-2006/1/09-19, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 6: *Pandorinellina* cf. *Pand. ebzeryi* FARRELL, 2003. GBA-2006/1/08-05, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 7: Pandorinellina miae (BULTYNCK, 1971). GBA-2006/1/09-06, Se/03/27/04. Hohe Warte Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.

- Fig. 8: Pandorinellina sp. GBA-2006/1/09-20, Se/04/-11/04. Hohe Warte Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
- Fig. 9: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/12-37, Se/02/33/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Lower view.
 - c) Posterior view.
- Fig. 10: Ozarkodina aff. O. remscheidensis eosteinhornensis (WALLISER, 1964) alpha morph MURPHY, VALENZUELA-RÍOS & CARLS, 2004.
 - GBA-2006/1/03-11, Se/01/01/04.
 - Megaerella Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Lateral view.
 - b) Upper view.
 - c) Anterior ? view.
- Fig. 11: Ozarkodina cf. O. pandora zeta morph MURPHY, MATTI & WALLISER, 1981. GBA-2006/1/12-35, Se/02/20/04.

 - Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element. a) Lateral view.

 - b) Upper view.
 - c) Lateral view.
- Fig. 12: Unassigned specimen. GBA-2006/1/12-36, Se/02/29/04.
 - Rauchkofel Formation.
 - Pa element.
 - a) Posterior view.
 - b) Lateral view.
 - C) Lower view.



Fig. 1:	Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958. GBA-2006/1/06-15, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Posterior view. b) Lower view.
Fig. 2:	Ancyrodelloides kutscheri BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958. GBA-2006/1/06-16, Se/01/17/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Upper view. b) Oblique anterior view.
Fig. 3:	Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) alpha morph LANE & ORMISTON, 1979. GBA-2006/1/10-09, Se/02/05/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
Fig. 4:	Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/08-03, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
Fig. 5:	Ancyrodelloides limbacarinatus MURPHY & MATTI, 1983. GBA-2006/1/08-01, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view.
Fig. 6:	Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) alpha morph LANE & ORMISTON, 1979. GBA-2006/1/07-15, Se/02/02/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Upper view. b) Lateral view.
Fig. 7:	Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) alpha morph LANE & ORMISTON, 1979. GBA-2006/1/11-30, Se/01/15/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Anterior view. b) Lateral view. c) Lower view.
Fig. 8:	Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) beta morph LANE & ORMISTON, 1979. GBA-2006/1/08-06, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Lateral view. b) Lower view. c) Posterior view. d) Oblique upper view.
Fig. 9:	Ancyrodelloides transitans (BISCHOFF & SANNEMANN, 1958) intermediate form MASTANDREA, 1985a. GBA-2006/1/08-02, Se/02/04/04. Rauchkofel Formation. Pa element. a) Anterior view. b) Oblique upper view. c) Lateral view. d) Oblique lower view.







North-western wall of Mount Seewarte indicating Figs. A-H.





Northern wall of Mount Seewarte.



Appendix 3.



Appendix 4.

Compilation of descriptive terms visualized as simplified images 🖛 🖛

A.1. triangular with gently rounded margins; A.2. triangular with keels bordering anterior and posterior margins (e.g.: *Coelocerodontus*); A.3. rounded with depression on posterior lateral faces, one side furrowed (e.g.: *Panderodus*); A.4. lenticular with anterior and posterior margin denticulate (e.g.: *Belodella anomalis*); A.5. lenticular with either margin keeled (e.g.: *Decoriconus fragilis*); A.6. sub-square; A.7. circular; A.8. oval; A.9. elliptical; A.10. lenticular. B.1. fused; B.2. triangular; B.3. stout; B.4. palisade-like; B.5. needle-like; B.6. discrete, closely-spaced; B.7. discrete, equally-spaced; B.8. discrete, wide-spaced; B.9. discrete, irregularly-denticulate. C.1. adpressed basal groove; C.2. deep basal groove; C.3. medium to moderately deep basal groove; C.4. shallow basal groove; C.5. inverted basal groove; C.6. asymmetrical basal groove; C.7. ledge along upper margin of the blade (e.g.: *Carkodina ecavata tuma*); C.8. bench along either side of the blade (e.g.: *Ancyrodelloides trigonicus*); C.9. terrace on platform lobes with conspicuous brim sulcus (e.g.: *Lanea telleri*). D.1. symmetrical platform, lobes rounded; D.2. asymmetrical platform, lobes terraced (e.g.: *Lanea omoalpha*); D.5. small asymmetrical platform, left lobe



with bulge-like shoulder (e.g.: *Ozarkodina wurmi*); D.6. platform lobes heart-shaped (e.g.: *Ozarkodina r. remscheidensis*); D.7. asymmetrical platform, left lobe rounded and wide, right lobe flaring from posterior margin (e.g.: *Pandorinellina st. steinhornensis*); D.8. rounded to heart-shaped platform, right lobe ornamented with tubercle aligned to blade (e.g.: *Ozarkodina r. costeinhornensis*); D.9. narrow symmetrical platform, lobes rounded tapering towards either margin (e.g.: *Ozarkodina r. repetitor*); D.10. spear-shaped (e.g.: *Flajsella schulzei*); D.11. nearly symmetrical platform, lobes expanded, tapering towards either margin, lobes unornamented (e.g.: *Ozarkodina pandora* alpha morph); D.12. symmetrical platform, noe lobe ornamented, covering a single node, ridge or tubercle (e.g.: *Ozarkodina pandora* gamma morph); D.14. lateral platform processes denticulate, bench-like posterior blade (e.g.: *Ancyrodelloides trigonicus*); D.15. asymmetrical platform, left lobe small and rounded, right lobe expanded, sigmoidal blade axis (e.g.: *Flajsella stygia*). E.1. straight (e.g.: *Ozarkodina r. costeinhornensis*); E.2. nearly straight with denticles pointing posteriorly (e.g.: *Ozarkodina r. repetitor*); E.3. anterior upper margin straight, posterior upper profile decreasing in denticle height (e.g.: *Pandorinellina st. steinhornensis*); E.4. descending; E.5. irregular upper profile (e.g.: *Ozarkodina r. esteinhornensis*); E.5. fraining of posterior blade bearing enlarged denticles (e.g.: *Ozarkodina camelfordensis*); E.7. fanning of posterior denticle-set arcuate (*Pandorinellina*: Optima group); E.10. anterior denticle-set increasing in height posteriorly (*Pandorinellina*: Exiqua group); E.11. anterior denticle-set arcuate (*Pandorinellina*: Optima group); E.10. anterior denticle-set increasing in height posteriorly (*Pandorinellina*: Exiqua group); E.11. anterior blade bearing enlarged denticles (e.g.: *Plajsella schulzei*). F.1. straight; F.2. acute angled; F.3. convex curved. G.1. straight; G.2. ante

srs	.ds snpoluO			Τ			2?						Τ	12	~	6		6 4	o [0	~	; 13	₽ ₹	5	. -		-	Ľ	,		-		6 7		5	-	<u> </u>	3
nbe	A.qs suboluO		$\left \right $	╉	+	╈	┢		+		┢		╉	╉	+	\vdash		+	+	┢		+	╈	┢	╉	+	+		┢		$\left \right $	╡,	-	+	$\left \right $	H	+	+
nur	neatilew subour		\vdash	+	+	2	\vdash		+		\vdash		+	+		5		2	~	-	<u>،</u>	-		-	+	+	+	2	-		6	+	+	+	H	\vdash	+	+
len	Pinaids sanoono		\vdash	+	+	+	-		+	+			+	+	+	\vdash		~		, 4	÷	+	+ ~	2	+	_	+	-	_	\vdash	-	_	_	+	$\left \right $	-+	+	+
cim	voduu ufuuush oppopo		$\left \right $	+	++	╀	┝		+	+	\vdash		+	+	╀	\vdash			+			+		\vdash	+	-	+		+	\vdash		+	+	+	$\left \right $	-+	+	+
spe	xemid innilian subolito		$\left \right $	+	++	+	\vdash		+	+	\vdash		+	+	╀	\vdash			╀	╞		+		\vdash	+	+	+		-	\vdash	-	+	+	+	$\left \right $		+	+
pu	snepele snepele suboluO		\mid	+	\square	+	\vdash		+	+	\vdash		+	+	+	\vdash		_	+	\vdash		+	╀	\vdash	+	+	+		╞	\vdash		+	+	+	Ľ			-
s a	ehoteb znegele zuboluO		\mid	+		+	\vdash		_				\downarrow	+	+	\vdash		_	+	\vdash			+	\vdash	\downarrow	_	_		╞			- '	×	+	μ		''	~
ple	s/ipe snpoinO													\downarrow		9	9	^ہ 9	~~~~	, <u> </u>	-		ď	2	23	~		<u>,</u> 1		-		e	\downarrow	+	Ц	⊢	\downarrow	
am	Pelekysgnathus sp.																								\downarrow								\downarrow	\perp	\square	\square	\downarrow	
nt s	.ds suboricipate.	1				-	~																														\downarrow	
opo	Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis eta morph	1																																				
onc		I					2																															
II c	donom eta sisnadosniatz. 1 to suboinonats t	гм						Π						1,	-				T		Π		T	Γ	T				Γ				T		Π		T	
of a	Latericriodus steinacheniats suboincites eta	1		╈		~	-		╈		T		1	↑	T	[T	T		T	T	T	╡	1	1		T			1	T	╈	Π		T	
art (Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis beta morph	 	H	+	$\uparrow \uparrow$	\dagger	-		+	\uparrow	T		╡	╈	+	\square		+	\uparrow	1			t	Ħ	╡	╈	╈		t	T		╈	\dagger	\dagger	H		\dagger	+
ch		гw	+	+	$\uparrow \uparrow$	╀	\vdash		+	+			╉	+	+	\square		+	+	+		+	\dagger	\square	+	╈	╈	+	┢	\vdash	+	╈	+	+	Η		+	+
ion	leriodus sp.	s	$\left \right $	╈		╀	┢		╈		┢		╉	+	╈	┢		+	╈	┢		╈	╈	┢	╉	+	+		┢		$\left \right $	╈	+	5	$\left \right $	H	+	+
but	; Caudicrodus sp.		$\left \right $	╉	+	╀	┢		+		┢		╉	+	╈	\vdash		+	+	┼		+	╈	\vdash	+	+	+		┢		$\left \right $	╈	+	+	$\left \right $	-+	+	+
istri	Caudichodus att. C. ceimeencus		$\left \right $	╀	++	╀	┢		+	+	\vdash		+	+	╈	\vdash		+	╈	┼		+	╀	\vdash	+	+	+		┢		$\left \right $	╉	+	+	$\left \right $	-+	+	+
D	anaiodillao 0 #c autoinaihur.0	-	\vdash	+	++	+	-						+	-	+	\vdash		+	+	+		_	╀	\vdash	+	+	+		+			+	+	+	Η	-+	+	+
	.4	PCM	$\left \right $	+	++	╀	┝		-		~		+	+	+	\vdash		+	+	╞		+	╀	\vdash	+	+	+	-	╞	\vdash	$\left \right $	+	+	+	$\left \right $		+	+
	as sivebed	M2c		+		+	\vdash		+	-	÷		+	+	+	\vdash			+	╞		+	╞	\vdash	+	+	+		╞	\vdash		+	+	+	$\mid \mid$		+	_
		92M		+	3								_	+					-				╞		\downarrow		+					_	+	╇	Ц	⊢	\downarrow	+
	.ds snpoiepued			ſ	,	4	2	9	ę	2 %	4	5	4	8 8	≈ ∾	3	9	1 26	- 22	1 =	29	- 1	ß	10	∞ :	، ا	، e	n 8	3 5	5	7	4 2	₹ 	™ ~	201	4	- '	100
	sutetsooinu suborebne9								4	» د	'	~		~ ~	າ	7	9	120	8 8	8	16	;		9	و ا	35	~	4 û	3 2	53	38	23	\$ °	ν 4	441	28	56	14 47
	sutevnosi suborshang																											1	:									
	.qs suborebneqoeM			-	•	-	S		~	, ~	ľ																											
	sutemisotdel suborebneqoeN			12		ę	2		-			2	1?		13																							
	silidaupsa suborshnaqosM			5		4	11		12	-																												
	Decoricona tragilis				·		e	Π	5	154	54	28	-	169	1 1	2	1?	88	2 s	22	-	~ 4	3 5	2	Τ		T	38	8 8	-	-	- 1	2	Τ	-		1?	Π
	Pseudooneotodus beckmanni		-	- 5	:	53	92		- :	2 5	5		-	~ ;	2 ∞	1?	2	9	~	, -	-	,	n «		-		T		-			١.	-	T	Π		-	-
	suteitisitlum suboresilleW			T										T	T								t	Γ	1		Ť		~				Ť	╈	9		Ť	Τ
	.qs aixis			•	- 2	-	4		4	4		9	32	4	2 ~	1?		4 5	2 4 2	r m	e	į	9 F			; ;		y	о 2	2?	3?		4	+	∞	~	5.	- 8
	A.qs eixlerov0		\vdash	╈						+			+	-	+			-	+				╈	\square	╡	╈	╈		┢	\vdash			+	+	Η		+	+
	Dvorakia klapperi		\vdash	+	+		-		+	+			+	+	+	\vdash			+				╀	┢	+	╉	+		+	┢			+	+	H	H	+	+
	Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni		\vdash	+	+	+	-		+	+			+	+	+	\vdash			+	+		-	╀	\vdash	+	+	+	-	-	┢			+	+	$\left \right $			5 4
			\vdash	+		+	-		+				+	+	+	\vdash		+	+	+		-	╀	\vdash	+	+	+		+	\vdash		+	+	+	$\left \right $	-+	+	+
			\vdash	+	+	+	\vdash		+				+	+	+	\vdash		_	+	+		_	╀	\vdash	+	+	+		+	\vdash		-	+	+	H	$\left \right $	+	+
	eteints ellebole8	$\left - \right $	$\mid \mid$			-	-		+	1			+		0	_		<u> </u>		2 10				$\left \right $		4			, .	-	0		-	+	H		+	+
5.	smisən siləbolə8	\square	$\mid \mid$	- 5	¥ ₩	2	2	÷	-	7	. ¥	8	6	8 <u>6</u>	10 10	-3 	ž	25	- 12	: -	21	u ç	= =	3	¥.	; -	4	2 2	16	32	16	Ň	<u>ا</u> م	╄	°	4	;	3 1
xibr	silemone ellebolea						2						_		+ ¹			_				2										۰ D	4 ·	0 0	ě	1 27	⁸	7 -
per	sample number / conodont taxa		/2/20/04	2/19/04	V2/17/04	2/15c/05	2/15b/0	12/15/04	2/14/04	2/12/04	2/11/04	/2/10/04	12/09/04	12/08/04	2/06a/0	2/06/04	2/05/04	2/04/04	2/02/04	2/01/04	1/17/04	1/16a/0.	1/15/04	1/14/04	11/13/04	11/12/04	1/11/04	1/00/04	1/08/04	1/07/04	1/06/04	1/06b/0	1/06a/U	1/05a/0	1/05/04	1/04/04	1/03/04	1/02/04
Api			Se/0	Se/U	Se/0	Se/02	Se/02	Se/0.	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0.	Se/0.	Se/0	Se/0	Se/02	Se/0.	Se/0.	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0.	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/U	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/U	Se/01	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/U Se/0

96

ы.
≚.
σ
Ð
õ
ð

ned	sum of elements per sample			37	63	25	7 142	312	181	5	236	523	229	217	58	920	955	132 186	229	970	521	427	413	284	69	020	202	157	392	162	63	629	488	285	471	206	787	11	89	1112	3193	2906	373	070
ntin	zînemele mroîinoz bengizsanu		T	e	۵	7	4	ۍ د	2 ~	, .	3	ន	24	10	m	39	8	4 1	- 6	R	20	23	4	27	~ ;	5 5	i -		59	÷	4	÷	: ?	6 9	? σ	ę	; ∞	2 ~		6	9	e	18	10
Col	(spiniboXasıkodinism) snəmiəəqs bəngissenu		5	15	2	س	- \$	3	156	5	42	133	41	61	27	74	8	4 /4	157	336	265	110	160	127	53	203	141	103	115	91	22	167	16.1	112	193	110	335	42	36	331	2506	2421	268	504
-	'A sutsisqqA'		Γ		Π		T						Π				T								1	3 4	-					T	T		Γ							Π		
	.qs enillenhobne9	sa Fa																		-		-			-											1	:	-						
	emitqoeerq siznemodniets enillenhobne9	Pa	t			╉	╈		t		\square				╡		╈	╎		t						+		\uparrow	t	t	┢	t	┢		┢			\vdash	t	\uparrow		Η		
	smitqo smitqo snillennobns9	ъЧ	t			╈	╈	╞	┢		\vdash		\square		1		╈			t			-	1		-		╞	t	t	┢	╞	╞		╞	t		\uparrow	t	╞		Η		
	9sim snill9nhobns9	ьq	t			╡	╈	1	t		T				1		╈			t			1			t		T	T	T	t	T	t		t	T		t	T	t		Π		
	Pandorinellina cf. Pand. ebzeryi	ъЧ	T			╡	T		T		F		Π		1		╈		-	-								T	T	T	T	T	T		T			T	T	T		Π		
	imuw eniboxhezO	ьq	T			╡	T		T								╋			T						T					T	T	T		~		~	'		T		Π		
	Ozarkodina ct. O. remscheidensis ssp.	ъа					+	$\left \right $									+			-		-		2	+								╞	-		-								
	Osarkodina remetiensia repetitor	вЧ	t			╈	╈	\uparrow	t		t		Η		1		╈			t			1	1	1	t		╞	t	t	t	t	t		t	t		t	t	t		Η		
	sisnəbiərizmər sisnəbiərizzmər eniboxhszO	qd					ļ							1?			~ ·	7 °	2 0	8			2	-			4 0		-	-		~	4 4 4 4	n m	9 9		6	5	-			H		
	סבמואסטווום מון. ס. ו. פספופווווטווופוופו אימי אפומ וווטואו	E9	┝		\mid	+	+	+	+	-	\vdash		\square		<u> </u>	-		4 4	1	-		+	-	.,		" •	-			-		-	/ -			-	-		-			~	-	
	Indrom stati siziamoniniazoa :	Do La	┝		$\left \right $	+	╀	┼	╞		╞		\mathbb{H}		+	+	+	┼		╞	$\left \right $	+	+	+	+	╀	+	╞	\vdash	\vdash	╞	╞	+		╞	+		╞	ŀ	┝		F	$\left \right $	
	Control of the signe modulation of the suboverso	~ G	┝		$\left \right $	+	+	+	╞	+	╞		\mathbb{H}	_	+	-	+	+		╞		+	+	+	+	+	+	╞	\vdash	\vdash	╞	╞	╀		╞	+		╞	\vdash	╞		H	$\left \right $	Ĺ
		°0	┢		\mid	+	+	+	+	-	\vdash		H		+	-	+	_		\vdash		+	+	+	-	-		+	+	\vdash	╞	+	╀		╞	+		\vdash	\vdash	+		Η	\mid	-
	ngiom bids broking to the british	Pa	F		\square	+	+	+	╞	$\left \right $	╞		\square		+	+	+	+		╞		+	+	+	+	+	+	╞	\vdash	╞	╞	╞	╀		╞	\vdash		\vdash	\vdash	╞		\mathbb{H}	$\left \right $	
	donom stad stohnad. 0. Tis snihothes0	ъЧ	┝		\square	+	╀	╀	╞	\vdash			Η	_	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	╞	\vdash	╞	╞	╞	╀	+	╞	+		╞	┝	╞		⊢	\mid	L
	danom edale, erobneg egiboxhesO	69	┝		\square	+	+	+	+		+		H		-	_	+		-	1÷		_	+	-	+	-		+			╞	+	╀	-	+	+		+		+		⊢	\mid	
	ass eteveoxa eriboxhezO.		┝			+	+	+	F		\vdash		H		+	_	+			\vdash		_	+	_		-		\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	+	╞					\vdash	\vdash	\vdash		μ	\square	
	oritodina aff. O. excavata tuma	Pb Pd	\mid																					+	+	•	, a	, , -	-					22	;							Η		
	eleveoxe eleveoxe enibolhezO	Pa Pb	-				•	2 c	2 2	13 -	9	8 8	3 2	11 1	-	9 9	12 10	45 X	2 00	16 7	25 4	24 7	22 4	8	2 :	2 d	, . , .	1 0 m	4 3	-		13	2 a	° 13 /	- 18 - 19 - 19	3 9	35 14	6 4	-	34	520 87	362 50	13 3	252 AD
	siznəbroîləmes eniboxhezO	ъч	t			╈	╈	+	┢		┢		Η		╡		╈			t		+	┥	+		+		┢	\vdash	┢	┢	┢	╈		_			\vdash	┢	┢		Η	\square	
	həllət səns	ъч	┢		\square	╉	╈		\top		\vdash				┥		+	\$:	~			-				- +	:		\square	┢	┢	╈		┢			\vdash	t	┢		Η		F
	Lanea eoeleanorae	ьa	t		\square	╉	╈		┢		\vdash		H		╡		╈	╈		~			-			-		┢	t	t	┢	t	┢		┢			\vdash	t	┢		Η		
	eydisomo sens	ьа	t			╡	╈		┢		\vdash		Η		╡		╈			t			╡		+	-	-	┢		T	┢	┢	١,	↓ ←	·	t		\uparrow	T	┢		Η		
		٩d	t		\square	╉	╈		┢		\vdash				╡		╈	╈		t			+			n •	,	┢	t	-	·	t	┢		┢			t	t	┢		Η		F
	.qs elləsiələ	ьq	t			╈	╈	┢	┢		┢		Η		╡		╈			t	-		-	+	,	, ,	-	+-	4	t	┢	┢	┢		┢	╞		┢	t	┢		Η		┢
	eigyis allesiai	Pa	t		\square	╈	╈		+				Η		╡		-			~			4			2 5	:	~			┢	┢	╈		┢			\vdash		+		Η	\square	
	iesluhas ellesiel	ьq	┢			╉	+		t		\vdash		\square		+		╈	+		\vdash			+	1		•		+	13		+	t	╈		┢			\vdash	t	+		Η		
	mot etsibermetni <i>anstianert aebiollebor</i> yanA	ъч	t			╉	╈		t				\square		+		╈	╈		-			+		+	+				t	+	t	┢		┢			\vdash	t	\vdash		Η		
	hqnom sted <i>znstiznert zebiollebor</i> yonA	ьq	┢		$\left \right $	╉	╈		+		\vdash		Η		┥		╉	╈	+	~			+		╈	+	-	┢	\vdash	\vdash	┢	┢	╈	+	┢			\vdash	\vdash	+		$\left \right $		┢
	Aqrom sAqls anstianent asbiolleboryonA	ъЧ	┢		\square	+	+	+	┢		┢		\square	_	┥		+,	-	-	+		+1.2	+	-	+	-	-	13		┢	┢	┢	╈		┢	┢		+	┢	┢		Η		
	sutsninsosdmil sebiolleboryonA	ьa	\vdash		\parallel	+	+	+	+	+	┢	\vdash	Η		+		+	-		~		-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	┢	┢	╞	╀	+	┢	+		+	\vdash	┢		Η	Η	┝
X 5	Ancyrodelloides kulscheri	ьa	┢	+		+	+	+	+		\vdash	\vdash	Н		+	-	+	+		+	$\left \right $	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	\vdash	+	┢	+		+	+		+	+	┢		Η	Η	┝
Append	exel toobono / redmun elqmes	<u>I</u>	Se/02/20/04	Se/02/19/04	Se/02/18/04	Se/02/17/04	Se/U2/16/04	Se/02/15b/05	Se/02/15/04	Se/02/14/04	Se/02/13/04	Se/02/12/04	Se/02/11/04	Se/02/10/04	Se/02/09/04	Se/02/08/04	Se/02/07/04	Se/U2/Uba/U5 Se/D2/D6/D4	Se/02/05/04	Se/02/04/04	Se/02/03/04	Se/02/02/04	Se/02/01/04	Se/01/17/04	Se/01/16a/05	Se/01/16/04	Sel01/13/04	Se/01/13/04	Se/01/12/04	Se/01/11/04	Se/01/10/04	Se/01/09/04	Sel01/08/04	Se/01/03/04	Se/01/06/04	Se/01/06b/05	Se/01/06a/04	Se/01/05b/05	Se/01/05a/05	Se/01/05/04	Se/01/04/04	Se/01/03/04	Se/01/02/04	Sa/01/01/04

Continued

hperior	יט א א																														50	וווח	ך ש
sample number / conodont taxa	siismons siisuula emisen sileboled	eleiula elleboled	Coelocerodontus ct. C. reduncus	Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni		A .qs eixlerov0	.qs aixerovQ	suteinteitilum suboresilleW	гавидоопеотодия ресктаплі Decorriconus tradilis	silideunaa sunoonooo	sindabupa sabohannaqoon	.ds snporapuedoaN	รทุยงากวอง รทุดงอุบษ _ิ ศ	suteteosinu suborebne9	.qs suborebne ^q		.qs sivebə9	Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus	.qs subionological contractions of the subionological contraction of the s	ds snpouol	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis beta morph	Latencriodus steinachensis eta morph	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis	Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis eta morph	Lateriorioria suborioria	-ds snyteubs/xale	oulodus aciys	suebəjə suebəjə snpojnO	xəqriri ilgnilising suboluO	eluciqs suboluO	nəsillew suboluO	A.q <i>e subolu</i> O	.qs suboluO
<u> </u>																MZb	M2d M2c	I	I	zw S	I	I	I	I	I								
Se/03/23/04	-							H	\parallel	H	\parallel	\parallel		-		E									\parallel	\vdash	\square						
Se/03/22/04		-				┤	+			+	-										_	-				+	+	_					
Se/03/21/04	8	+	\downarrow			+	e	+	+	+	+	+	+	∞			$\left \right $								+	+	+	_	_			1	
Se/03/20/04	34	4				2	4	+	+	-	_			54	~		$\left \right $								+	2	+						
Se/03/19/04	3					┥	5	+	-	-	_	+	+	25											╉	+	-	_					
Se/03/18/04	2					+	4	+			+		+	9			┦								+	4	+	_	_			+	
Se/03/17/04	- ' '	+				+	+	+	 m	- 	_	+		۰ °			$\left \right $																
Se/U3/10/04	* [‡]					╞	╀	+			ļ	 ,	\downarrow	√ (,		T					Ţ	Ī	T	+		┼	+	+		T	t	Τ
Se/03/15/04 Se/03/14/04	- 4							+	1		-		-	7	~				-						+			_					
Se/03/13/04	3					Η		Н	H	Н	H	\parallel	Ц	Ц	Ц							-			Η	Η	\square						
Se/03/12/04	9				1?		1?		2					4					-														
Se/03/11/04	+					┥	┥	+	+	+	+	+					$\left \right $								+	+	+	_			1	╡	
Se/03/10/04	+	+				╡	╉	+	<u>, i</u>	_	+	+	\downarrow		-		\top								┥	+	-	_					
Se/03/08/04						+	5	+			+	+		•	- -		+								-		-						
Se/U3/U7/04	= `	+				\uparrow	31	+			+	+	+	2	- •		T					Ţ	Ī	Ţ	- ,	╈	+	+	+		T	t	
Se/03/06/04	~	+				╎	+	+		+	+	+	+	`	~ ·		T						•		-	+	+	+	_		T	1	
Se/03/02/04	+					╈	\dagger	+	_	+	+	+			-								7	t	+	╈	+	-	+		T		
Se/03/03/04	\vdash					\vdash	┢	┢	╞	\vdash	╞	╞			-										\vdash	┢	\vdash						
Se/03/02a/04	-																																
Se/03/02/04	3					Η	1?					1?											-										
Se/03/01/04	2					H			7					-	-				1?														
Se/02/41/04		_				+	+	+		+	+														-	+	+	_					
Se/02/40/04	-	+				+	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	\downarrow	-		┦					-			2?	+	+	_	_				
Se/02/39/04	~	+				╎	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	\downarrow	-		Ŧ				ļ		T		+	╉	+	+	_		T	+	
Se/02/38/04	+	+				+	╈	+	-	+	+	+					$\left \right $; ;	+	+	_	_		T		
Se/02/36/04					T			+	, ,	+	+	\vdash			-										-								
Se/02/35/04	12	^			Ē	\mid	╞	\vdash	-		╞													E	2?								
Se/02/34/04	-								-						-																		
Se/02/33/04							3?	$\left \right $							2										-								
Se/02/32/04	-					ŀ	ŀ	╞	+	╞	$\left \right $														╞		_						
Se/02/31/04	۳ ۲						-		4			-										-											
Se/02/30a/05	9						\vdash		5			12			-									-	-								
Se/02/30/04	9								12						-										1?								
Se/02/29/04						_	-																		-	_						_	
Se/02/28/04	6							•	46	-	_			e	4								_		_	1?	_						
Se/02/27/04	3	_					_	_	+	_	_	_	_		2		_						_		_	_	_	_	_				
Se/02/26/04																																	
Se/02/25/04	-							-	-	\neg	-			-											-	-	_	_					
Se/02/24/04								\neg	~	\neg					-										-			_					
Se/02/23/04	-							+	+	7	_				-										┥		_	_					
Se/02/22/04	-							-	-	\neg	\neg				-										-	_	_	_	_				
Se/02/21/04	-								\vdash	\vdash	$\left - \right $	-															-						

Appendix 5.

ы. С
≚.
g
P
ã
9

ued	sum of elements per sample		2	2	22	119 76	96	25	9	44	6	10	24	-	7	m ;	44 16	12	9	7	7	21	5	7	7	15	٢	4 1	0 1	-	17	ŝ	5 5	₽7 ₽7	- ~	7 98	11	-	9	6	4	17 A
ntin	zînemele moîtoo bengisseru				2	3 12	, <u>r</u>	-	2	10	3	2	e	-	,	~ '	4 g	2	-	4		e.		2	9	14	-	-	Ι			ŀ			-	ď	• ~		-			7 5
Cor	biniboארגספומון (nism) snamioaqs bangissenu			-	۲	- 5	~			5	٢	4	9					5	4	2	- L	n «	-				7	- ,		4	4	- n	- ,	° -	- ~	4 4	- ~	, -	4	9	7	3 12
-	'A suteteqA'																																									
		вЧ	Γ												T		T	Γ			T	T	T				1	T	T	T		T		T		T	T			Γ	ſŤ	T
	Pandorinellina sp.	ъS	Γ					t	T				1		╈	1	╞	T			╈		t	T			1	╈	t	1		T		t		t	┢		F	Π	\square	t
	smitqoesiq siznemoriniets snilleninobns9	вq	F			╈		~					╡		╈	1	╈	T			╈		t	T			1	╈	t	†		t		t		T	╈		F			╈
	emitqo emitqo enillenhobne9	вЧ	┢			+			t				╡	1	╈	╈	╈	┢			╈	╈	┢	┢			+	╈	╈	╋	+	╈	+	╈		T	╈		\vdash	H		+
	9eim enillenhobne9	ьq	┢			+		\vdash	\square				┥		+	╈	+	┢			+	+	┢	┢			+	+	╈	╉		╈	+	╈		╈	+		┢	H	H	+
	Pandorinellina cf. Pand. ebzeryi	ъЧ	⊢			+		+	┢		_		+		+	+	+	┢			+		┢			┥	┥	+	+	╉		+		╈		╈	╈		┢		H	+
	ішим вирожиго)	84	⊢			+		┢	┢				+	+	+	+	+	┢			+	+	╞	\vdash		+	┥	+	+	╉	+	╉		╀		╀	╈		╞	\vdash	⊢	+
			\vdash			+		+	\vdash				+		+	+	+	\vdash			+		╀	\vdash		-	+	+	+	+		+		+	-	+	╀		\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	+
	Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp.	ча	\vdash			+		\vdash	\vdash				+	+	+	+	+	╞			+	+	╞	\vdash		+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	╀	+	╀	╀		╞	┝	┝┼	+
		69	\vdash			_		╞	╞				+	_	+	+	+	╞			+	+	╞	╞		_	+	+	+	+		+	+	╀	+	╞	╀		╞	H	\vdash	+
		69				_			╞				\downarrow	_	+	+	+	╞			+	+	╞	╞		_	_	+	+	+		\downarrow	_	+		_	╞			\square	\vdash	+
	sisnebiertozmer siznebiertozmer knibokraZO	PP											\downarrow		\downarrow	_	\downarrow				\downarrow		╞				_	\downarrow		4		\downarrow					\downarrow			\square	\square	\downarrow
		в٩													\downarrow			L					╞														\downarrow				\square	\downarrow
	Aqnom ated siznemortnietzoe n. O. fils antiboxhozO	ъЧ													\downarrow																										Ц	
	Ozarkodina aff. O. r. eosteinhomensis alpha morph	ъЧ																																							Ц	
	eleînebioueq.O. île entotrata	вq																																								
	Ozarkodina cf. O. pandora zeta morph	ъЧ																																								
	O .116 Andrea beta morph	ъЧ	Γ												Τ								Γ						Τ	Τ		Τ		Τ		Ι	Τ				Π	
	nqrom shqis <i>srobneq enibokre</i> SO	ья													T														T	1		T					T				\square	
	.qss steveoxe enibołhezO		Γ			╈	T	t	T				1		╈	T	╈	T			╈	T	t	T			1	T	t	t		t	T	t		~	~		F	Γ	\square	Ť
		Чd				╈		t	t						╈	+	\uparrow				+		╞	T			1	1	╋	╋		╋		ϯ		╞	╈		╞			+
	Ozarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma	ьq	⊢			+		┢	\vdash				+		\dagger	╈	+	T			+		┢	\square		+	┥	+	$^{+}$	╋		╈		╈		┢	+		┢		H	+
		qd	⊢			+	+	┢	┢	1			┥		+	+	+	┢			+		┢	┢		+	┥	+	+	╉		+	•	+		 	+		┢	H	H	+
	etevecxe etevecxe enibokrezO	вq	┢			+		+	┢	+	_		┥	+	+	+	+	┢			+	+	┢	┢		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	,			┢	\vdash	\vdash	+
	SISUADIOIIIAURO RUDOXIRZO	8.4	\vdash			+		+	┢		_		+	-	+	+	╀	┢			+	+	┢	┢		+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	╀		\vdash	\vdash	⊢┼	+
		-0	\vdash			+		\vdash	\vdash		_		+	-	+	+	+	┢			+	+	╞	\vdash		+	+	+	+	╉		+	+	╀	+	╀	╀		┝	\vdash	⊢┼	+
	inglist cone l	•a	\vdash			+	+	\vdash	\vdash				+	-	+	+	+	╞			+	+	╞	\vdash		+	+	+	+	+		+	+	╀	-	╀	╀		╞	⊢	\vdash	+
		69	L			_							_	-	+	+	+	\vdash			+	-	╞			_	+	+	+	+		+	-	+		+	+			Ļ	\vdash	+
	ецајвошо вәиет	Pa				+							_	_	+	_	+	\vdash			+	_	+			_	_	_	+	+		+	_	+		_	+			⊢	\vdash	_
	.qs elləsiel	٩d				_							_		+		+	╞			_						_	_	_	\downarrow		\downarrow		_			+				\vdash	_
		ъЧ											_		\downarrow	_							╞									\downarrow					+			L	\square	\downarrow
	eig√is elləsįel⊐	ъЧ																														\downarrow								L	Ц	\perp
	iezlutos ellesiel	ъЧ	L																																						Ц	
	mot etsibermetni anstianat sebiolleboryanA	ъя																																							Ш	
	Aqnom sted anstianent aebiollebonyanA	вq																																								
	hqnom englis ensitenent sebiolleboryonA	ъЧ													Τ								Γ							Τ		Τ				Ι	Τ				Π	
	suteninesedmil sebiolleborysnA	вЧ													T								Γ		Π				T	T		T		1		T	T				$ \uparrow$	T
lix £	inertistiva sebiolleborycina	вЧ		Π				T	T						Ť	T		Γ	Π				Τ	T	Π	1	1		T	t		Ť		T		T	T		Γ	Π	ſŤ	T
eno			3/04	2/04	1/04	0/04	5/04	7/04	6/04	5/04	4/04	3/04	2/04	1/04	0/04	8/04	6/04	5/04	4/04	3/04	2a/04	1/04	1/04	0/04	9/04	8/04	7/04	6/04		4/04	3/04	2/04	11/04		0/04	to 10	7/04	6/04	5/04	4/04	3/04	2/04
\dd	sample number / conodont taxa		Se/03/2	Se/03/2	Se/03/2	Se/03/2	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/1	Se/03/0	Se/03/0	Se/03/0	Se/03/0	Se/03/0	Se/03/0;	Se/03/0	Se/02/4	Se/02/4	Se/02/3	Se/02/3	Se/02/3	Se/02/3	0/70/9C	Se/02/3	Se/02/3	Se/02/3	Se/02/3		Seluzia	0101010	Sel02/2	Se/02/2	Se/02/2	Se/02/2	Se/02/2	Se/02/2

Continuod

ned	.qs suboluO		133																																									
ntir	A .qs suboluO		-																															\downarrow		\downarrow			L					
ů	nəsillew suboluO		21																																									
	eluoiqe euboluO		22																																									
	xəqrifi iprilising suboluO		15																																									
	suebələ suebələ suboluO		27																																									
	shoteb angele suboluO		6																																									
	รง์เวย snpoluO		56																																									
	.qs suntengsystem		6																										•	-														
	Latericriodus sp.	ı	19																			12										;	-											1?
	Latericriodus aff. L. steinachensis eta morph	1	4																									-																7
	בקנפונינוסממצ מי: ד: צנפוווקטופנופו או מ	ı	7																														•	-										-
	danna eto picandoninto 1.35 embolicitoto 1	гw	-																																									
	Latericriodus stenencerensis eta morphi	1	9																	-																			-					-
	Latericriodus cf. L. steinachensis bela morph	I	-																																									
	ds snoua	ъ	~	Ц																																								
		s	7																																									
	? Caudicriodus sp.	1	5																																				-					-
	Caudicriodus aff. C. celtibericus	ı	-																							-																		
		M2d	46																																									
	.qs sivebə9	M2c	~																																									
		M2b	7																																									
	-ganderodus suborebrea		888																-																									
	suteteosinu suborebne9		1727					-		4	۳	7	2			~	-	2	9	4	7	13	6	67		2	5	1?	4	•	4 ·	-	- •	-	~	4	5	,	, ~		-		-	9
	Panderodus recurvatus		2																																						-			
	.ds snporebneqoeN		18																																						-			
	sulsinteoidal suborabneqoaM		30																1?										-															
	silideupse zuborsbneqosM		42			1									7				1										•	-														3
	silipert zunochoced		1160																																									
	Pseudooneotodus beckmanni		360													2	2															4	2						2					
	suteititellinm suboreilleW		8																																Ι									
	.qs eixerovū		222																				,	'n																				
	A .qz sixlsov0		6														-							1																				
	Dvorakia klapperi		13	1?	2	-		٦						,	-	-						-	1?						4					-	-									1
	Dvorakia aff. D. chattertoni		10																																									
	Coelocerodontus cf. C. reduncus		-																																									
	eleinis ellebole8		∞						1?													-																						
۱0	emisər siləbolə8		4520	2	- ,	- ∞		∞		27	63	2+1?	6	ę	8 6	° 0	20	-	27	2	6	29	17	2007	,		2	7	- ;	= \$	2	4 (~	-	-			, r	-	۳	2	-	~	15
dix (zilsmons sllebole8		162																											Ι														
Append	sample rumber / conodont taxa		sum	Se/04/15/04	Se/04/13/04	Se/04/12/04 Se/04/10/04	Se/04/09/04	Se/04/08/04	Se/04/07/04	Se/04/05/04	Se/04/04/04	Se/04/03/04	Se/04/02/04	Se/04/01/04	Se/04/-01/04 Se/04/-02/04	Se/04/-03/04	Se/04/-04/04	Se/04/-05/04	Se/04/-06/04	Se/04/-07/04	Se/04/-08/04	Se/04/-09/04	Se/04/-10/04	Se/04/-12/04	Se/03/46/05	Se/03/45/05	Se/03/44/04	Se/03/43/04	Se/03/42/04	5e/U3/4 I/U4	Se/U3/40/04	Se/03/39/04	Se/U3/38/U4	56/03/37/04	-102/20/07	Se/03/33/04	Se/03/31/04	Se/03/30/04	Se/03/29/04	Se/03/28/04	Se/03/27/04	Se/03/26/04	Se/03/25/04	Se/03/24/04

nued	sigms: per sample	121	53	4	4	2	17	٢	4	2	89	9	12	۲	22	4 ;	17	26 2	n 88	12	12	47	30	260	•	4	11	9 ;	26	21	6	10	، م	~ 4	n +	6	16	23	9	15	4 5	1	10
ntir	sinəmələ motinoo bəngissanu		835	F	-		∞	-	,	1 5	3 ~		-	-	-	- ·	-	-	~		-				-	Γ	-		T					٦.	-	Π			T		Т	T	1
ပိ	(sbiniboxhszO ylnism) snemiceqe bengizsenu		10466	ŀ				1	-	•	+	-			+	t		-	t			-	e	17	~	-		2 1	n ~	. 2	-	3	~	•	-	Η	5	10	2	2 2	12	ۍ د د	77
	'A sutsisqqA'		26	Γ	Γ					Τ										Γ														T		Π			T		T	T	1
		ед	5	T	T					T	T							T	T	T				~				T	T				T	T		Π			1		Ť	Ť	1
	Pandorinehina sp.	вS	7	T	T				T	T	T							T	T	T					1				T		Π		T	T		Π			1	T	Ť	Ť	1
	emitqoaerq siznamodniats enillanirobne¶	ья	~	ſ	Γ					T	╞				1	T	T	↑	T	T				╡	1	T		↑	T		Π	1	1	T	T	Π			1		t	t	1
	emitqo emitqo enilleninobne¶	вЧ	~	ſ	T					T	T							T	T	T									T					T		Π			1		t	t	1
	esim snilleninobns¶	еЧ	-	t	t			1	T	t	T						T	T	T	t	F					T			T		Π		t	T		Π			1	-	t	t	1
	Pandorinellina cf. Pand. ebzeryi	еЧ	~	t	t			1	Ť	t	t	T			1	T	1	╈	ϯ	t	\square			1	1	T		1	t		Π	1	╎	t	T	Π			+	t	t	t	1
	imnuw enibołnezO	еЧ	4	t	T	Π			1	t	┢	T			1	Ť	T	╈	ϯ	t				1	1	╞		╈	t		Π	1	1	╈	T	Η			†	T	t	t	1
		Чd		t	t			1	╈	t	╈						╡	╈	╈	t	\vdash			+		\uparrow		+	╈		H		╋	╈		Η			+	╈	╈	+	1
	Ozarkodina cf. O. remscheidensis ssp.	вЧ	4	F	F					┢	╈	┢			+	╈		╈	╈	t			╡	╈	╈	┢		╈	╈		Η	+	+	╈	╞	$\left \right $			╉	+	╈	+	1
	Ozarkodina remediansis repetitor	ъч	~	┢	┢	H		1	╈	╈	┢				+	+	╈	╈	┢	┢	$\left \right $			~	+	\uparrow		+	┢		H	+	╈	╈	+	\square			╈	╈	╈	╈	1
		qд	99	┢	┢	\square		+	+	╈	╈	┢			+	+	┥	╈	╈	┢	\vdash		+	+	+	┢		+	╈		Η	+	╈	+	╈	$\left \right $			+	+	╈	+	1
	siznəbiərləzmər siznəbiərləzmər sniboxhszO	вЧ	69	┢	┢	\square			+	╈	╈				+		+	+	╈	┢			-	+	+	+		+	╈		\square	+	+	+	+	Η			+	+	+	+	1
	Aqrom <u>sted</u> siznemonnietsoe n. 0. ifts eniboxhszO	вЧ		┢	┢	\square		+	+	╈	+	\vdash			+	+	╈	+	╈	┢	\vdash		-	+	+	+		+	╈		\square	+	+	+		Η			+	+	+	+	-
	Aqnom anglis <i>siznemorhiets</i> oe n. 0. ifts aniboxhasO	еd	-	┢	┢	\square		+	+	╈	╈	\vdash			+		+	+	╈	┢	\vdash		-	+	+	+		+	╈		\square	+	+	╈	+	+			+	+	╈	+	-
	O ankodina aff. O. paucidentata	ед	Ļ	┢	┢	\square		+	+	╀	╀	┢	$\left \right $		+	+	╉	+	╀	┢	\vdash		+	+	╉	┢	$\left \right $	+	╀		Η	+	+	╉	╉	$\left \right $			+	+	╀	╀	-
	Ozarkodina ct. O. pandora zeta morph	e4	-	┢	┢	\square		+	+	╀	╀	┢	\square		+	+	+	+	╀	╞	\vdash		-	+	+	┢	$\left \right $	+	╀		\square	+	+	╀	+	$\left \right $			+	+	╀	+	-
	ndrom bied brooked all. O. pandora beta morph	E4	~	┢	╞	\square		+	+	╀	╀	┢	$\left \right $		+	+	╉	+	╀	╞	\vdash		+	+	┼	┢	$\left \right $	+	╀		H	+	+	+	╀	┼┤			+	+	╀	+	-
		р. La		┝	\vdash	\mid		+	+	╀	┼	\vdash			+	+	+	+	╀	\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+		+	+		\vdash	+	+	╉	+	H			+	+	+	+	-
	Ozarkodina excevara asibo			┞	╞	$\left \right $		+	+	╀	╀	┢	$\left \right $		+	+	+	+	╀	╞	\vdash	<u>ہ</u>	+	+	+	┢	$\left \right $	+	╀		\vdash	+	+	+	+	$\left \right $			+	+	+	+	-
			<u> </u>	┞	╞	\square		+	+	╀	╀	┢	$\left \right $		+	+	+	+	╀	╞	\vdash	-	+	+	+	┢	$\left \right $	+	╀		\mathbb{H}	+	+	+	╀	$\left \cdot \right $			+	+	+	+	-
	Czarkodina aff. O. excavata tuma	40	 	┝	\vdash			-	+	╀	+	\vdash			+	-	+	+	╀	\vdash			_	+	-	+		+	+		\vdash	-	+	+	-	+			+	+	+	+	-
		ed	~	┝	\vdash	\square		+	+	╀	+				+	+	+	+	╀	\vdash			_	+	+	+		+	+		\square	+	+	+	+	\square			+	+	+	+	-
	втеvеска етероката в спрозгата Оталко в спрозгата Сталка в спрозгата в	ча	47 31	┞	╞	\square		+	+	╀	╀	\vdash			+	+	+	+	╀	╞	\vdash		+	+	+	+	\square	+	╀		\square	+	+	+	+	H			_	+	+	+	-
		еd	15	┞	╞	\square		+	+	╀	╀	┝			+	+	+	+	╀	╞	\vdash		+	+	+	╞		+	╀		\square	+	+		+	H			╡	-	+	╀	-
	sisnahrollamsa snihokist0	eЧ	Ē	┝	\vdash	\square		+	+	╀	╀	\vdash			+	+	+	+	╀	\vdash			_	+	+	+	$\left \right $	+	╀		\square	+	+	╀	+	H			+	+	+	+	-
	inallat sans l	eЧ	[®]	┝	\vdash	\square		+	+	╀	+	-			_	-	+	+	+	\vdash			_	+	_	-	$\left \right $	+	+		\square	_	+	+	-	H			+	+	╀	╀	-
	əejoueəjəcə eəuey ,	еЧ	2	┝	\vdash			-	-	╀	+				_	-	_	+	+	\vdash			_	+	+	+		+	+			-	+	+	-	+			+	+	+	+	-
	εцαιεοшο εθυεγ	еЧ	4	┞	╞			+	+	╀	╀	\vdash			_	+	+	+	╀	╞	\vdash		_	+	+	+		+	╀		\square	+	+	+	+	\square			+	+	+	+	-
	.qs ellesiel	Чd	6	┞	\vdash			_	_	╀	╞				_	_	_	+	╀	\vdash			_	_	_	+		+	╞		\square	_	+	+	+	\square			\downarrow	+	+	+	-
		вЧ	=	┞	\vdash			_	_	╀	+	_			_	_	_	+	╀	\vdash			_	_	_	-		+	+			_	+	+	+	\square			\downarrow	+	+	+	-
	eigyts ellesial∃	Бa	37	┞	╞			_	+	╞	+				_		_	+	+	╞						-		_	+				+	+		\square			\downarrow	+	+	+	-
	iezluntas ellesiel Flajsella schulzei	вЧ	6							+	╞				_			\downarrow	\downarrow				_	_	_	-		_	\downarrow					+	_	\square			\downarrow	_	\downarrow	\downarrow	-
	mof əfsibərməfni analisinar tealiolləboryonA	вЧ	~	L						╞							_	_		\vdash													_	_		Ц			\downarrow	_	\downarrow	\downarrow	_
	rtqnom sted anstianast sebiolleboryonA	вq	٣	L						\downarrow	1							\downarrow	\downarrow				_						\downarrow					\downarrow		\square			\downarrow		\downarrow	\downarrow	_
	horm shals are transitioned and the state of	Вą	~															\downarrow				Ц	\downarrow	_				\downarrow			Ц				_	\downarrow			\downarrow		\downarrow	\downarrow	
<u></u> 2.	zuterinesedmil sebiolleborycarA	ъЧ	~			Ц				\downarrow			Ц					\downarrow				\square					Ц	\downarrow			Ц					\downarrow			\downarrow		\downarrow	\downarrow	┦
dix	netrotelloides kutschen	вq	4	L									Ц														Ц	\downarrow			Ц					\downarrow			\downarrow		\downarrow	\downarrow	
ben	sample number / conodont taxa		Ę	4/15/04	4/13/04	4/12/04	4/10/04	4/09/04	4/08/04	105104	1/04/04	4/03/04	4/02/04	4/01/04	1/-01/04	1/-02/04	1/-03/04	1/-04/04	1/-06/04	1/-07/04	1/-08/04	1/-09/04	4/-10/04	1/-11/04	3/46/05	3/45/05	3/44/04	3/43/04	3/41/04	3/40/04	3/39/04	3/38/04	3/37/04	3/36/04	3/33/04	3/31/04	3/30/04	3/29/04	3/28/04	3/27/04	3/26/04	+0/CZ/C	5124101
Ap			ſ	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0.	Se/0.		Se/04	Se/0	Se/0	Se/0	Se/04	Se/04	Se/0₄	Se/04	Se/04	Se/04	Se/04	Se/04.	Se/04	Se/0/	Se/0	Se/0;	Se/0;	Se/0.	Se/0:	Se/0:	Se/0;	Se/0.	Se/0	Se/U	Se/0	Se/0;	Se/0;	Se/0.	Se/0.	Se/0.	Se/U	Selu Selu	000

.≃
σ
C.
Θ
8
7
~

102

Appendix	6.									ĕ	asic data of c	ouo	ont sé	ample	s. MF	-type = microf	acies-ty
sample no.	distance	sample		weight	of residues (c	(t		% of sum:	colo	r of	rock classification	d 13	C/12C	d 18C	0/160	Conodont Apatite	Isotopes
Seewarte	(cm)	weight (g)	0.63-250µm	0.63µm	125-250µm	500µm	~500µm	0.63-250µm	rock	residues	MF-type:	mean	st.dev.	mean	st.dev.	d 13C/12C d 18O/16	D weight (r
Se/01/01/04	50	5000	48.5					0.97	5YR4/1	5Y8/1	3a	1.33	0.02	-9.26	0.02		
Se/01/02/04	110	3000	25.4			6.6		0.85	N3	5Y8/1	2						0.58
Se/01/03/04	260	6500	138.2	60	78.2			2.13	N5	5Y8/1	2	1.09	0.02	-4.60	0.06		0.8
Se/01/04/04	290	3500	32.2			2.1		0.92	N3	5Y8/1	2	1.43	0.04	-4.92	0.05		0.918
Se/01/05/04	460	3000	112.6	66.9	45.7	8.5		3.75	N6	N8	2; + dolomite	1.61	0.02	-8.65	0.03		
Se/01/05a/05	660	2500	135.8	31	104.8	4.1	120	5.43	N7	6N	dolomite						
Se/01/05b/05	1160	2000	33.4	15.4	18	3	120	1.67	N5	N8	dolomite						
Se/01/06a/04	1310	6000	213.8	130.8	83			3.56	N5	N8	dolomite; prim: 3a	2.02	0.02	-4.07	0.02		
Se/01/06b/05	1400	2500	62.2	37	25.2	14.8	50	2.49	5Y6/1	N8	dolomite; prim: 3a						
Se/01/06/04	1510	6000	297.9	142.5	155.4			4.97	N5	N8	dolomite; prim: 2	1.49	0.02	-5.93	0.05		0.66
Se/01/07/04	1660	3000	32.5	19.9	12.6			1.08	NG	N7	dolomite	1.67	0.01	-4.44	0.04		
Se/01/08/04	1760	3000	5.8					0.19	N3	N6	3a; + dolomite	0.71	0.01	-8.89	0.01		0.6
Se/01/09/04	1910	5000	42.3					0.85	N3	NG	3a	0.73	0.01	-9.05	0.03		
Se/01/10/04	2060	3000	57.1	41.1	16			1.9	N5	5Y8/1	dolomite; prim: 2	1.49	0.02	-4.51	0.03		
Se/01/11/04	2210	2500	89.1	40.1	49			3.56	N7	5Y8/1	dolomite	1.53	0.02	-3.48	0.03		0.59
Se/01/12/04	2360	3000	30.2	18.7	11.5			1.01	N5	N8	3a; + dolomite						
Se/01/13/04	2560	5000	29.5			3.7		0.59	N5	N5	6; + dolomite	1.03	0.01	-9.07	0.03		0.72
Se/01/14/04	2710	4000	49.7	26.7	23			1.24	N3	N5	3a	0.99	0.02	-7.59	0.02		
Se/01/15/04	2910	6000	45.3					0.76	Ŋ	NG	3a	0.86	0.02	-7.19	0.02		
Se/01/16/04	3110	3000	20.5					0.68	N3	NG	3a	0.92	0.02	-5.04	0.01		0.66
Se/01/16a/05	3220	2000	79.9	44.8	35.1	4.8	45	4	N4	N8	3a						
Se/01/17/04	3310	4000	13.2					0.33	N4	NG	3a	1.10	0.02	-4.19	0.02		
Se/02/01/04	3460	4000	64.4	42.4	22	6.1		1.61	N3	N5	2; 3a	0.89	0.05	-5.79	0.12		
Se/02/02/04	3710	4000	12.8					0.32	N4	NG	3a; + dolomite	1.07	0.02	-5.64	0.03		
Se/02/03/04	3860	4000	4					0.1	N3	NG	2; 3a	1.45	0.02	-5.01	0.01		
Se/02/04/04	4000	3000	4.6			1		0.15	N4	9N	3a	1.61	0.03	-5.14	0.03	_	0.54
Se/02/05/04	4150	3000	123.6	86.2	37.4			4.12	N5	N8	9	1.69	0.02	-6.87	0.02		0.59
Se/02/06/04	4300	5000	66.6	39.6	27	1		1.33	N4	N8	2; 3a	1.56	0.01	-6.03	0.05		
Se/02/06a/05	4600	2000	17.8	10.4	7.4	٢		0.89	N4	N8	9						
Se/02/07/04	5100	4000	22.7	8.4	14.3			0.57	N3	N3	8?	1.79	0.11	-4.48	0.15		
Se/02/08/04	5250	5000	5					0.1	N3	RN	8?	1.85	0.02	-6.63	0.02		
Se/02/09/04	5450	3000	6.1	3.3	2.8			0.2	N3	N2	8?						
Se/02/10/04	5500	3000	6.5			1		0.22	N3	КN	8?	1.42	0.01	-7.51	0.01		
Se/02/11/04	5590	2000	2.8			Τ		0.14	КЗ	ЯЗ	3a	1.63	0.02	-7.84	0.04		
Se/02/12/04	5610	5000	14.5					0.29	N3	N4	2; 3a	1.91	0.02	-6.92	0.02		
Se/02/13/04	5740	3500	1.8					0.05	N3	N4	3a	1.75	0.01	-7.76	0.03		

ю.
.≚
σ
C.
e
8
7

σ
Ð
п
÷
0
C

		and the second sec									: ;	01	Conc	001	0000	¢		and the second se
sample no.	distance	sample		weight	of residues ((1		% of sum:	colo	r of	rock classification	d 13	C/12C	d 180	0,160	Conoc	tont Apatite	sotopes
Seewarte	(cm)	weight (g)	0.63-250µm	0.63µm	125-250µm	500µm	~500µm	0.63-250µm	rock	residues	MF-type	mean	st.dev.	mean	st.dev.	d 13C/12C	d 180/160	weight (mg
Se/02/14/04	5890	5000	27.3					0.55	N5	N8	2; 3a	3.11	0.02	-6.84	0.03			
Se/02/15/04	6090	3500	84.5	41.5	43			2.41	N7	N8	dolomite	2.55	0.03	-3.71	0.01			0.76
Se/02/15a/05	6280	2000	236.7	37.9	198.8	11.3		11.84	5Y4/1	N8	3a; dolomite							
Se/02/15b/05	6300	2000	27.5	14.4	13.1	21.4	60	1.38	10YR5/4	5Y8/1	3a; dolomite							
Se/02/15c/05	6310	650	5.4	З	2.4	3.5		0.83	5Y6/1	10YR6/2	3a; dolomite							
Se/02/16/04	6320	3000	60.2	24.8	35.4			2.01	N6	N8	9	2.56	0.01	-6.49	0.02			
Se/02/17/04	6520	2000	2.7					0.14	NG	N8	9	3.15	0.02	-5.87	0.01			
Se/02/18/04	6640	2000	11.2					0.56	5YR7/2	5YR8/1	dolomite	2.90	0.03	-2.11	0.03			
Se/02/19/04	6820	4000	11.9			е		0.3	N4	5YR4/1	2;6	3.15	0.02	-2.85	0.02			
Se/02/20/04	7020	6000	170.8	28.8	142	35.3		2.85	N4	N7	9	3.29	0.01	-4.28	0.02			
Se/02/21/04	7200	3000	381	139.7	241.3			12.7	N5	N8	За							
Se/02/22/04	7400	5000	426.8	135.1	291.7	8.5		8.54	NG	N7	3a; + dolomite							0.37
Se/02/23/04	7600	5000	299.9	112	187.9			9	N5	N8	2; + dolomite	2.78	0.04	-3.81	0.06			
Se/02/24/04	7800	3500	372.5	126.2	246.3			10.64	N7	N8	2; + dolomite	2.96	0.03	-3.30	0.05			
Se/02/25/04	8000	2000	133.4	58.1	75.3			6.67	NG	N8	dolomite; prim: 6	3.10	0.03	-1.61	0.06			
Se/02/26/04	8200	3000	85.6	36.7	48.9			2.85	N6	N8	3a; + dolomite	2.85	0.01	-3.60	0.03			
Se/02/27/04	8400	4000	28	13	15			0.7	N6	N7	2; 3a; + dolomite	3.00	0.01	-3.82	0.05			
Se/02/28/04	8660	3000	133.4	81	52.4	5.3		4.45	N5	N7	За							
Se/02/29/04	8860	1000	17.7					1.77	N5	N7	2	2.23	0.02	-5.60	0.05			
Se/02/30/04	9080	3000	30	20.4	9.6			1	N5	NG	3a; + dolomite	2.64	0.02	-6.04	0.06			-
Se/02/30a/05	9180	2000	15.2	8.5	6.7	6.1		0.76	5Y2/1	N8	9							
Se/02/31/04	9250	2000	19.4					0.97	N4	N7	9	3.08	0.02	-4.27	0.03			
Se/02/32/04	9450	4000	248.9	55.1	193.8			6.22	N4	N8	9	3.06	0.03	-3.20	0.03			
Se/02/33/04	9650	5000	46.6	22.9	23.7			0.93	N4	N7	9	2.78	0.04	-5.41	0.03			
Se/02/34/04	9850	5000	108.6			3.2		2.17	N4	N7	9	3.15	0.04	-3.06	0.05			
Se/02/35/04	10050	4000	226.4	58.8	167.6	35.7		5.66	N7	N8	2; 3a	2.62	0.05	-3.15	0.09			
Se/02/36/04	10250	3000	56.8	34.7	22.1			1.89	N5	N7	2	2.68	0.04	-3.76	0.05			
Se/02/37/04	10450	2000	25.9					1.3	N7	N8	6; + dolomite	2.47	0.03	-3.38	0.03			
Se/02/38/04	10650	3000	0					0	5Y8/1	N8	6; + dolomite	2.40	0.03	-4.38	0.04			0.45
Se/02/39/04	10850	2000	89	48.4	40.6			4.45	N6	N7	3a; + dolomite	2.77	0.02	-2.97	0.02			
Se/02/40/04	11150	5000	377.8	105.8	272	17.4		7.56	N5	N7	3a; + dolomite	2.82	0.02	-3.73	0.04			
Se/02/41/04	?11850?	2000	73.6	43.1	30.5			3.68	NG	N7	3a; + dolomite	2.63	0.03	-4.08	0.02			
Se/03/01/04	11580	3000	207.2	93.3	113.9			6.91	N6	N8	3a; + dolomite	2.41	0.03	-3.91	0.05			
Se/03/02/04	11780	2000	137.2	81.3	55.9			6.86	5Y8/1	5Y8/1	3a; + dolomite	2.50	0.02	-3.46	0.02			
Se/03/02a/04	?11980?	2000	115.9	32.8	83.1			5.8	N7	N8	6; + dolomite	2.29	0.04	-7.59	0.05			
Se/03/03/04	12180	2500	167.6	40	127.6			6.7	NG	5Y8/1	3a; + dolomite	2.35	0.02	-4.04	0.03			

9
\times
ק
e
d
$\overline{\triangleleft}$

Continued

cample no	dietance	sampa		wainht	of residues (o	-		% of sum.	- Clos	Ju Ju	rock classification	d 130	JC120	d 180	/160	Conodont Ar	atita Icotonac
Seewarte	(cm)	weight (g)	0.63-250um	0.63um	125-250um	500um >	500um ().63-250um	rock	residues	MF-type	mean	st.dev.	mean	st.dev.	d 13C/12C d 18C	0/160 weight (m
Se/03/04/04	12430	4000	50.4			-	Γ	1.26	N7	5Y8/1	3a; + dolomite	2.37	0.02	-5.91	0.02		
Se/03/05/04	12680	5000	48.8					0.98	NG	5Y8/1	2; 3a; + dolomite	2.89	0.04	-4.36	0.06		
Se/03/06/04	12930	4000	22.7					0.57	NG	5Y8/1	6; + dolomite	2.49	0.01	-7.14	0.03		
Se/03/07/04	13080	6000	21.2					0.35	NG	N8	2; 3a; + dolomite	2.20	0.03	-6.14	0.04		
Se/03/08/04	13230	4000	132.8	54.7	78.1			3.32	N7	5Y8/1	6; + dolomite	2.37	0.03	-7.45	0.07		
Se/03/09/04	13380	2000	9.6					0.48	NG	5Y8/1	9	2.56	0.03	-7.18	0.05		
Se/03/10/04	13630	2000	1.6					0.08	5YR6/1	N8	6	2.44	0.04	-4.87	0.05		
Se/03/11/04	13880	2500	2.6					0.1	N7	N8	6	1.94	0.02	-3.82	0.02		
Se/03/12/04	14180	4500	6.2					0.14	N7	N8	9	2.50	0.02	-3.47	0.03		
Se/03/13/04	14330	4000	5.3					0.13	NG	N8	9	2.63	0.02	-4.32	0.04		
Se/03/14/04	14580	6000	7.8					0.13	5Y8/1	5Y8/1	9	2.49	0.02	-5.14	0.03		
Se/03/15/04	14780	6000	5.9					0.1	5Y8/1	5Y8/1	6	2.30	0.04	-7.27	0.04		
Se/03/16/04	14930	4000	7.9					0.2	N7	5Y8/1	3a	2.45	0.04	-4.32	0.04		
Se/03/17/04	15130	6500	72.6					1.12	N7	N8	9	2.46	0.04	-5.45	0.05		
Se/03/18/04	15380	3000	16.6					0.55	N7	N8	dolomite; prim: 3a	1.35	0.02	-3.83	0.07		
Se/03/19/04	15830	3000	14.2					0.47	N7	N8	6; + dolomite	2.88	0.03	-3.28	0.03		
Se/03/20/04	15980	2000	10.4					0.52	N7	N8	9	2.27	0.04	-6.26	0.05		
Se/03/21/04	16180	2000	23.4			_		1.17	N7	N8	5b	2.16	0.03	-6.59	0.06		
Se/03/22/04	16580	2000	10.8					0.54	N7	8N	3a	2.41	0.02	-4.80	0.06		
Se/03/23/04	16780	3000	25.7					0.86	N7	N8	5b	2.11	0.02	-5.50	0.04		
Se/03/24/04	17180	6000	97.3					1.62	N7	N8	3a	2.67	0.01	-3.68	0.04		
Se/03/25/04	17380	3000	19			9.5	20.3	0.63	N7	N8	3a	2.01	0.03	-4.85	0.04		
Se/03/26/04	17630	4000	21.5					0.54	N7	N8	3a	3.00	0.02	-2.90	0.02		
Se/03/27/04	17880	4000	2.2					0.06	N7	88	3a	2.57	0.03	-4.12	0.05	_	
Se/03/28/04	18180	1500	3.6					0.24	N7	N8	3a	2.79	0.03	-2.99	0.05	_	_
Se/03/29/04	18430	4000	12					0.3	N7	88	3a	2.58	0.03	-4.13	0.04	_	
Se/03/30/04	18730	3000	11.2					0.37	N7	88	9	2.80	0.01	-3.91	0.02		
Se/03/31/04	19030	2500	2.5			_		0.1	N7	N8	6	2.78	0.02	-3.67	0.02	_	
Se/03/32/04	19330	2500	1.5					0.06	N7	88	2	2.68	0.01	-4.27	0.05	_	
Se/03/33/04	19630	1500	1.7					0.11	N7	N8	6	2.70	0.01	-4.43	0.04		
Se/03/34/04	19880	2500	1.5					0.06	N7	80	9	2.60	0.02	-4.70	0.04		
Se/03/35/04	20080	2000	1.5					0.08	N7	N8	9	2.55	0.03	-6.12	0.03		
Se/03/36/04	20280	1000	2					0.2	N7	88	9	2.90	0.01	-5.31	0.02	_	
Se/03/37/04	20580	2000	1.5					0.08	N7	N8	9	2.83	0.03	-5.45	0.03	_	_
Se/03/38/04	20780	2500	60					2.4	N7	88	5b	2.42	0.03	-5.98	0.05		
Se/03/39/04	21180	2500	8.1			1.5		0.32	N7	5Y8/1	5b	2.33	0.02	-7.40	0.04		

_
Q
Ð
Π
÷
0
C

Appendix	6.															Contir	nued
sample no.	distance	sample		weight	t of residues	(B)		% of sum:	colo	ır of	rock classification	d 13	IC/12C	d 18(0/160	Conodont Apatite Isotopes	s
Seewarte	(cm)	weight (g)	0.63-250µm	0.63µm	125-250µm	500µn	n >500µm	0.63-250µm	rock	residues	MF-type	mean	st.dev.	mean	st.dev.	d 13C/12C d 18O/16O weight	ht (mg)
Se/03/40/04	21480	2500	8.8					0.35	N7	N8	6	2.67	0.02	-5.99	0.04		
Se/03/41/04	21780	3000	34.8					1.16	N7	5Y8/1	2; 3a; + dolomite	2.60	0.02	-6.20	0.06		
Se/03/42/04	22080	2000	19			1.4		0.95	N7	5YR6/1	3a	2.32	0.03	-6.37	0.06		
Se/03/43/04	22330	3000	64.2	27.9	36.3	8.6		2.14	NG	NG	9	2.36	0.02	-6.48	0.03		
Se/03/44/04	22630	4000	19.8					0.5	NG	5YR6/1	2; 3a	2.49	0.04	-6.44	0.04		
Se/03/45/05	23430	2300	96.8	41.3	55.5	20		4.2	NG	5Y8/1	2; 3a						
Se/03/46/05	24230	2500	11.6	5.1	6.5	٢	40	0.46	5Y6/1	5Y8/1	2; 3a						
Se/03/47/05	25030	2000	5.7	3.1	2.6	1.5		0.29	5Y4/1	5Y8/1	5b						
Se/04/-12/04	?25650?	3000	17.8					0.6	NG	N8	5b	2.44	0.03	-4.93	0.02		
Se/04/-11/04	25950	4000	67.2					1.68	NG	N8	6	2.17	0.02	-5.10	0.05		
Se/04/-10/04	26100	3000	9.9					0.33	N7	5Y8/1	5b	2.31	0.03	-5.11	0.05		
Se/04/-09/04	26300	2500	21.1					0.84	N7	5Y8/1	9	2.66	0.03	-3.30	0.03		
Se/04/-08/04	26450	2000	16.2					0.81	N7	5Y8/1	5b	2.23	0.03	-5.09	0.03		
Se/04/-07/04	26600	2000	12.7					0.64	N7	N8	6	2.59	0.03	-2.97	0.05		
Se/04/-06/04	26800	3000	82.1					2.74	N7	N8	5b	2.50	0.03	-2.79	0.04		
Se/04/-05/04	27100	2000	2.3					0.12	NG	N8	5b/c	1.97	0.04	-5.23	0.06		
Se/04/-04/04	27400	6000	71.8				30.1	1.2	NG	N8	5b/c	2.43	0.03	-4.88	0.04		
Se/04/-03/04	27600	3000	95.3	54.1	41.2			3.18	NG	N8	9	2.63	0.02	-4.95	0.05		
Se/04/-02/04	27850	5000	9.3			2.4		0.19	NG	N8	5b/c	2.24	0.04	-4.71	0.04		
Se/04/-01/04	28100	5000	13.3					0.27	N7	N8	9	2.47	0.03	-3.02	0.03		
Se/04/01/04	28400	6500	35					0.54	NG	5YR8/1	2; 6	2.53	0.02	-3.34	0.03		
Se/04/02/04	28600	2000	20.5			1.8		1.03	NG	N8	9	2.12	0.03	-4.46	0.02		
Se/04/03/04	28800	4000	79.7					1.99	N7	88	3a; + dolomite	2.79	0.03	-5.23	0.03		
Se/04/04/04	29000	3000	47.6					1.59	N7	N7	9	2.46	0.01	-5.04	0.04		
Se/04/05/04	29250	4000	23.6					0.59	NG	5Y8/1	6	2.52	0.02	-2.93	0.02		
Se/04/06/04	29450	2000	1.5					0.08	N5	5Y8/1	5b?; 6	2.33	0.03	-5.84	0.04		
Se/04/07/04	29650	4000	2.7					0.07	N7	5Y8/1	5b/c	2.50	0.03	-5.58	0.05		
Se/04/08/04	29850	2000	10.1					0.51	N7	N7	5b/c	2.49	0.03	-4.93	0.04		
Se/04/09/04	30050	5000	3.6					0.07	NG	5Y8/1	5b/c	2.30	0.04	-5.39	0.06		
Se/04/10/04	30250	2000	30.9					1.55	NG	N7	5b	2.45	0.04	-5.18	0.04		
Se/04/11/04	30450	2500	5.3					0.21	NG	5Y8/1	5b	2.48	0.03	-5.63	0.05		
Se/04/12/04	30750	2500	32			2.2		1.28	N5	N7	5b	2.12	0.04	-5.07	0.05		
Se/04/13/04	30950	2000	43			4		2.15	5YR6/1	5YR6/1	5c	2.35	0.02	-5.16	0.05		
Se/04/14/04	31200	2000	52.3					2.62	NG	N7	5b	2.03	0.04	-5.16	0.03		
Se/04/15/04	31450	3000	1.4					0.05	NG	N7	5b	2.31	0.01	-5.36	0.05		
Se/04/16/05	32050	2000	7.5	4.5	e			0.38	5YR4/1	5Y8/1	5b						
Se/05/01/05	32250	2500	27.9	17.2	10.7	7		1.12	N2	5YR4/1	5c						

Acknowledgements

For support, the Austrian Academy of Sciences is gratefully acknowledged. Hans Peter SCHÖNLAUB (Geological Survey of Austria), Bernhard HUBMANN (University of Graz) and Johann HOHENEGGER (University of Vienna) provided numerous constructive comments.

Werner Buggisch, Michael JOACHIMSKI and Oliver LEHNERT (all of the University of Erlangen) undertook the stable isotope measurements (whole-rock and conodont apatite) and shared their valuable knowledge with me. Brooks ELLWOOD (Louisiana State University) provided magnetic susceptibility data from samples sent to him. Jim BARRICK (Texas Techical University) is thanked for his comments on the simple cone conodonts. Furthermore I am very grateful to Ruth MAWSON (Macquarie University) for commenting on all "non-simple cones". Ladislav SLAVÍK (Academy of Sciences, Czech Republic) commented helpfully on the determinations of Icriodontidae. I am also very grateful to Nacho VALEN-ZUELA-RÍOS (University of Valencia) for discussing his ideas on ozarkodinid taxonomy with me. Carlo CORRADINI (University of Cagliari), Hubert SZANIAWSKI (Polish Academy of Sciences), Viive VIIRA (Tallinn University) and many others are kindly acknowledged for exciting discussions on Silurian-Devonian conodonts at the ICOS 2006 meeting. Ian PERCIVAL, John PICKETT (both: Geological Survey of New South Wales), and various Macquarie University colleagues provided a flood of reprints and discussions on conodont taxonomy by e-mail. Furthermore I wholeheartedly thank John TALENT (Macquarie University) for checking the style of the manuscript.

Franz MAYER, Valentin PERLINGER and Hans STUTZ prepared vast numbers of thin sections. Christian BAAL is acknowledged for his assistance including digital photography for the facies plates; Robert BUTTINGER assisted during the second and final field trip, climbing to almost inaccessible places for important rock samples.

References

- ADAMS, A.E., MACKENZIE, W.S. & GUILFORD, C. (1986): Atlas der Sedimentgesteine in Dünnschliffen. – 103 pp., Stuttgart (Enke). ALDRIDGE, R.J. & PURNELL, M.A. (1996): The conodont controversies.
- ALDRIDGE, R.J. & PURNELL, M.A. (1996): The conodont controversies. – Trends in Ecology and Evolution, **11** (11), 463–468, Cambridge.
- AL-RAWI, D. (1977): Biostratigraphische Gliederung der Tentaculiten-Schichten des Frankenwaldes mit Conodonten und Tentaculiten (Unter- und Mittel-Devon; Bayern, Deutschland). – Senckenbergiana Lethaea, 58, 25–79, Frankfurt am Main.
- ANDERSON, M.A. (2003): A study of conodont genera *Belodella* and *Neopanderodus* with emphasis on faunas from eastern Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **245**, 463–491, Frankfurt am Main.
- ANDRES, D. (1988): Strukturen, Apparate und Phylogenie primitiver Conodonten. – Palaeontographica, Abt. A, 200, 105–152, Stuttgart.
- AUSTIN, R.L. (ed.; 1987): Conodonts: Investigative Techniques and Applications. – 422 pp., Chichester (Ellis Horwood).
- AUSTIN, R.L., ORCHARD, M.J. & STEWART, I.J. with contributions from BARNES, R.P., CASTLE, C., DRUMMOND, M., KIRCHGASSER, W.T., SADLER, P.M. & SELWOOD, E.B. (1985): Conodonts of the Devonian System from Great Britain. – In: HIGGINS, A.C. & AUSTIN, R.L. (eds.): A stratigraphical index of conodonts, 263 pp., Chichester (Ellis Horwood).
- BANDEL, K. (1969): Feinstratigraphische und biofazielle Untersuchungen unterdevonischer Kalke am Fuß der Seewarte (Wolayer See, zentrale Karnische Alpen). – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **112**, 197–234, Wien.
- BARCA, S., GNOLI, M., OLIVIERI, R. & SERPAGLI, E. (1986): New stratigraphic data ans evidence of Lower and Upper Devonian based on conodonts in Sarrabus area. – Rivista Italiana di Paleontologia e Stratigrafia, 92 (3), 299–320, Milano.
- BARDASHEV, I.A. (1989): Novye listovidnye konodonty iz nizhnego devona tsentral'nogo Tadzhikstana [New conodonts from Lower Devonian of central Tadjikstan]. – Akademiya Nauk Tadzhikskoi SSR Institut Geologii, 5 (14), 211–214, Dushanbe.
- BARDASHEV, I.A., WEDDIGE, K. & ZIEGLER, W. (2002): The phylomorphogenesis of some Early Devonian platform conodonts. – In: WEDDIGE, K. & ZIEGLER, W. (eds.): Advances in Conodont, Devonian and Carboniferous Research. Senckenbergiana Lethaea, 82 (2), 375–451, Frankfurt am Main.
- BARDASHEV, I.A. & ZIEGLER, W. (1992): Conodont Biostratigraphy of Lower Devonian Deposits of the Shishkat Section (Southern Tien-

Shan, Middle Asia). – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **154**, 1–29, Frankfurt am Main.

- BARRICK, J.E. (1977): Multielement simple-cone conodonts from the Clarita Formation (Silurian), Arbuckle Mountains, Oklahoma. Geologica et Palaeontologica, **11**, 47–68, Marburg.
- BARRICK, J.E. & KLAPPER, G. (1992): Late Silurian–Early Devonian conodonts from the Hunton Group (Upper Henryhouse, Haragan, and Bois d'Arc Formations), south-central Oklahoma. Oklahoma Geological Survey, Bulletin, **145**, 19–65, Norman, Oklahoma.
- BARRICK, J.E. & NOBLE, P.J. (1995): Early Devonian conodonts from a limestone horizon in the Caballos Novaculite, Marathon Uplift, West Texas. – Journal of Paleontology, **69** (6), 1112–1122, Lawrence, Kansas.
- BASSLER, R.S. (1925): Classification and stratigraphic use of the conodonts (abstract). – Geological Society of America, Bulletin, 36, 218–220, New York.
- BATESON, W. (1886): The ancestry of the Chordata. Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, 26, 535–571, London.
- BENFRIKA, E.M. (1999): Some upper Silurian middle Devonian conodonts from the northern part of Western Meseta of Morocco: systematic and palaeogeographical relationships. – In: SERPAGLI, E. & CORRADINI, C. (eds.): ECOS VII – Studies on Conodonts. Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana, **37** (2–3), 311–319, Modena.
- BISCHOFF, G. & SANNEMANN, D. (1958): Unterdevonische Conodonten aus dem Frankenwald. – Notizblatt des Hessischen Landesamtes für Bodenforschung zu Wiesbaden, 86, 87–110, Wiesbaden.
- BONCHEVA, I. (1995): Taxonomical notes on the genus *Pandorinellina* MÜLLER & MÜLLER, 1957 and the *steinhornensis* group. – Geologica Balcanica, **25** (5–6), 29–32, Sofia.
- BRANSON, E.B. & BRANSON, C.C. (1947): Lower Silurian conodonts from Kentucky. – Journal of Paleontology, 21 (6), 549–556, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- BRANSON, E.B. & MEHL, M.G. (1933): Conodonts from the Bainbridge (Silurian) of Missouri. – University of Missouri Studies, 8 (1), 39–52, Columbia, Missouri.
- BRANSON, E.B. & MEHL, M.G. (1938): The conodont genus *lcriodus* and its stratigraphic distribution. Journal of Paleontology, **12** (2), 156–166, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- BUGGISCH, W. & MANN, U. (2004): Carbon isotope stratigraphy of Lochkovian to Eifelian limestones from the Devonian of central to southern Europe. – International Journal of Earth Sciences, 93, 521–541, Berlin.
- BULTYNCK, P. (1971): Le Silurien supérieur et le Dévonien inférieur de la Sierra de Guadarrama (Espagne centrale). Deuxième partie: Assemblages de conodontes à *Spathognathodus*. – Bulletin de l'Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, **47** (3), 1–43, Bruxelles.
- BULTYNCK, P. (1976): Le Silurien supérieur et le Dévonien inférieur de la Sierra de Guadarrama (Espagne centrale), Troisième partie: Elements icriodiformes, pelekysgnathiformes et polygnathiformes.
 Bulletin de l' Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, 49 (5), 1–74, Bruxelles.
- BULTYNCK, P. (1989): Conodonts from the La Grange Limestone (Emsian), Armorican Massif, North-Western France. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **117**, 173–203, Frankfurt am Main.
- BULTYNCK, P. & HOLLARD, H. (1980): Distribution comparée de Conodontes et Goniatites d'3voniens des plaines du Dra, du Ma'der et du Tafilalt (Maroc). – Aardkundige Mededelingen, 1, 7–76, Leuven.
- ÇAPKINOĞLU, & BEKTAŞ, O. (1998): Karakaya kompleksine ait Karasenir Formasyonu (Amasya) içindeki kireçtaşi Olistolitlerinden erken Devoniyen konodontlari [Conodonts from Devonian Olistolites of the Karak Complex and the Karasen Formation]. – MTA Dergisi, **120**, 159–170, Ankara.
- CAREY, S.P. & BOLGER, P.F. (1995): Conodonts of disparate Lower Devonian zones, Wilson Creek Shale, Tyers-Walhalla area, Victoria, Australia. – Alcheringa, 19, 73–86, Sydney.
- CARLS, P. (1969): Die Conodonten des tieferen Unter-Devons der Guadarrama (Mittel-Spanien) und die Stellung des Grenzbereiches Lochkovium/Pragium nach der rheinischen Gliederung. – Senckenbergiana Lethaea, **50**, 303–355, Frankfurt am Main.
- CARLS, P. (1975): Zusätzliche Conodonten-Funde aus dem tieferen Unter-Devon Keltiberiens (Spanien). – Senckenbergiana Lethaea, 56, 399–428, Frankfurt am Main.

- CARLS, P. (1987): Ein Vorschlag zur biostratigraphischen Redefinition der Grenze Gedinnium/Siegenium und benachbarter Unter-Stufen. Stratigraphische Argumente und Korrelationen. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **92**, 77–121, Frankfurt am Main.
- CARLS, P. & GANDL, J. (1969): Stratigraphie und Conodonten des Unter-Devons der Östlichen Iberischen Ketten (NE-Spanien). – Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abh., **132** (2), 155–218, Stuttgart.
- CARLS, P. & SLAVÍK, L. (2005): Upgrading of magnetic susceptibility of conodont sample residues before magnetic separation. – Lethaia, **38**, 171–172, Oslo.
- CEBECIOĞLU, M.K. & MURPHY, M.A. (1986): An example to quantitative determination of species in paleontology: An application in the *lcriodus* lineages of the Lower Devonian [in Turkish]. – Bulletin of the Geological Society of Turkey, **29**, 73–80, Ankara.
- CHATTERTON, B.D.E. (1974): Middle Devonian Conodonts from the Harrogate Formation, Southeastern British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, **11** (10), 1461–1484, Ottawa.
- CHATTERTON, B.D.E. & PERRY, D.G. (1977): Lochkovian trilobites and conodonts from northwestern Canada. – Journal of Paleontology, **51** (4), 772–796, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- CHLUPÁČ, I., HAVLÍČEK, V., KŘÍŽ, J., KUKAL, P. & ŠTORCH, P. (1998): Palaeozoic of the Barrandian (Cambrian to Devonian). – Czech Geological Survey Publications, 1–183, Prague.
- CHLUPÁČ, I. & HLADIL, J. (2000): The global stratotype section and point of the Silurian-Devonian boundary. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 225, 1–7, Frankfurt am Main.
- CHLUPÁČ, I. & KUKAL, Z. (1977): The boundary stratotype at Klonk. The Silurian-Devonian Boundary. – In: MARTINSSON, A. (ed.): The Silurian-Devonian Boundary, IUGS Series A, **5**, 96–109, Stuttgart.
- CHLUPÁČ, I., KŘÍŽ, J. & SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. with contributions from KLAPPER, G. & ZIKMUNDOVÁ, J. (1980): Silurian and Devonian conodont localities of the Barrandian. – In: SCHÖNLAUB, H. P. (ed.): Second European Conodont Symposium, ECOS II, Guidebook, Abstracts. Abh. Geol. B.-A., **35**, 147–180, Wien.
- CHLUPÁČ, I., LUKEŠ, P., PARIS, F. & SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1985): The Lochkovian-Pragian boundary in the Lower Devonian of the Barrandian area (Czechoslovakia). – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **128** (1), 9–41, Wien.
- CHLUPÁČ, I. & OLIVER, Jr. W.A. (1989): Decision on the Lochkovian–Pragian Boundary Stratotype (Lower Devonian). – Episodes, 12 (2), 109–113, Ottawa.
- CLARK, D.L. & ETHINGTON, R.L. (1966): Conodonts and biostratigraphy of the Lower and Middle Devonian of Nevada and Utah. – Journal of Paleontology, 40 (3), 659–689, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- CLARK, D.L. In: CLARK, D.L., SWEET, W.C., BERGSTRÖM, S.M., KLAPPER, G., AUSTIN, R.L., RHODES, F.H.T., MÜLLER, K.J., ZIEG-LER, W., LINDSTRÖM, M., MILLER, J.F. & HARRIS, A.G. (1981): Treatise on Invertebrate Paleontology, W, Supplement 2, Conodonta. 1–202, Boulder and Lawrence, Kansas (Geological Society of America and University of Kansas Press).
- COCKLE, P. (1999): Conodont data in relation to time, space and environmental relationships in the Silurian (Latest Llandovery–Ludlow) succession at Boree Creek (New South Wales, Australia). – Abh. Geol. B.-A., **54**, 107–133, Wien.
- COLQUHOUN, G.P. (1995): Early Devonian conodont faunas from the Capertee High, NE Lachlan Fold Belt, southeastern Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **182**, 347–369, Frankfurt am Main.
- COOPER, B.J. (1974): New forms of *Belodella* (Conodonta) from the Silurian of Australia. Journal of Paleontology, **48** (6), 1120–1125, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- COOPER, B.J. (1975): Multielement conodonts from the Brassfield Limestone (Silurian) of southern Ohio. – Journal of Paleontology, 49 (6), 984–1008, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- COOPER, B.J. (1976): Multielement conodonts from the St. Clair Limestone (Silurian) of southern Illinois. – Journal of Paleontology, 50 (2), 205–217.
- COOPER, B.J. (1977): Toward a familial classification of Silurian conodonts. – Journal of Paleontology, 51 (6), 1057–1071.
- CORRADINI, C., FERRETTI, A. & SERPAGLI, E. (1998a): An Early Devonian section near Fluminimaggiore (Galemmu). – In: SERPAGLI, E. (ed.): Sardinia Guide-book, ECOS VII. Giornale di Geologia, 60, Special Issue, 168–174, Bologna.
- CORRADINI, C., FERRETTI, A. & SERPAGLI, E. (1998b): Wenlock and Pridoli conodonts from Argiola, East of Domusnovas. – In: SERPA-GLI, E. (ed.): Sardinia Guide-book, ECOS VII. Giornale di Geologia, **60**, Special Issue, 194–198, Bologna.

- CORRADINI, C., SIMONETTO, L., SERVENTI, P., RIGO, R. & CALLIGARIS, C. (2005): Loboliti (Crinoidea) del Devoniano basale di Monte Zermula (Alpi Carniche Italiane). – Rendiconti della Società Paleontologica Italiana, 2, 29–36, Modena.
- CRICK, R.E., ELLWOOD, B.B., HLADIL, J., EL HASSANI, A., HROUDA, F. & CHLUPÁČ, I. (2001): Magnetostratigraphy susceptibility of the Pridolian–Lochkovian (Silurian–Devonian) GSSP (Klonk, Czech Republic) and a coeval sequence in Anti-Atlas Morocco. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, **167**, 73–100, Amsterdam.
- DRUCE, E.C. (1971): Conodonts from the Garra Formation (Lower Devonian), New South Wales. – Bulletin of the Australian Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology and Geophysics, **116**, 29–52, Canberra.
- DRYGANT, D.M. (1974): Prostye konodonty Silura i nizou Devona Volyno-Podolya. – Parazitologicheskij Sbornik, Lvov University, 10, 64–70, Lvov.
- DUNHAM, R.J. (1962): Classification of carbonate rocks according to depositional texture. – American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir, 1, 108–121, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- DZIK, J. (1976): Remarks on the evolution of Ordovician conodonts. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica, **21** (4), 395–455, Warsawa.
- EICHENBERG, W. (1930): Conodonten aus dem Culm des Harzes. Paläontologische Zeitschrift, **12**, 177–182, Stuttgart.
- ELLWOOD, B.B., CRICK, R.E. & EL HASSANI, A. (1999): The Magneto-Susceptibility Event and Cyclostratigraphy (MSEC) method used in geological correlation of Devonian rocks from Anti-Atlas Morocco. – American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Bulletin, 83 (7), 1119–1134, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- EPSTEIN, A.G., EPSTEIN, J.B. & HARRIS, L.D. (1977): Conodont color alteration – an index to organic metamorphism. – Professional Paper of the United States Geological Survey, **995**, 1–20, Washington, DC.
- ETHINGTON, R.L. (1959): Conodonts of the Ordovician Galena Formation. – Journal of Paleontology, **33** (2), 257–292, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- ETHINGTON, R.L. & FURNISH, W.M. (1962): Silurian and Devonian conodonts from Spanish Sahara. – Journal of Paleontology, 36 (6), 1253–1290, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- FÅHRAEUS, L.E. (1971): Lower Devonian conodonts from the Michelle and Prongs Creek Formations, Yukon Territory. – Journal of Paleontology, 45 (4), 665–683, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- FÅHRAEUS, L.E. (1974): Taxonomy and evolution of *Ozarkodina stein-hornensis* and *Ozarkodina optima* (Conodontophorida). Geologica et Palaeontologica, 8, 29–37, Marburg.
- FÅHRAEUS, L.E. & NOWLAN, G.S. (1978): Franconian (Late Cambrian) to early Champlainian (Middle Ordovician) conodonts from the Cow Head Group, Western Newfoundland. – Journal of Paleontology, **52** (2), 444–471, Tulsa, Oklahoma..
- FARRELL, J.R. (2003): Late Pridoli, Lochkovian and early Pragian conodonts from the Gap area between Larras Lee and Eurimbla, central western NSW, Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 245, 107–181, Frankfurt am Main.
- FARRELL, J.R. (2004): Siluro-Devonian Conodonts from the Camelford Limestone, Wellington, New South Wales, Australia. – Palaeontology, 47 (4), 937–982, London.
- FERRETTI, A., HISTON, K. & SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1999): Stop 2: The Silurian and Early Devonian of the Rauchkofel Boden Section, Southern Carnic Alps, Austria. – In: HISTON, K. (ed.): V International Symposium, Cephalopods – Present and Past. Carnic Alps. Excursion Guidebook. Berichte Geol. B.-A., 47, 55–62, Wien.
- FLAJS, G. (1966): Conodontenstratigraphische Untersuchungen im Raum von Eisenerz, Nördliche Grauwackenzone. – Mitteilungen der Geologischen Gesellschaft in Wien, **59** (2), 157–212, Wien [Imprint 1967].
- FLÜGEL, E. (2004): Microfacies of Carbonate Rocks. Analysis, Interpretation and Application. – 1–976, Berlin – Heidelberg – New York (Springer-Verlag).
- FLÜGEL, H.W., JAEGER, H., SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. & VAI, G.B. (1977): Carnic Alps. – In: MARTINSSON, A. (ed.): The Silurian–Devonian Boundary. – IUGS Series A, 5, 126–142, Stuttgart.
- FOLK, R.L. (1962): Spectral subdivision of limestone types. In: HAM, W.E. (ed.): Classification of carbonate rocks. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir, 1, 62–84, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- FRECH, F. (1894): Die Karnischen Alpen. Ein Beitrag zur vergleichenden Gebirgs-Tektonik. – Abhandlungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft zu Halle, 1–514, Halle.

- FUREY-GREIG, T.M. (1995): The "Nemingha" and "Loomberah" limestones (Early Devonian; Emsian) of the Nemingha–Nundle area, northern New South Wales: conodont data and inferred environments. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **182**, 217–233, Frankfurt am Main.
- GARCIA-ALCALDE, J.L., ARBIZU, M., GARZÍA LÓPEZ, S., LEYVA, F., MON-TESINOS, R., SOTO, F. & TRUYOLS-MASSONI, M. (1990): Devonian stage boundaries (Lochkovian/Pragian, Pragian/Emsian, and Eifelian/Givetian) in the Cantabric region (NW Spain). – Neues Jb. Geol. Paläont., Abh., **180**, 177–207, Stuttgart.
- GARZÍA LÓPEZ, S., JULIVERT, M., SOLDEVILA, J., TRUYOLS-MASSONI, M. & ZAMARRENO, I. (1990): Biostratigrafía y facies de la sucesión carbonatada del Silúrico Superior y Devónico Inferior de Santa Creu d'Olorda (Cadenas Costeras Catalanas, NE de Espana). – Acta Geologica Hispanica, **25** (1–2), 141–168, Barcelona.
- GEYER, G. (1894): Zur Stratigraphie der palaeozoischen Schichtserie in den Karnischen Alpen. – Verh. k.k. Geol. R.-A., 28, 102–119, Wien.
- GEYER, G. (1903): Exkursion in die Karnischen Alpen. Internationaler Geologen-Kongress Führer, **11**, 4–51, Wien.
- HASS, W.H. (1959): Conodonts from the Chappel Limestone of Texas. – United States Geological Survey. Professional Paper, 294-J, 365–399, Washington, D.C.
- HELSEN, S., DAVID, P. & FERMONT, W.J.J. (1995): Calibration of conodont color alteration using color image analysis. – Journal of Geology, **103**, 257–267, Chicago.
- HISTON, K., FERRETTI, A. & SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1999): Silurian cephalopod limestone sequence of the Cellon section, Carnic Alps, Austria. – In: HISTON, K. (ed.): V International Symposium, Cephalopods – Present and Past. Carnic Alps. Excursion Guidebook. Berichte Geol. B.-A., **47**, 46–54, Wien.
- HLADÍKOVÁ, J., HLADIL, J. & KŘÍBEK, B. (1997): Carbon and oxygen isotope record across Pridoli to Givetian stage boundaries in the Barrandian basin (Czech Republic) – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, **132**, 225–241, Amsterdam.
- HUBMANN, B. (1994): The oldest Udoteacean Green Algae known from Austria: *Paralitanaia carnica* n. sp. (Carnic Alps, Lower Devonian, Lochkovian). – Neues Jb. Geol. Paläont., Mh., **1994** (6), 329–338, Stuttgart.
- JANVIER, P. (1995): Conodonts join the club. Nature, 374, 761–762, London.
- JEPPSSON, L. (1969): Notes on some Upper Silurian multielement conodonts. – Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar, 91 (1), 12–24, Stockholm.
- JEPPSSON, L. (1975): Aspects of Late Silurian conodonts. Fossils and Strata, 6, 1–54, Oslo. [Imprint 1974].
- JEPPSSON, L. (1989): Latest Silurian Conodonts from Klonk, Czechoslovakia. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, 23, 21–37, Marburg.
- JEPPSSON, L. & ANEHUS, R. (1995): A buffered formic acid technique for conodont extraction. – Journal of Paleontology, 69 (4), 790–794, Lawrence, Kansas.
- JOHNSON, B.D. & KLAPPER, G. (1981): New early Devonian conodont species of central Nevada. – Journal of Paleontology, 55 (6), 1237–1250, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- KALVODA, J. (1995): Conodont fauna from the Pragian/Emsian boundary in the Mramorka and Stydlé vody Quarry (Barrandian, Czech Republic). – Bulletin of the Czech Geological Survey, **70** (2), 33–44, Prague.
- KHODALEVICH, A.N. & TSCHERNICH, V.V. (1973): Novoe podsemeystvo Belodellinae (Konodonty) – Trudy Sverdlovskogo Gornogo Instituta, 93, 42–47.
- KLAPPER, G. (1969): Lower Devonian conodont sequence, Royal Creek, Yukon Territory, and Devon Island, Canada, with a section on Devon Island stratigraphy by A.R. ORMISTON. – Journal of Paleontology, 43 (1), 1–27, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- KLAPPER, G. (1977): Conodonts. In: MARTINSSON, A. (ed.): The Silurian-Devonian Boundary. IUGS Series A, 5, 318–319, Stuttgart.
- KLAPPER, G. & BARRICK, J.E. (1983): Middle Devonian (Eifelian) conodonts from the Spillville Formation in northern Iowa and southern Minnesota. – Journal of Paleontology, **57** (6), 1212–1243, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- KLAPPER, G. & JOHNSON, J.G. (1980): Endemism and dispersal of Devonian conodonts. – Journal of Paleontology, 54 (2), 400–455, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- KLAPPER, G., LINDSTRÖM, M., SWEET, W.C. & ZIEGLER, W. (1973a): Ozarkodina. – In: ZIEGLER, W. (ed.): Catalogue of Conodonts I,

211-252, Stuttgart (E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung).

- KLAPPER, G., LINDSTRÖM, M., SWEET, W.C. & ZIEGLER, W. (1973b): Pandorinellina. – In: ZIEGLER, W. (ed.): Catalogue of Conodonts, I, 317–326, Stuttgart (E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung).
- KLAPPER, G., LINDSTRÖM, M., SWEET, W.C. & ZIEGLER, W. (1975): *lcriodus.* – In: ZIEGLER, W. (ed.): Catalogue of Conodonts, II, 67–161, Stuttgart (E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung).
- KLAPPER, G. & MURPHY, M.A. (1975): Silurian–Lower Devonian conodont sequence in the Roberts Mountains Formation of central Nevada. – University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, **111**, 1–62, Berkeley and Los Angeles [Imprint 1974].
- KLAPPER, G. & MURPHY, M.A. (1980): Conodont zonal species from the *delta* and *pesavis* Zones (Lower Devonian) in central Nevada. – Neues Jb. Geol. Paläont., Mh., **1980** (8), 490–504, Stuttgart.
- KLAPPER, G. & PHILIP, G.M. (1971): Devonian conodont apparatuses and their vicarious skeletal elements. – Lethaia, 4, 429–452, Oslo.
- KLAPPER, G., SWEET, W.C. & ZIEGLER, W. (1991): Ancyrodelloides. In: ZIEGLER, W. (ed.): Catalogue of Conodonts, V, 1–28, Stuttgart (E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung).
- KODSI, M.G. (1971): Korallen aus dem Unterdevon der Karnischen Alpen. Verh. Geol. B.-A., **1971**, 576–607, Wien.
- KOZUR, H. (1984): Preliminary report about the Silurian to Middle Devonian sequences near Nekezseny (southernmost Uppony Mts., northern Hungary). – Geologisch-Paläontologische Mitteilungen Innsbruck, **13** (7), 149–176, Innsbruck.
- KOZUR, H. (1998): The age of the siliciclastic series ("Karareis Formation") of the western Karaburun Peninsula, western Turkey. – In: SZANIAWSKI, H. (ed.): Proceedings of the Sixth European Conodont Symposium (ECOS VI). Palaeontologia Polonica, 58, 171–189, Warsawa.
- KREUTZER, L.H. (1990): Mikrofazies, Stratigraphie und Paläogeographie des Zentralkarnischen Hauptkammes. – Jb. Geol. B.-A., 133, 275–343, Wien.
- KREUTZER, L.H. (1992a): Palinspastische Entzerrung und Neugliederung des Devons in den Zentralkarnischen Alpen aufgrund von neuen Untersuchungen. – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **135**, 261–272, Wien.
- KREUTZER, L.H. (1992b): Photoatlas zu den Variszischen Karbonat-Gesteinen der Karnischen Alpen (Österreich/Italien). – Abh. Geol. B.-A., 47, 1–129, Wien.
- KREUTZER, L.H., SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. & HUBMANN, B. (1997): The Devonian of Austria. – In: SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (ed.): IGCP-421 Inaugural Meeting Vienna, Guidebook. Berichte Geol. B.-A., 40, 42–60, Wien.
- KRUKOWSKI, S.T. (1988): Sodium metatungstate: A new heavy-mineral separation medium for the extraction of conodonts from insoluble residues. – Journal of Paleontology, 62 (2), 314–316, Lawrence, Kansas.
- LAMARCK, J.B. (1801): Système des animaux sans vertèbres. VIII, 1–432, Paris (Detreville).
- LANE, H.R. & ORMISTON, A.R. (1979): Siluro-Devonian biostratigraphy of the Salmontrout River area, east-central Alaska. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, **13**, 39–96, Marburg.
- LINDSTRÖM, M. (1970): A suprageneric taxonomy of the conodonts. Lethaia, 3, 427–445, Oslo.
- MABILLARD, J.E. & ALDRIDGE, R.J. (1983): Conodonts from the Coralliferous Group (Silurian) of Marloes Bay, South-West Dyfed, Wales. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, **17**, 29–43, Marburg.
- MASHKOVA, T.V. (1972): Ozarkodina steinhornensis (ZIEGLER) apparatus, its conodonts and biozone. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, Special Volume, 1, 81–90, Marburg.
- MASTANDREA, A. (1985a): Early Devonian (Lochkovian) conodonts from southwestern Sardinia. – Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana, 23 (2), 240–258 [Imprint 1984], Modena.
- MASTANDREA, A. (1985b): Biostratigraphic remarks on Early Devonian conodonts from Corti Baccas III section (SW Sardinia). – Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana, 23 (2), 259–267 [Imprint 1984], Modena.
- MATHIESON, D. (2006): Early Devonian (Pragian) conodonts and silicified faunas from the Cobar Supergroup, Western New South Wales, Australia. – MSc thesis, Macquarie University, 115 pp., Sydney.
- MAWSON, R. (1986): Early Devonian (Lochkovian) condont faunas from Windellama, New South Wales. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, 20, 39–71, Marburg.
- MAWSON, R. (1987a): Documentation of Conodont Assemblages across the Early Devonian-Middle Devonian Boundary, Broken
River Formation, North Queensland, Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **92**, 251–273, Frankfurt am Main.

- MAWSON, R. (1987b): Early Devonian conodont faunas from Buchan and Bindi, Victoria, Australia. – Palaeontology, **30** (2), 251–297, London.
- MAWSON, R. & TALENT, J.A. (1989): Late Emsian-Givetian stratigraphy and conodont biofacies – carbonate slope and offshore shoal to sheltered lagoon and nearshore carbonate ramp – Broken River, North Queensland, Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **117**, 205–259, Frankfurt am Main.
- MAWSON, R. & TALENT, J.A. (1994): Age of an Early Devonian carbonate fan and isolated limestone clasts and megaclasts, east-central Victoria. – Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria, **106**, 31–70, Melbourne.
- MAWSON, R. & TALENT, J.A. (2003): Conodont faunas from sequences on or marginal to the Anakie Inlier (Central Queensland, Australia) in relation to Devonian transgressions. Bulletin of Geosciences, **78** (4), 335–358, Prague.
- MAWSON, R., TALENT, J.A. & FUREY-GREIG, T.M. (1995): Coincident conodont faunas (late Emsian) from the Yarrol and Tamworth belts of northern New South Wales and central Queensland. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 182, 421–445, Frankfurt am Main.
- MAWSON, R., TALENT, J.A., MOLLOY, P.D. & SIMPSON, A.J. (2003): Siluro-Devonian (Pridoli-Lochkovian and early Emsian) conodonts from the Nowshera area, Pakistan: implications for the mid-Palaeozoic stratigraphy of the Peshawar Basin. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 245, 83–105, Frankfurt am Main.
- MCCRACKEN, A.D. (1991): Taxonomy and biostratigraphy of Llandovery (Silurian) conodonts in the Canadian Cordillera, northern Yukon Terretory. – In: ORCHARD, M.J. & MCCRACKEN, A.D. (eds.): Ordovician to Triassic conodont Paleontology of the Canadian Cordillera. Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin, **417**, 65–95, Ottawa.
- MCGOFF, H.J. (1991): The hydrodynamics of conodont elements. Lethaia, 24, 235–247, Oslo.
- MILLER, C.G. & ALDRIDGE, R.J. (1997): Ozarkodina remscheidensis plexus conodonts from the upper Ludlow (Silurian) of the Welsh Borderland and Wales. – Journal of Micropalaeontology 16 (1), 41–49, London.
- MURPHY, M.A. (1989): Lower Pragian boundary (Lower Devonian) and its application in Nevada. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **117**, 61–70, Frankfurt am Main.
- MURPHY, M.A. & BERRY, W.B.N. (1983): Early Devonian conodontgraptolite collation and correlations with brachiopod and coral zones, central Nevada. – The American Association of Petroleum Geologists, 67 (3), 371–379, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- MURPHY, M.A. & CEBECIOČLU, M.K. (1984): The Icriodus steinachensis and I. claudiae lineages (Devonian conodonts). – Journal of Paleontology, 58 (6), 1399–1411, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- MURPHY, M.A. & CEBECIOĞLU, M.K. (1986): Statistical study of Ozarkodina excavata (BRANSON & MEHL) and O. tuma MURPHY & MATTI (Lower Devonian, delta Zone, conodonts, Nevada). – Journal of Paleontology, 60 (4), 865–869, Lawrence, Kansas.
- MURPHY, M.A. & CEBECIOĞLU, M.K. (1987): Morphometric study of the genus *Ancyrodelloides* (Lower Devonian, conodonts), central Nevada. – Journal of Paleontology, **61** (3), 583–594, Lawrence, Kansas.
- MURPHY, M.A. & MATTI, J.C. (1983): Lower Devonian conodonts (*hesperius-kindlei* Zones), Central Nevada. University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, **123**, 1–83, Berkeley and Los Angles [Imprint 1982].
- MURPHY, M.A., MATTI, J.C. & WALLISER, O.H. (1981): Biostratigraphy and evolution of the *Ozarkodina remscheidensis-Eognathodus sulcatus* lineage (Lower Devonian) in Germany and central Nevada. – Journal of Paleontology, 55 (4), 747–772, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- MURPHY, M.A. & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. (1999): Lanea new genus, lineage of Early Devonian conodonts. – In: SERPAGLI, E. & CORRA-DINI, C. (eds.): ECOS VII – Studies on conodonts. Proceedings. Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana, **37** (2–3), 321–334, Modena.
- MURPHY, M.A. & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. & CARLS, P. (2004): On classification of Pridoli (Silurian) – Lochkovian (Devonian) Spathognathodontidae (Conodonts). – University of California, Riverside, Campus Museum Contribution, 6, 1–25, Riverside, California.
- MÜLLER, K.J. (1962): Zur systematischen Einteilung der Conodontophorida. – Paläontologische Zeitschrift, 36, 109–117, Stuttgart.
- MÜLLER, K.J. & HINZ, I. (1991): Upper Cambrian conodonts from Sweden. – Fossils and Strata, 28, 1–153, Oslo.

- MÜLLER, K.J. & MÜLLER, E.M. (1957): Early Upper Devonian (Independence) conodonts from Iowa, Part 1: – Journal of Paleontology, **31** (6), 1069–1108, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- NICOLL, R.S. (1995): Conodont element morphology, apparatus reconstructions and element function: a new interpretation of conodont biology with taxonomic implications. Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **182**, 247–262, Frankfurt am Main.
- ORCHARD, M.J. (1980): Upper Ordovician conodonts from England and Wales. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, 14, 9–44, Marburg.
- PACKHAM, G.H., PERCIVAL, I.G., RICKARDS, R.B. & WRIGHT, A.J. (2001): Late Silurian and Early Devonian biostratigraphy in the Hill End Trough and the Limekilns area, New South Wales. – Alcheringa, 25, 251–261, Sydney.
- PAPP, A. & TURNOVSKY, K. (1970): Anleitung zur biostratigraphischen Auswertung von Gesteinsdünnschliffen (Mikrofazies Austriaca). – Jb. Geol. B.-A., Sb. 16, 1–146, Wien.
- PHILIP, G.M. (1965): Lower Devonian conodonts from the Tyers area, Gippsland, Victoria. – Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria, 79, 97–117, pls. 8–10, Melbourne.
- PHILIP, G.M. (1966): Lower Devonian conodonts from the Buchan Group, eastern Victoria. – Micropaleontology, **12** (4), 441–460, New York.
- PICKETT, J. (1980): Conodont assemblages from the Cobar Supergroup (Early Devonian), New South Wales. – Alcheringa, 4, 67–88, Sydney.
- POHLER, S. (1982): Die Entwicklung der Flachwasserkarbonate im Mittel- und Oberdevon der Zentralen Karnischen Alpen (Seewartesockel zum S-Abfall der Hohen Warte). – Unveröffentlichte Diplomarbeit, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelm Universität zu Bonn, 134 pp., Bonn.
- PÖLSLER, P. (1969a): Stratigraphie und Tektonik im Nordabfall des Findenigkofels (Silur bis Karbon; Karnische Alpen, Österreich). – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **112**, 355–398, Wien.
- PÖLSLER, P. (1969b): Conodonten aus dem Devon der Karnischen Alpen (Findenigkofel, Österreich). Jb. Geol. B.-A., **112**, 399–440, Wien.
- PRIEWALDER, H. (1987): Acritarchen aus dem Silur des Cellon-Profils (Karnische Alpen, Österreich). – Abh. Geol. B.-A., 40, 1–121, Wien.
- PRIEWALDER, H. (1997): The distribution of the chitinozoans in the Cellon section (Hirnantian–Lower Lochkovian). – A preliminary report. – In: SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (ed.): IGCP-421 Inaugural Meeting Vienna, Guidebook. Berichte Geol. B.-A., **40**, 74–85, Wien.
- PURNELL, M.A. & DONOGHUE, P.C.J. (2005): Between death and data: Biases in interpretation of the fossil record of conodonts. Special Papers in Palaeontology, **73**, 7–25, London.
- PYLE, L.J., ORCHARD, M.J., BARNES, C.R. & LANDRY, M.L. (2003): Conodont biostratigraphy of the Lower to Middle Devonian Deserters Formation (new), Road River Group, northeastern British Columbia. – Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, 40 (1), 99–113, Ottawa.
- REXROAD, C.B. (1967): Stratigraphy and conodont paleontology of the Brassfield (Silurian) in the Cincinnati arch area. – Geological Survey of Indiana, Bulletin, 36, 1–64, Bloomington.
- REXROAD, C.B. & CRAIG, W.W. (1971): Restudy of conodonts from the Bainbridge Formation (Silurian) at Lithium, Missouri. – Journal of Paleontology, 45 (4), 684–703, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- RHODES, F.H.T. (1953): Some British Lower Palaeozoic conodont faunas. – Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Ser. B, 237, 261–334, London.
- ROOPNARINE, P.D., MURPHY, M.A. & BUENING, N. (2004): Microevolutionary dynamics of the early Devonian conodont *Wurmiella* from the Great Basin of Nevada. – Palaeontologia Electronica, 8 (2), 31A: 1–16, [http://palaeo-electronica.org].
- SALTZMAN, M.R. (2002): Carbon isotope (δ¹³C) stratigraphy across the Silurian-Devonian transition in North America: evidence for a perturbation of the global carbon cycle. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, **187**, 83–100, Amsterdam.
- SANSOM, I.J., ARMSTRONG, H.A. & SMITH, M.P. (1994): The apparatus architecture of *Panderodus* and its implications for coniform conodont classification. – Palaeontology, **37** (4), 781–799, London.
- SANSOM, I.J., SMITH, M.P., ARMSTRONG, H.A. & SMITH, M.M. (1992): Presence of the earliest vertebrate hard tissues in conodonts. – Science, **256**, 1308–1311, Washington, DC.
- SAVAGE, N.M. (1988): The use of sodium polytungstate for conodont separation. – Journal of Micropalaeontology, 7 (1), 39–40, London.

- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1970): Vorläufige Mitteilung über die Neuaufnahme der silurischen Karbonatfazies der Zentralen Karnischen Alpen (Österreich). – Verh. Geol. B.-A., **1970**, 306–315, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1971–1973): Geologische Detailkarte des Gebietes um Wolayer See, Rauchkofel und Hohe Warte. – In: SCHÖN-LAUB, H.P.: Vom Urknall zum Gailtal – 500 Millionen Jahre Erdgeschichte in der Karnischen Region, 3. Auflage, 1991, 1–169, Wien [Imprint 1991].
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1979): Das Paläozoikum in Österreich. Verbreitung, Stratigraphie, Korrelation, Entwicklung und Paläogeographie nicht-metamorpher und metamorpher Abfolgen. – Abh. Geol. B.-A., 33, 1–124, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1985a): Das Paläozoikum der Karnischen Alpen. – In: Arbeitstagung Geol. B.-A., 1985, 34–52, Wien (Geol. B.-A.).
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1985b): Devonian conodonts from section Oberbuchach II in the Carnic Alps (Austria). – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 75, 353–374, Frankfurt am Main.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1991): Vom Urknall zum Gailtal 500 Millionen Jahre Erdgeschichte in der Karnischen Region, 3. Auflage, 1991, 1–169 [First Edition 1988], Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1992): Stratigraphy, biogeography and paleodimatology of the Alpine Paleozoic and its implications for plate movements. – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **135**, 381–418, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P., FLAJS, G. & THALMANN, F. (1980a): Conodontenstratigraphie am Steirischen Erzberg (Nördliche Grauwackenzone). – Jb. Geol. B.-A., **123** (1), 169–229, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. & HISTON, K. (1999): The Palaeozoic of the Southern Alps. – In: HISTON, K. (ed.): V International Symposium, Cephalopods – Present and Past. Carnic Alps. Excursion Guidebook. Berichte Geol. B.-A., 47, 6–30, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P., HISTON, K., FERRETTI, A., BOGOLEPOVA, O. & WEN-ZEL, B. (1997): Stop 2: Rauchkofel Boden Section. – In: SCHÖN-LAUB, H.P. (ed.): IGCP-421 Inaugural Meeting Vienna, Guidebook. Berichte Geol. B.-A., 40, 107–120, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P., HISTON, K. & POHLER, S. (2004): The Palaeozoic of the Carnic Alps. – In: SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (ed.): Field Trip Carnic Alps Guidebook, Berichte Geol. B.-A., 40, 2–32, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. with contributions from JAEGER, H., HOUSE, M.R., PRICE, J.D., GÖDDERTZ, B., PRIEWALDER, H., WALLISER, O.H., KŘÍŽ, J., HAAS, W. & VAI, G.B. (1980b): Carnic Alps. Field Trip A. – In: SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (ed.): Second European Conodont Symposium, ECOS II, Guidebook, Abstracts, Abh. Geol. B.-A., **35**, 5–57, Wien.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. & KREUTZER, L.H. with contributions by JOACHIMS-KI, M.M. & BUGGISCH, W. (1994): Paleozoic boundary sections of the Carnic Alps (southern Austria). – Erlanger Geologische Abh., 122, 77–103, Erlangen.
- SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. & KREUTZER, L.H. (1997): Stop 3: Seewarte Section. – In: SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (ed.) IGCP-421 Inaugural Meeting Vienna, Guidebook, Berichte Geol. B.-A., 40, 121–126, Wien.
- SCHULZE, R. (1968): Die Conodonten aus dem Paläozoikum der mittleren Karawanken (Seeberggebiet). – Neues Jb. Geol. Paläont., Abh., **130** (2), 133–245, Stuttgart.
- SCOTESE, C.R. & MCKERROW, W. S. (1990): Revised world maps and introduction. – In: Palaeozoic Palaeogeography and Biogeography. – Geological Society of London, Memoirs, **12**, 1–21, London.
- SCOTESE, C.R., BAMBACH, R.K., BARTON, C., VAN DER VOO, R. & ZIEG-LER, A.M. (1979): Paleozoic base maps. – Journal of Geology, 87, 217–268, Chicago.
- SERPAGLI, É. (1967): I conodonti dell'Ordoviciano superiore (Ashgilliano) delle Alpi Carniche. – Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana, 6 (1), 30–111, Modena.
- SERPAGLI, E. (1983): The conodont apparatus of *lcriodus woschmidti* woschmidti ZIEGLER. – Fossils and Strata, **15**, 155–161, Oslo.
- SERPAGLI, E., CORRADINI, C. & FERRETTI, A. (1998): Conodonts from a Ludlow-Pridoli section near the Silius village. – In: SERPAGLI, E. (ed.): Sardinia Guide-book, ECOS VII. Giornale di Geologia, 60, Special Issue, 104–111, Bologna.
- SERPAGLI, E., GNOLI, M., MASTANDREA, A. & OLIVIERI, R. (1978): Palaeontological evidence of the Gedinnian (Lower Devonian) in southwestern Sardinia. – Rivista Italiana di Paleontologia e Stratigrafia, 84 (2), 305–312, Modena.
- SERPAGLI, E. & MASTANDREA, A. (1980): Conodont assemblages from the Silurian-Devonian boundary beds of southwestern Sardinia (Italy). – Neues Jb. für Geologie und Paläontologie, Monatshefte, **1980** (1), 37–42, Stuttgart.
- SIMPSON, A.J. & TALENT, J.A. (1995): Silurian conodonts from the headwaters of the Indi (upper Murray) and Buchan rivers, southeastern Australia, and their implications. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **182**, 79–215, Frankfurt am Main.

- SLAVIK, L. (1998): Early Devonian conodont succession from the section of the Certovy schody Quarry (Koneprusy, Barrandian, Czech Republic). – Bulletin of the Czech Geological Survey, **73** (2), 157–172, Prague.
- SLAVÍK, L. (2004a): The Pragian–Emsian condont successions of the Barrandian area: search of an alternative to the GSSP polygnathid-based correlation concept. – Geobios, **37**, 454–470, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- SLAVIK, L. (2004b): A new conodont zonation of the Pragian Stage (Lower Devonian) in the stratotype area (Barrandian, central Bohemia). – Newsletters on Stratigraphy, **40** (1/2), 39–71, Stuttgart.
- SLAVIK, L. & HLADIL, J. (2004): Lochkovian/ Pragian GSSP revisited: evidence about conodont taxa and their stratigraphic distribution. – Newsletters on Stratigraphy, 40 (3), 137–153, Stuttgart.
- SLOAN, T.R., TALENT, J.A., MAWSON, R., SIMPSON, A.J., BROCK, G.A., ENGELBRETSEN, M.J., JELL, J.S., AUNG, A.K., PFAFFENRITTER, C., TROTTER, J. & WITHNALL, I.W. (1995): Conodont data from Silurian–Middle Devonian carbonate fans, debris flows, allochthonous blocks and adjacent autochthonous platform margins: Broken River and Camel Creek areas, north Queensland, Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **182**, 1–77, Frankfurt am Main.
- SORENTINO, L. (1989): Conodont assemblages spanning the Lochkovian-Pragian (Early Devonian) Boundary at Eurimbla, central New South Wales. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **117**, 81–115, Frankfurt am Main.
- STAMPFLI, G. & BOREL, G.D. (2002): A plate tectonic model for the Paleozoic & Mesozoic constrained by dynamic plate boundaries and restored synthetic oceanic isochrons. – Earth and Planetary Science Letters, **196**, 17–33, Amsterdam (Elsevier).
- STAMPFLI, G., MARCOUX, J. & BAUD, A. (1991): Tethyan margins in space and time. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 87, 373–409, Amsterdam.
- STAUFFER, C.R. (1930): Conodonts from the Decorah shale. Journal of Paleontology, 4, 121–128, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- STAUFFER, C.R. (1940): Conodonts from the Devonian and associated clays of Minnesota. – Journal of Paleontology, 14 (5), 417–435, Tulsa, Oklahoma.
- SWEET, W.C. (1988): The Conodonta: Morphology, taxonomy, paleoecology and evolutionary history of a long-extinct animal phylum. - 1–212, Oxford (Clarendon Press).
- SWEET, W.C. & DONOGHUE, P.C.J. (2001): Conodonts: Past, Present, Future. – Journal of Paleontology, **75** (6), 1174–1184, Lawrence.
- SWEET, W.C. & SCHÖNLAUB, H.P. (1975): Conodonts of the genus Oulodus BRANSON & MEHL 1933. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, 9, 41–59, Marburg.
- TALENT, J.A. & MAWSON, R. (1999): North-Eastern Molong Arch and Adjacent Hill End Trough (Eastern Australia): Mid-Palaeozoic Conodont Data and Implications. – Abh. Geol. B.-A., 54, 49–105, Wien.
- TALENT, J.A., MAWSON, R., ANDREW, A.S., HAMILTON, P.J. & WHIT-FORD, D.J. (1993): Middle Palaeozoic extinction events: Faunal and isotopic data. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, **104**, 139–152, Amsterdam.
- TALENT, J.A., SIMPSON, A.J., MOLLOY, P.D. & MAWSON, R. (2005): Conodonts from the Wombat Creek Group and "Wibenduck Limestone" (Silurian) of eastern Victoria. – Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria, **115** (1), 265–291, Melbourne.
- TARAMELLI, T. (1895): Osservazioni sul Paleozoico delle Alpi Carniche. – Bollettino Della Societa Geologica Italiana, 14, 277–280, Modena.
- TELFORD, P.G. (1975): Lower and Middle Devonian conodonts from the Broken River Embayment, North Queensland, Australia. – Special Papers in Palaeontology, 15, 1–96, London.
- THOMAS, L.A. (1949): Devonian–Mississippian formations of southeast Iowa. – Geological Society of America, Bulletin, 60, 403–438, New York.
- TROTTER, J.A. & TALENT, J.A. (2005): Early Devonian (mid-Lochkovian) brachiopod, coral and conodont faunas from Manildra, New South Wales, Australia. – Palaeontographica A, **273**, 1–54, Stuttgart.
- UYENO, T.T. with contributions from MAYR, U. & ROBLESKY, R.F. (1990): Biostratigraphy and conodont faunas of Upper Ordovician through Middle Devonian rocks, eastern Arctic Archipelago. Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin, **401**, 1–211, Ottawa.
- UYENO, T.T. (1991): Pre-Famennian Devonian conodont biostratigraphy of selected intervals in the eastern Canadian Cordillera. – In:

ORCHARD, M.J. & MCCRACKEN, A.D. (eds.): Ordovician to Triassic conodont Paleontology of the Canadian Cordillera, Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin, **417**, 129–161, Ottawa.

- VAI, G.B. (1967): Le Dévonien inf'3rieur biohermal des Alpes Carniques Centrales. Colloque sur le Dévonien inférieur (Rennes 1964). Mémoires du Bureau de Recherches Géologiques et Minières, 33, 28–30, Orléans.
- VAI, G.B. (1973): Rasprostanenie predstavitelei roda KARPINSKIA v nizhnem devone gory Coglians (Karniiskie Alpy). – In: Granitsa silura i devona i biostratigrafiya silura. Trudy III Mezhdhunarodnogo Simpoziuma Silura/Devona, 2, 75–79, Leningrad.
- VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. (1994a): Conodontos del Lochkoviense y Praguiense (Devónico inferior) del Pirineo Central Espanol. – Memorias del Museo Paleontológico de la Universidad de Zaragoza, 5, 178 pp., Zaragoza.
- VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. (1994b): The Lower Devonian conodont Pedavis pesavis and the pesavis Zone. – Lethaia, 27, 199–207, Oslo.
- VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. & GARZÍA LÓPEZ, S. (1998): Using conodonts to correlate abiotic events: an example from the Lochkovian (Early Devonian) of NE Spain. – In: SZANIAWSKI, H. (ed.): Proceedings of the Sixth European Conodont Symposium (ECOS VI). Palaeontologia Polonica, 58, 191–199, Warsawa.
- VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I., LIAO, J.Ch., MARTÍNEZ-PÉREZ, C., CASTELLO, V. & BOTELLA, H. (2005): Datos preliminares sobre los conodontos y restos de peces del Lochkoviense y ¿Praguiense? (Devónico inferior) de Comte-I (Valle del Noguera Pallaresa, Pirineos). In: GAMEZ VINTANED, J.A., LINAN, E. & VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. (eds.): VIII Jornadas Aragonesas de Paleontología, 2005, 131–145, Zaragoza.
- VALENZUELA-RÍOS, J.I. & MURPHY, M.A. (1997): A new zonation of middle Lochkovian (Lower Devonian) conodonts and evolution of *Flajsella* n. gen. (Conodonta). – Geological Society of America Special Paper, **321**, 131–144, Boulder, Colorado.
- VIIRA, V. (1999): Late Silurian conodont biostratigraphy in the northern East Baltic. – In: SERPAGLI, E. & CORRADINI, C. (eds.): Studies on Conodonts, Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana, **37** (2–3), 299–310, Modena.

- VON BITTER, P.H. & PURNELL, M.A. (2005): An experimental investigation of post-depositional taphonomic bias in conodonts. – Special Papers in Palaeontology, **73**, 39–56, London.
- WALLISER, O.H. (1964): Conodonten des Silurs. Abh. des Hessischen Landesamtes f
 ür Bodenforschung zu Wiesbaden, 41, 1–106. Wiesbaden.
- WANG, Ch.Y., ZIEGLER, W. (1983): Devonian conodont biostratigraphy of Guangxi, South China, and the correlation with Europe. – Geologica et Palaeontologica, **17**, 75–107, Marburg.
- WEDDIGE, K. (1987): The lower Pragian boundary (Lower Devonian) based on the conodont species *Eognathodus sulcatus*. – Senckenbergiana lethaea, 67 (5–6), 479–487, Frankfurt am Main.
- WILSON, G.A. (1989): Documentation of conodont assemblages across the Lochkovian-Pragian (Early Devonian) boundary at Wellington, central New South Wales, Australia. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, **117**, 117–171, Frankfurt am Main.
- YOLKIN, E.A., KIM, A.I., WEDDIGE, K., TALENT, J.A. & HOUSE, M.R. (1997): Definition of the Pragian/Emsian stage boundary. – Episodes, **20** (4), 235–240, Beijing.
- ZIEGLER, W. (1956): Unterdevonische Conodonten, insbesondere aus dem Schönauer und dem Zorgensis-Kalk. – Notizblatt des Hessischen Landesamtes für Bodenforschung zu Wiesbaden, 84, 93–106, Wiesbaden.
- ZIEGLER, W. (1960): Conodonten aus dem Rheinischen Unterdevon (Gedinnium) des Remscheider Sattels (Rheinisches Schiefergebirge). – Paläontologische Zeitschrift, **34** (2), 169–201, Stuttgart.
- ZIEGLER, W. & LINDSTRÖM, M. (1971): Über Panderodus ETHINGTON, 1959, und Neopanderodus n. g. (Conodonta) aus dem Devon. – Neues Jb. für Geologie und Paläontologie, Monatshefte, **1971**, 628–640, Stuttgart.
- ZIEGLER, W. & WEDDIGE, K. (1999): Zur Biologie, Taxonomie und Chronologie der Conodonten. – Paläontologische Zeitschrift, 73 (1/2), 1–38, Stuttgart.

Manuskript bei der Schriftleitung eingelangt am 10. Jänner 2007